REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
AGENDA

AUGUST 28,2017 - 7:30 P.M.

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS
15 LOOCKERMAN PLAZA, DOVER, DELAWARE

OPEN FORUM - 30 MINUTES PRIOR TO OFFICIAL MEETING (7:30 P.M.)

THE “OPEN FORUM” SEGMENT IS PROVIDED TO EXTEND THE OPPORTUNITY TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC
TO SHARE THEIR QUESTIONS, THOUGHTS, COMMENTS, CONCERNS, AND COMPLAINTS. DISCUSSION OF
ANY ITEM APPEARING ON THE AGENDA AS A PUBLIC HEARING IS PROHIBITED DURING THE OPEN
FORUM AS AN OPPORTUNITY WILL BE PROVIDED DURING CONSIDERATION OF THAT ITEM. CITIZEN
COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES. COUNCIL IS PROHIBITED FROM TAKING ACTION
SINCETHEY ARE NOT IN OFFICIAL SESSION; HOWEVER, THEY MAY SCHEDULE SUCH ITEMS ASREGULAR
AGENDA ITEMS AND ACT UPON THEM IN THE FUTURE.

INVOCATION BY CHAPLAIN WALLACE DIXON
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE LED BY COUNCILMAN POLCE
AGENDA ADDITIONS/DELETIONS

CONSENT AGENDA

THOSE ITEMS ON THE COUNCIL AGENDA WHICH ARE CONSIDERED ROUTINE AND NON-
CONTROVERSIAL SHALL BE MARKED WITH AN ASTERISK (*) AND WILL BE ACTED UPON BY A SINGLE
ROLL CALL VOTE OF THE COUNCIL. THERE WILL BE NO SEPARATE DISCUSSION OF THESE ITEMS
UNLESS A MEMBER OF COUNCIL SO REQUESTS, IN WHICH EVENT THE MATTER SHALL BE REMOVED
FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA AND CONSIDERED A SEPARATE ITEM.

1. ADOPTION OF MINUTES
A. SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 7, 2017
B. SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14,2017
C. REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017

2. PROCLAMATION - NATIONAL PREPAREDNESS MONTH

3. PRESENTATION - RECOGNITION OF SERVICE - JOHN TINSLEY - DOWNTOWN DOVER
PARTNERSHIP BOARD OF DIRECTORS (JULY 2014 THROUGH MAY 2017)

4. SPECIAL DOVER HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION REPORT - JULY 27, 2017
A. ELECTION OF COMMITTEE CHAIR - EDUCATION COMMITTEE
(COMMISSION ELECTED MR. PAUL FLEMING TO SERVE AS CHAIR OF THE EDUCATION
COMMITTEE)
B. DHRC COMMITTEE UPDATES
(1) GOVERNMENT POLICY, PROGRAMS, AND PRACTICES COMMITTEE (GADDIS)
(2) COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT COMMITTEE (MULLEN)
(3) EDUCATION COMMITTEE
(4) COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE (PAIGE)




COUNCIL AGENDA - AUGUST 28, 2017 PAGE 2

4.

5.

*

SPECIAL DOVER HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION REPORT - JULY 27, 2017 (CONTINUED)
C. LIAISON TO STATE HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION
(COMMISSION ELECTED MRS. SARA HERBERT TO SERVE AS LIAISON TO THE STATE
HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION)
D. DHRC PARTICIPATION IN RADIO SEGMENT
(COMMISSION DEFERRED THIS ITEM)
E. DEVELOPMENT OF DHRC BROCHURE
(COMMISSION RECOMMENDED THAT REVEREND PAIGE AND MR. OFFREDO WORK ON THE
BROCHURE, AS WELL AS ANYONE ELSE WHO WANTS TO DO SO)
F. UPDATE OF DHRC WEBPAGE
(DUE TO TIME CONSTRAINTS, THIS ITEM WAS DEFERRED)
G. SPONSORSHIP OF EDUCATIONAL SYMPOSIUM
(DUE TO TIME CONSTRAINTS, THIS ITEM WAS DEFERRED)
H. DHRC VACANCIES
(DUE TO TIME CONSTRAINTS, THIS ITEM WAS DEFERRED)

COUNCIL COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT - AUGUST 15, 2017
A. UTILITY COMMITTEE

(1) ALTERNATIVE SOLAR ENERGY ANNOUNCEMENT BY DSU AND EASTERN
WOODLAND HOLDINGS LLC., FOR POTENTIAL PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP
OPPORTUNITY SPONSORED BY COUNCILMAN ROY SUDLER, JR. 4TH DISTRICT AND
BRIAN LEWIS 2ND DISTRICT COUNCILPERSONS

(COMMITTEE ACTION NOT REQUIRED)

(2) CONWELL STREET DISCUSSION
(COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED THAT A LEGAL OPINION REGARDING THE OWNERSHIP
OF CONWELL STREET AND THE CITY'S LEGAL OPTIONS IN REGARD TO THIS
MATTER BE PROVIDED AT THE NEXT UTILITY COMMITTEE MEETING)

(3) ANNUAL REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF GOVERNING POLICY FOR ENERGY

COMMODITY RISK MANAGEMENT
(COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE
GOVERNING POLICY FOR ENERGY COMMODITY RISK MANAGEMENT, INCLUDING
THE NEW TABLE)

(4) REVIEW OF CUSTOMER SERVICE DEPARTMENT SHUT-OFF PROCEDURES (2017

BUDGET REVIEW - HARE)
(COMMITTEE ACTION NOT REQUIRED)
B. LEGISLATIVE, FINANCE, AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE

(1) EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS - BANKING AND MERCHANT SERVICES
(COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED AWARDING THE CITY'S BANKING SERVICES TO
WSFS BANK AND MERCHANT SERVICES CONTRACT TO TSYS)

(2) ACCESSIBILITY EVALUATION REPORT
(COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED MAKING MINOR IMPROVEMENTS IN THE CURRENT
YEAR AND BUDGETING FOR MAJOR IMPROVEMENTS IN FY 19)

(3) PROPOSED ORDINANCE #2017-12 AMENDING APPENDIX B - ZONING, ARTICLE 5 -
SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS, AND ARTICLE 6 - OFF-STREET PARKING,
DRIVEWAYS AND LOADING FACILITIES (SPONSORS: HARE AND
SLAVIN)(SEE ITEM #8-A)

(COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED ADOPTION OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE #2017-12)




COUNCIL AGENDA - AUGUST 28, 2017 PAGE 3

5. COUNCIL COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT - AUGUST 15, 2017 (CONTINUED)
B. LEGISLATIVE, FINANCE, AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
(4) PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO COMMITTEES, COMMISSIONS, AND BOARDS
APPOINTMENT PROCESS
(COMMITTEE SENT THIS MATTER TO COUNCIL WITH NO RECOMMENDATION)

6. EVALUATION OF BIDS - TELEPHONE SYSTEM UPGRADE
(STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF THE TELEPHONE SYSTEM UPGRADE FOR $48,566.47)

7. APPOINTMENT OF DELAWARE MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC CORPORATION (DEMEC) ALTERNATE
DIRECTOR (LORI PEDDICORD, ACTING CONTROLLER/TREASURER)

8. FIRST READING - PROPOSED ORDINANCE #2017-12

THE FIRST READING IS OFFERED ON THE PROPOSED ORDINANCE. AMENDMENTS TO APPENDIX B
- ZONING REQUIRE A PUBLIC HEARING. IT IS RECOMMENDED FOR REFERRAL TO THE PLANNING
COMMISSION ON SEPTEMBER 18, 2017, AND THAT A PUBLIC HEARING BE SET FOR
OCTOBER9,2017 AT 7:30 P.M., AT WHICH TIME THE FINAL READING AND COUNCIL ACTION WILL
TAKE PLACE. THE ORDINANCE IS AVAILABLE AT THE ENTRANCE OF THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS,
ON THE CITY'S WEBSITE AT WWW.CITYOFDOVER.COM UNDER "GOVERNMENT," OR BY
CONTACTING THE CITY CLERK'S OFFICE AT 736-7008 OR CITYCLERK(@DOVER.DE.US.

A. AMENDING APPENDIX B - ZONING, ARTICLE 5 - SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS, AND
ARTICLE 6 - OFF-STREET PARKING, DRIVEWAYS AND LOADING FACILITIES
(LEGISLATIVE, FINANCE, AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE)

9. ACTING CITY MANAGER’S ANNOUNCEMENTS
10. COUNCIL MEMBERS’ ANNOUNCEMENTS
11. ADJOURNMENT

/TM

S:\\AGENDAS-MINUTES-PACKETS-PRESENTATIONS-ATT&EXH\COUNCIL-AGENDAS\2017\08-28-2017 COUNCIL AGENDA.WPD

EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO:
29 DEL. C. §10004(B)(2) - PRELIMINARY DISCUSSIONS ON SITE ACQUISITIONS FOR ANY PUBLICLY FUNDED CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENTS, OR SALES OR LEASES OF REAL PROPERTY;

29 DEL. C. §10004(B)(4) - STRATEGY SESSIONS, INCLUDING THOSE INVOLVING LEGAL ADVICE OR OPINION FROM AN
ATTORNEY-AT-LAW, WITHRESPECT TO COLLECTIVE BARGAINING OR PENDING OR POTENTIAL LITIGATION, BUT ONLY
WHEN AN OPEN MEETING WOULD HAVE AN ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE BARGAINING OR LITIGATION POSITION OF THE
PUBLIC BODY;

29 DEL. C. §10004(B)(6) - DISCUSSION OF THE CONTENT OF DOCUMENTS, EXCLUDED FROM THE DEFINITION OF
"PUBLIC RECORD" IN §10002 OF THIS TITLE WHERE SUCH DISCUSSION MAY DISCLOSE THE CONTENTS OF SUCH
DOCUMENTS;

29 DEL. C. §10004(B)(9) - PERSONNEL MATTERS IN WHICH THE NAMES, COMPETENCY AND ABILITIES OF INDIVIDUAL
EMPLOYEES ARE DISCUSSED, UNLESS THE EMPLOYEE REQUESTS THAT SUCH A MEETING BE OPEN

THE AGENDA ITEMS AS LISTED MAY NOT BE CONSIDERED IN SEQUENCE. PURSUANT TO 29 DEL. C. §10004(g)(2),
THIS AGENDA IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE TO INCLUDE THE ADDITION OR THE DELETION OF ITEMS, INCLUDING
EXECUTIVE SESSIONS, WHICH ARISE AT THE TIME OF THE MEETING.


http://www.cityofdover.com
mailto:cityclerk@dover.de.us

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING

A Special Council Meeting was held on August 7, 2017 at 6:01 p.m. with Council President Slavin
presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson (arrived at 6:09 p.m.), Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil,
Mr. Polce, and Mr. Hare. Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, and Mr. Lindell were absent. Mayor Christiansen
was also absent.

Council staff members present were Mr. Hugg, Mrs. McDowell, and Mr. Pepper.
ADOPTION OF AGENDA

Mr. Sudler moved for approval of the agenda, seconded by Mr. Hare and unanimously
carried.

PUBLIC HEARING - VIOLATION OF THE DANGEROUS BUILDING ORDINANCE -
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 803 WESTVIEW TERRACE, OWNED BY
WILLIAM R. MASTEN

A public hearing was duly advertised for this time and place to consider a violation of the Dangerous
Building Ordinance at 803 Westview Terrace, owned by William R. Masten.

Mr. David Hugg, Acting Director of Planning and Community Development, advised that the
structure is an in-ground concrete pool with a vinyl liner and there is a concrete walkway around the
top of the pool. The dwelling where the pool is located has been vacant since March of 2013, and
is currently registered with the City as a Vacant Building. On June 9, 2017, City Staff condemned
the in-ground pool as an unsafe structure due to it being dangerous to the life, health, and safety of
the public due to the deterioration of the wood pool cover and open access to the pool. Recently, the
two (2) four-foot gates have been secured along with the gate along the alley. City Staff found, on
July 28, 2017, that the wood pool cover had been removed and replaced with a standard mesh pool
tarp. Currently the principle structure is vacant with no active utilities and the pool remains covered.
Mr. Hugg reviewed a presentation depicting the condition of the property (Exhibit #1).

Staffrecommended: 1) declaring the in-ground concrete pool and pump on this property dangerous;
2) ordering the in-ground concrete pool and pump demolished by September 7, 2017, by the owners
or equity owners at their own risk; 3) ordering the Building Inspector to cause the demolition of the
in-ground pool and pump if not completed by the owners within 10 days of the date established by
City Council; and 4) ordering the City Manager, with the assistance of the City Solicitor, to cause
the cost of demolition to be charged against the lands on which the in-ground concrete pool and
pump exist as a municipal lien or cause such costs to be added to the tax duplicate as an assessment,
or to be levied as a special tax, or to be recovered in a suit at law against the owners.

Referring to a photo depicting the standard mesh pool tarp which staff found to be covering the pool
on July 28, 2017, Mr. Hare noted that the tarp was not secured down, it had two (2) planks of wood
holding it down and one (1) of them had blown off the tarp, and the front side of the pool had started
to come in. He stated that the wooden fence was falling apart and, from the neighbor’s yard, you can
look right through the fence, explaining that the woman who lives next door allowed him to go into
her yard and look through. Mr. Hare noted that the siding was also falling off the house.



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 7, 2017 PAGE 2

Council President Slavin declared the public hearing open.

There being no one present wishing to speak, Council President Slavin declared the public hearing
closed.

Mr. Hare moved to accept staff’s recommendation to: 1) declare the in-ground concrete pool and
pump on this property dangerous; 2) order the in-ground concrete pool and pump demolished by
September 7, 2017, by the owners or equity owners at their own risk; 3) order the Building Inspector
to cause the demolition of the in-ground pool and pump if not completed by the owners within 10
days of the date established by City Council; and 4) order the City Manager, with the assistance of
the City Solicitor, to cause the cost of demolition to be charged against the lands on which the
in-ground concrete pool and pump exist as a municipal lien or cause such costs to be added to the
tax duplicate as an assessment, or to be levied as a special tax, or to be recovered in a suit at law
against the owners. The motion was seconded by Mr. Anderson.

Mr. Hare asked what would happen if, after the meeting, the property owner called to say they were
going to fix the problems. Responding, Mr. William Pepper, Deputy City Solicitor, advised that,
in the past, the City has allowed that to be done; however, he has generally opposed it because,
having seen this process work through for the last 15 years, the City does not make much progress.
He stated that he always takes the position that the property owner has until the date specified in the
motion to take care of it.

Mr. Hare asked if they would have to demolish it and Mr. Pepper indicated that they would.
Mr. Hare stated his understanding that the property was owned by Bank of America and asked if they
would have to come back to Council if they were going to oppose Council’s action. Responding,
Mr. Pepper advised that he did not think that the property was yet owned by Bank of America,
explaining that they may have a mortgage and it may be in foreclosure; however, it had apparently
not gone to a foreclosure sale since Kent County Property Information (P.R.I.D.E.) was still showing
William Masten as the owner. Mr. Hare stated that the property had gone to sheriff’s sale and the
bank had either bought it back or not let it be sold. In response, Mr. Pepper indicated that, if the
property had gone to sheriff’s sale, it could be that Bank of America had not placed the title in their
name by recording the sherift’s deed.

Responding to Mr. Sudler, Mr. Pepper advised that if the bank were to prove that they had placed
a title in their name prior to Council taking a vote, it would not cause Council to have to come back
and provide the bank an opportunity to speak and it would not start the process all over again
because they got notice by sending it to their foreclosure counsel.

The motion to accept staff’s recommendation to: 1) declare the in-ground concrete pool and
pump on this property dangerous; 2) order the in-ground concrete pool and pump demolished
by September 7,2017, by the owners or equity owners at their own risk; 3) order the Building
Inspector to cause the demolition of the in-ground pool and pump if not completed by the
owners within 10 days of the date established by City Council; and 4) order the City Manager,
with the assistance of the City Solicitor, to cause the cost of demolition to be charged against
the lands on which the in-ground concrete pool and pump exist as a municipal lien or cause
such costs to be added to the tax duplicate as an assessment, or to be levied as a special tax, or



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 7, 2017 PAGE 3

to be recovered in a suit at law against the owners was carried by a unanimous roll call vote
(Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, and Mr. Lindell absent).

PUBLIC HEARING - VIOLATION OF THE DANGEROUS BUILDING ORDINANCE -
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2292 WHITE OAK ROAD, OWNED BY RUTH GLOBE

A public hearing was duly advertised for this time and place to consider a violation of the Dangerous
Building Ordinance at 2292 White Oak Road, owned by Ruth Globe.

Mr. David Hugg, Acting Director of Planning and Community Development, advised that the
property is a two-story, wood-framed single-family home. The house has been vacant since
November of 2016, and is registered with the City as a Vacant Building. Utilities were terminated
on October 31,2016. On April 12, 2017, City Staff from the Planning and Inspections Department
condemned the structure as unfit for human occupancy due to no active utilities and outstanding code
violations. Currently the home is still vacant with numerous outstanding code violations. Mr. Hugg
reviewed a presentation depicting the condition of the property (Exhibit #2).

Staff recommended: 1) declaring this building and all accessory structures on this property
dangerous; 2) ordering the property demolished by September 7, 2017, by the owners or equity
owners at their own risk; 3) ordering the Building Inspector to cause the demolition of the structures
if not completed by the owners within 10 days of the date established by City Council; and
4) ordering the City Manager, with the assistance of the City Solicitor, to cause the cost of
demolition to be charged against the lands on which the buildings exist as municipal liens or cause
such costs to be added to the tax duplicate as an assessment, or to be levied as a special tax, or to be
recovered in a suit at law against the owners.

Council President Slavin declared the public hearing open.

There being no one present wishing to speak, Council President Slavin declared the public hearing
closed.

Mr. Hare moved to accept staff’s recommendation to: 1) declare this building and all
accessory structures on this property dangerous; 2) order the property demolished by
September 7, 2017, by the owners or equity owners at their own risk; 3) order the Building
Inspector to cause the demolition of the structures if not completed by the owners within 10
days of the date established by City Council; and 4) order the City Manager, with the
assistance of the City Solicitor, to cause the cost of demolition to be charged against the lands
on which the buildings exist as municipal liens or cause such costs to be added to the tax
duplicate as an assessment, or to be levied as a special tax, or to be recovered in a suit at law
against the owners. The motion was seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous roll
call vote (Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, and Mr. Lindell absent).

Mr. Neil moved for adjournment, seconded by Mr. Hare and unanimously carried.



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 7, 2017 PAGE 4

Meeting adjourned at 6:21 p.m.

TRACI A. McDOWELL
CITY CLERK

All ordinances, resolutions, motions, and orders adopted by City Council during their Special
Meeting of August 7, 2017, are hereby approved.

ROBIN R. CHRISTIANSEN
MAYOR

/TM

SANAGENDAS-MINUTES-PACKETS-PRESENTATIONS-ATT&EXH\Council-Minutes\2017\08-07-2017 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING VDBO MINUTES.wpd

Exhibits
Exhibit #1 - Presentation - Violation of Dangerous Building Ordinance - 803 Westview Terrace
Exhibit #2 - Presentation - Violation of Dangerous Building Ordinance - 2292 White Oak Road



EXHIBIT #1
Special City Council Meeting of 08/07/2017

Violation of Dangerous
Building Ordinance
803 Westview Terrace

ns Department



803 Westview Terrace
Case History

e The dwelling was registered vacant by the City on
April 1, 2013

e The utilities were terminated on December 2, 2012.

e The pool was condemned on June 6, 2014, as an
unsafe structure. At that time, the mortgage
company made repairs to the pool and covered it
with a wood framed structure, and the case was
closed as compliance.

e On June 9, 2017, the side gate was found
unsecured with the wood pool cover being found in
a dilapidated condition. The pool was condemned
as an unsafe structure and notice was sent to the
owner and lien holder.




803 Westview Terrace
Case History

e On July 28, 2017, City Staff that the side and rear gates to the
pool have been secured and locked, along with the wooden
pool structure being removed from the property. The pool
currently has a blue pool tarp onit.

e Taxes and utilities are paid in full

e All Vacant Building Fees have been paid including 5" year
registration fee

e Only owed fee is a $50.00 grass citation from a June code
enforcement case for tall grass













b 4
r
!
.
|
]
|
i

























4




by, R
TR
o v N
P TSN T
F . 3 : @ o P
pw & Fy®
o

¥










N










Recommended Council Action
« "/ /— /7

e Declare the in-ground concrete pool and pump on this property
dangerous.

e Order the in-ground concrete pool and pump demolished by
September 7, 2017 by the owner or equity owner at their own risk.

e Order the Building Inspector to cause demolition of the in-ground
concrete pool and pump if not completed by the owner within 10
days of the date established by City Council.

e Order the City Manager with the assistance of the City Solicitor to
cause the cost of demolition to be charged against the land on
which the building exists as a municipal lien or cause such cost to &
be added to the tax duplicate as an assessment, or to be levied asig$
a special tax, or to be recovered in a suit at law against the owner




EXHIBIT #2
Special City Council Meeting of 08/07/2017

Violation of Dangerous
Building Ordinance
2292 White Oak Road

ns Department



2292 White Oak Road
Case History

> 4 code enforcement cases since 2016
» Exterior code violations — Grass violations
> Vehicles parked in the yard — Junk and Debris
> The utilities were terminated on October 31, 2016

» Registered as vacant by the city on February 9,
2017

» Condemned as unfit for human occupancy on April
12, 2017
» Outstanding Charges

» $1,250.00 in outstanding Code Citations
» Ulilities and taxes are paid
» Current Vacant Building Fee has been paid




2292 White Oak Road
Current Condition

> Deterioration of the roof

> Mold and deterioration of interior due to
water intrusion

» Deterioration of siding
» Partial addition built without required permits

> Overall deterioration and lack of
maintenance




Dangerous Building Code —
Chapter 22 Article Xl, Sec. 22-381

(5) Unfit for habitation.

(9) General welfare.

(10) Code violations.

(12) Unoccupied buildings.








































\

S T Al
Sy o T
pd ey

e A

-

-










Recommended Council Action
« "/ /— /7

e Declare this building and all accessory structures on this property
dangerous.

e Order the property demolished by September 7, 2017 by the
owner or equity owner at their own risk.

e Order the Building Inspector to cause the demolition of the
structures if not completed by the owner within 10 days of the
date established by City Council.

e Order the City Manager with the assistance of the City Solicitor to
cause the cost of demolition to be charged against the land on
which the building exists as a municipal lien or cause such cost tol 2

be added to the tax duplicate as an assessment, or to be levied as)g
a special tax, or to be recovered In a suit at law against the owne

\




SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING

A Special Council Meeting was held on August 14,2017 at 5:30 p.m. with Council President Slavin
presiding. Members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Neil, Mr. Cole, Mr. Polce (departed at 5:59 p.m.
and returned at 6:00 p.m.), Mr. Hare, and Mr. Lindell. Mr. Sudler and Mr. Lewis were absent.
Mayor Christiansen was also present.

Council staff members present were Mrs. Mitchell and Mrs. McDowell. Other staff members
present were Mr. Hudson. Others present were Senator Colin Bonini (departed at 5:56 p.m. and returned
at 6:08 p.m.).

ADOPTION OF AGENDA
Mr. Neil moved for approval of the agenda, seconded by Mr. Anderson and unanimously
carried.

Mr. Hare moved to recess into Executive Session pursuant to pursuant to 29 Del. C.§10004
(b)(2) - Preliminary discussions on site acquisitions for any publicly funded capital
improvements, or sales or leases of real property. The motion was seconded by Mr. Lindell
and unanimously carried.

The Special Council Meeting recessed into Executive Session at 5:31 p.m.

The Executive Session adjourned at 6:08 p.m.

ACTION RESULTING FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION

Potential Land Acquisition
During the executive session, members of Council considered a potential land acquisition.

Mr. Hare moved that the City Manager's Office and the Mayor proceed with negotiations for
the property discussed in the executive session. The motion was seconded by Mr. Neil and
unanimously carried.

Mr. Lindell moved to agree with the conceptual approach regarding the repairs and
improvements to Weyandt Hall via a CIP (Capital Investment Project) for Fiscal 2019. The
motion was seconded by Mr. Cole and unanimously carried.

Potential Disposal of Property
During the executive session, members of Council considered the potential disposal of property.

Mr. Polce moved that the City of Dover sell the old library building to Wesley College for $1, the
sale contingent upon a commitment of Community Transportation Funds from Senator Bonini of
$500,000 in Fiscal 18, $125,000 in Fiscal 19, $125,000 in Fiscal 20 based upon available funds, and
$300,000 from Representative Lynn in Fiscal 18; that there be a clawback option in which the City
of Dover would be offered the right of first refusal in the event that Wesley College no longer wishes
to use the building for educational purposes; and that Council direct the City Manager to proceed
with the negotiations. The motion was seconded by Mr. Anderson.

Mr. Anderson stated that he thought that the motion was one that was fiscally prudent, consistent
with the Comprehensive Plan of the City of Dover to bring educational institutions in and more



SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 2

economic development foot traffic, and will expand the safety footprint by bringing Wesley College
security as an extra set of eyes downtown; therefore, it is something he believes is in the public
interest.

The motion that the City of Dover sell the old library building to Wesley College for $1, the
sale contingent upon a commitment of Community Transportation Funds from Senator Bonini
of $500,000 in Fiscal 18, $125,000 in Fiscal 19, $125,000 in Fiscal 20 based upon available
funds, and $300,000 from Representative Lynn in Fiscal 18; that there be a clawback option
in which the City of Dover would be offered the right of first refusal in the event that Wesley
College no longer wishes to use the building for educational purposes; and that Council direct
the City Manager to proceed with the negotiations was unanimously carried.

Mr. Hare moved for adjournment, seconded by Mr. Neil and unanimously carried.

The Special Council Meeting adjourned at 6:12 p.m.

TRACI A. McDOWELL
CITY CLERK

All ordinances, resolutions, motions, and orders adopted by City Council during their Special
Meeting of August 14, 2017 are hereby approved.

ROBIN R. CHRISTIANSEN
MAYOR

/TM

SANAGENDAS-MINUTES-PACKETS-PRESENTATIONS-ATT&EXH\Council-Minutes\2017\08-14-2017 - SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING - ES ACTION (PUBLIC) - Potential Land Acquisition
and Potential Disposal of Property.wpd



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on August 14, 2017 at 7:41 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Cole,
Mr. Polce, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Lindell. Mr. Lewis was absent.

Staff members present were Police Chief Mailey, Ms. Peddicord, Mrs. Mitchell, Mr. Hugg, Fire
Chief Carey, City Solicitor Rodriguez, and Mrs. McDowell. Mayor Christiansen was also present.

OPEN FORUM

The Open Forum was held at 7:00 p.m., prior to commencement of the Official Council Meeting.
Council President Slavin declared the Open Forum in session and reminded those present that
Council was not in official session and could not take formal action.

Council President Slavin advised that many worked through the Code Purple issue through the
weekend and throughout the day. He stated that he was happy to report that they have a solution that
gets everybody where they need to be. Mr. Slavin noted that they will have the Code Purple shelters
open for business throughout the City this winter. He advised that Dover is a better City with Code
Purple in it and he thanked them for their efforts.

Mr. Steven French advised that the homeless are having a hard time because the police are trying
to stop them from sleeping in the bushes and he thought this was rude.

Mr. Steven Hall advised that, prior to the meeting, he submitted information that he had distributed
to other government officials (Exhibit #1), including Governor John Carney, who was supposed to
meet with him the week before but canceled, and even President Donald Trump. Mr. Hall asked
why it was so hard for people to accept the fact that homelessness is a problem in Delaware. He
noted that there are so many homeless people in Sussex, Kent, and New Castle counties, and all they
want is a place to live and to live like everyone else. Mr. Hall advised that he sees homes and
buildings going up, but no one cares about those who are sleeping in the streets, bus shuttles,
abandoned houses, or buildings. He stated that people are being arrested for trying to find a place
to sleep. Mr. Hall asked what the State of Delaware was going to do about homelessness.

Mr. Jamier Grubbs asked why the homeless do not get a place to live. He stated that they need to
get off the streets and it is not right for everybody else to get a place to live and they cannot.
Mr. Grubbs noted that it would be nice to get the people off the street and for them to have a warm
bed, warm house, food, and clothes.

Ms. Precious Tolson advised that she was homeless at one time, and she finally got help from
Mr. Sudler. She noted that if it were not for Mr. Sudler, she would probably still be on the street.
Ms. Tolson stated that they have had a home for a year and love it, but a lot of people are not as
lucky. She stated that she thought there should be some way they can get help finding a job and
getting themselves straight, noting that they turn to alcohol and drugs.

Mr. Lewis C. Jackson stated that he has been homeless and it is not good. He advised that he has
had to eat out of trash cans and sleep in the snow because he did not have a roof over his head.
Mr. Jackson noted that it was not because he did not try to do better, but when you do not have a
decent place to wash up and decent clothes to put on, you look like a dirt bag and nobody is going



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 2

to want to hire you. He stated that Code Purple was good, but they are full a lot of the time, and he
noted that they needed to get to the bottom of helping some of these people out; otherwise, they
would find a lot of dead people out there this winter.

Ms. Elizabeth Jones advised that this was her fourth time at the Open Forum and she was tired of
coming there. She stated that when Code Purple is full, people have nowhere to go. Ms. Jones
indicated that, with the changes that they are making to the library, people cannot go there to get
warm anymore, and the hospital is not going to let them in there anymore, so they have to sit out in
the cold without blankets and the proper clothing. She stated that she had been told to watch where
she sleeps because she could go to jail for sleeping in the wrong place. Ms. Jones advised that she
asked a couple of the police officers where they could sleep and got different answers from them.
She noted that she had been told that there are two (2) tent cities; however, she did not know where
they were. Ms. Jones stated that some people had their tents and all of their personal property stolen
within the last couple of days, someone set her mat on fire, and two (2) people were riding around
town stealing bicycles and carrying guns.

Mr. Eric Abernathy stated that he was present to speak about homelessness, which is still a problem.
He noted that he heard there was a blue ribbon council on the homeless issue, and that the Library
Director was on the council. Mr. Abernathy stated that, apparently, she has a lot to do with the
changes at the library. He advised that they are trying to require you to have to a library card to be
in the library and that they have taken out the seats and the vending machines. Mr. Abernathy noted
that they are also taking out the chairs and the tables underneath the steps, and if you are sleeping
they wake you up and ask you to leave. He asked where people would go if they were pushed out
of the library and suggested that they need to work together to get people off the streets.

Ms. Sue Harris advised that they had been attending meetings for a year and provided a handout of
transcripts of all the information that they had shared with the City in the past year (Exhibit #2).
She stated that she felt it was important for everyone to know all the information that had already
been presented to the Mayor and Council. Ms. Harris noted that she was happy that the task force
was being developed; however, she was not so happy about it taking over a year just to make a
determination that one needs to be appointed. She stated that most, if not all, of the research and
information presented to Council by Dr. Abrams, Chair of the Blue Ribbon Panel, was research and
information that they had been presenting to Council since the beginning of August of 2016.

Ms. Harris also provided a listing of some of the properties that are held by the City of Dover
(Exhibit #3). She noted that it seemed that quite a few properties had been turned over, whether
sold or donated, to entities in the area for the purpose of rehab and resale. Ms. Harris stated that
Habitat for Humanity, NCALL, and Milford Housing Development Corporation have received at
least 14 properties with a tax appraised value of over $250,000 that, just months ago, were listed as
City of Dover properties. She suggested that the organizations have certainly benefitted nicely from
an arrangement with the City to take over vacant and abandoned properties to renovate and resell,
and a handful of families who will be able to secure those mortgages will most certainly make the
most use of this wonderful opportunity. Ms. Harris asked if these properties were sold and, if they
were sold, where the income from the sales went. She asked, if they were donated instead of sold,
how a non-profit qualifies for such a nice opportunity. Ms. Harris noted that she saw that one of
these properties was sold by the Milford Housing Development Corporation for $165,000 and stated
that it would be informative for the community to understand how these deals are made, who is



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 3

profiting, and why some are not being made available to increase the affordable housing stock for
very low income renters. She asked how providing these properties for the purpose of resale is
fulfilling the CBDG grant requirements of providing affordable rental units and assistance to
chronically homeless people. Ms. Harris asked what opportunities there had been to increase the
affordable housing stock for renters, noting the need to increase affordable rental units as well as
affordable mortgage offers. She asked the City to look again through their inventory of surplus,
noting that she thought that establishing a nice community that would include a village, a main
center, and some housing out on the Garrison Tract would be really nice to look at. Ms. Harris noted
that it had been for sale for a few years and it is a nice property that they could make use of.

Ms. Harris provided a listing of tiny house villages across the country (Exhibit #4) that are
successful and excerpts from the City’s Comprehensive Plan (Exhibit #5).

Ms. Teri Staub, 198 Haman Drive, advised that she had been attending the Open Forum for the last
year. She stated that she looked over the listings of properties that were disposed of and, assuming
that the figures are the assessments for taxation, one would have to assume that the City of Dover
either received $254,700 or donated the property to those entities. Ms. Staub asked how a citizen
of Dover would find out the answer to that question and where those dollars, or the value of the
donation, would have been documented in the budget. She asked if the properties were related to
the 46.8% increase, or $68,720, in the miscellaneous revenue as of May 2017.

Ms. Staub stated that she looked at the budget for 2017/2018 and asked what City Council uses their
discretionary funds for, noting that it was increased from $22,000 last year to $25,000 this year. She
also noted that the City budget includes a line item for consulting services for a $10,000 diversity
study; the Mayor's budget shows an additional $45,000 for economic development; and the budget
for 2017/18 shows CDBG funds received as $218,800 when Resolution #2017-08, adopted on
June 26, 2017, approved the CDBG action plan funding for $230,289. She asked which one was
correct, noting a difference of $11,489.

Ms. Staub noted that they have all agreed that Dover needs affordable housing and the listing of 12
properties that they provided are locations that are worth looking at with open minds and innovative
ideas. She stated, for instance, that 401 and 405 West Water Street, across from the bus stop and
next door to the police station, would be a perfect site for a village of tiny homes. Ms. Staub
suggested that it would be better to make the national news for an innovative and caring solution for
the homeless in the great City of Dover rather than making the national news for demonstrations and
protests because the City has turned their back on their most vulnerable citizens. She asked what
was happening with the task force and stated that if the City continues to put up roadblocks and stop
them from what they are doing, their movement is just going to get a lot bigger and be a lot bigger
headache. Ms. Staub advised that they would rather work together with the City.

Mr. Swann Twitty stated that his concern was jobs for the homeless, the number of young homeless
people, and the lack of programs. He noted that it is difficult for anyone with a record to get a job.
Mr. Twitty also advised that some people have qualified for Section 8 housing and other benefits,
yet they have to wait five (5) to ten years in order to get a roof over their heads.

Ms. Cynthia Fay Quevedo advised that she had been homeless for almost two (2) years and that she
knew that the City did not really care about what happens to them. She thanked God and Victory



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 4

Church for helping her and her daughter, because they are out on the street. Ms. Quevedo stated that
younger kids are homeless and looking for help.

Ms. Carolyn Grier stated that she was standing in solidarity with Pastor Appling and Victory Church
and with Port of Hope to help the homeless in their neighborhood. She noted that she volunteers
at the church on a regular basis and they are really, really great people. Ms. Grier stated that they
all deserve a place to live. She advised that she was a single parent of two (2) children; her daughter
is in college and her son is going into the fifth grade. Ms. Grier advised that she currently lives with
her grandmother and that she had never experienced homelessness. She noted that she is ready to
move out on her own and the Dover Housing Authority has given her a voucher for a place to live.
Ms. Grier stated that, for the amount of money allotted to her, she cannot find a place where she
feels comfortable raising her son. Ms. Grier stated that if the City would just allow Victory Church
to have a piece of property where they can house the homeless, it would be fantastic.

Ms. Bonnie Pennington thanked Councilmen Anderson and Sudler for doing a good job with the
Elks Lodge. She advised that the street is quiet and calm and there have only been four (4) or
five (5) calls to the police, which were not related to gunshots and people screaming.
Ms. Pennington stated that she would really love to keep the club shut down.

The invocation was given by Bishop Thomas L. Holsey, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.
Mayor Christiansen read the following statement into the record:
“Mr. President, members of Council, citizens of Dover,

Today as Mayor of the city of Dover, I am calling upon our citizens with a simple
request that we join together in condemning the recent senseless violence which
occurred in Charlottesville, Virginia this past weekend. I ask each of you, as our
residents, to join with me in re-affirming the principles of our Constitution of liberty
and justice for all.

This most sacred document was ratified in our city on December 7, 1787,
establishing a new order of civility and a constructive debate to address our concerns
and disagreements through peaceful discussions and dialogue for the common good
of all. This city, this county, this state and our country must officially go on record
that hatred and violence of any kind is not to be tolerated or condemned in any way.
And that the principles of mutual respect and the diversity of our citizens has been
the strength of our nation in the past and will be the guiding light for future
generations of Americans.

We, as individuals, as citizens of the city of Dover, where this great nation began,
must strongly denounce racism of any kind in any shape or any form. Or any
platform of hate, veiled or masked in deception. That message must be clearly heard
and loudly heard for all to hear. Thank you.”



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 5

AGENDA ADDITIONS/DELETIONS
Mr. Sudler moved for approval of the agenda, seconded by Mr. Neil and unanimously carried.

Mr. Slavin requested that item #5C3 - Council Committee of the Whole Report - July 25, 2017;
Legislative, Finance, and Administration Committee Report; Healthcare Summary of Proposals, be
removed from the Consent Agenda.

Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the Consent Agenda, as amended, seconded by Mr. Neil
and carried by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

ADOPTION OF MINUTES - OPEN TOWN MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2017

The Minutes of the Open Town Meeting of June 28, 2017 were unanimously approved by
motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Neil and bore the written approval of
Mayor Christiansen.

ADOPTION OF MINUTES - SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING OF JULY 24, 2017

The Minutes of the Special Council Meeting of July 24, 2017 were unanimously approved by
motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Neil and bore the written approval of
Mayor Christiansen.

ADOPTION OF MINUTES - REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING OF JULY 24, 2017

The Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting of July 24, 2017 were unanimously approved by
motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Neil and bore the written approval of
Mayor Christiansen.

PRESENTATION - RECOGNITION OF SERVICE - LESTER L. BLAKEMAN, SR. -
UTILITY COMMITTEE (MAY 2011 - JUNE 2017)

On behalf of members of Council, Mayor Christiansen and Councilman Cole, Chair of the Utility
Committee, presented Mr. Lester L. Blakeman with a Dover Cup in recognition of his years of
service on the Utility Committee.

Mr. Blakeman stated that he appreciated being able to serve on the Utility Committee, noting that
he served 33 years with the City, serving on the Committee was a new experience, and he learned
a lot about the process of how the City works. Mr. Blakeman advised that he would continue to
keep members in his prayers as they move forward.

PRESENTATION BY COUNCILMAN SUDLER - COMMUNITY ENHANCEMENT FUND
DONATIONS - MT. ZION AME CHURCH

On behalf of the Fourth District and Councilman Anderson, Councilman Sudler thanked the
members of the Mt. Zion AME Church soup kitchen and their supporters for all of their hard work
helping the homeless. Mr. Sudler presented a $500 check from his Community Enhancement Funds
for the soup kitchen.

Ms. Hamilton, on behalf of Reverend Ellis B. Louden and the members of Mt. Zion AME Church,
thanked Mr. Sudler for his donation to the soup kitchen. She advised that they feed the homeless
every Tuesday and a diverse population of people comes. Ms. Hamilton stated that the only
requirement is that they need to come for a good meal. She noted that she about eight (8) people



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 6

work with her during the soup kitchen time on Tuesdays, and their wonderful assistant pastor,
Reverend Sudler, counsels them. Ms. Hamilton advised that if anyone needs to talk to someone,
they have people who have been subject to addiction and homelessness.

PRESENTATION BY COUNCILMAN SUDLER - COMMUNITY ENHANCEMENT FUND
DONATIONS - NORTHNODE COUNSELING GROUP

On behalf of City Council and the Fourth District, Councilman Sudler stated that they appreciate
all the help, professionalism, and everything that NorthNode Counseling Group provides.
Mr. Sudler presented Ms. Toni Jordan, Managing Partner and Community Liaison for NorthNode
Group Counseling; Ms. Jewel Albury, Masters Level Social Worker; Steve Franklin, Managing
Partner; Kenyatta Luke, Office and Building Manager; and Carla Banks, Marketing, with a $500
donation from his Community Enhancement Funds.

On behalf of NorthNode, Ms. Jordan thanked Councilman Sudler and City Council for the donation.
She noted that the donation will go a long way in helping them to expand their group counseling
programs intended for children in kindergarten through 12th grades. Ms. Jordan advised that their
programs are focused on emotional regulation skills, coping skills, and social skills. She noted that
NorthNode was founded with the understanding that low income youth and their families are
disproportionately affected by mental health challenges. Ms. Jordan advised that they go out into
the community and are partners with various organizations, such as Campus Community School,
the Solid Rock Outreach Community Center, and Shepherd’s Place.

PRESENTATION BY COUNCILMAN SUDLER - COMMUNITY ENHANCEMENT FUND
DONATIONS - VICTORY CHURCH

On behalf of City Council, Councilman Anderson presented Pastor Aaron Appling with a $1,000
check from his Community Enhancement Funds for the Victory Church homeless program. He
noted that the donation echoes the spirit of all members of Council because they do care.

Pastor Appling thanked all members of Council for the donation and Councilman Hare for his recent
significant donation at Sam's Club to their food ministry. Reverend Robert Appling thanked the
Mayor and Council for everything that they have done to move them forward. He noted that they
were still feeding between 35,000 and 50,000 meals each year, twice a day, 365 days a year, and
could not do that without the help of the people in the community and without their prayers.

PRESENTATION - NCALL (NATIONAL COUNCIL ON AGRICULTURAL LIFE &
LABOR RESEARCH FUND, INC.)/RESTORING CENTRAL DOVER - HOUSING PLAN
Mr. Joe Myer, Executive Director of NCALL and Chair of the Restoring Central Dover Program,
reviewed the NCALL Restoring Central Dover Housing Plan (Exhibit #6).

Mr. Myer thanked Council for its support of Restoring Central Dover's work over the past couple
of years, noting that their steering committee and work groups are hard at work thinking creatively
and carrying out the strategies of their plan. Mr. Myer also expressed appreciation to the Mayor,
Council, the Help Initiative, and Delaware State University for their assistance with the Lights on
Dover Strong initiative, which had really been welcomed by downtown residents.

Mr. Myer advised that NCALL received a reservation of $1M from the Strong Neighborhood
Housing Fund in February 2017, which would allow NCALL and Central Delaware Habitat for



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 7

Humanity to build 20 “for sale” homes in central Dover over the next two (2) years and leverage an
additional $4M in housing in central Dover. Mr. Myer advised that these resources cannot be fully
deployed and additional news homes cannot be built and sold until safety and blight issues are dealt
with. He stated that they cannot build a quality new home next to a boarded up home and expect
it to sell, and they cannot expect a family to prosper in that home. Mr. Myer, noting that the City
is a good partner, requested City Council to make removal of blighted, boarded up, vacant,
substandard properties a top priority of the City in order to foster quality investment in new homes
and developments, as well as to help the business and commercial sector downtown.

Mr. Neil advised that he regularly attends the events held by both NCALL and Habitat for
Humanity. He noted that they had been roundly criticized earlier in the evening for doing what
NCALL had proposed and requested Mr. Myer to give them an idea of who actually purchased these
homes and how they are vetted. Responding, Mr. Myer stated that the families typically have to be
of a low or moderate income status, typically 80% of median income and in some cases 100% of
median. He advised that the families that are moving into their two (2) homes have to get a standard
mortgage and, in some cases, may receive down payment and settlement help. Mr. Myer advised
that participants go through NCALL's home ownership counseling education program to be
considered. He assured members that these families have met the test and seem like they will be
great additions to central Dover.

Mr. Neil, referring to Habitat for Humanity homes, noted that the people buying these homes
contribute a lot of elbow grease and asked Mr. Myer what happens to their profits. Responding,
Mr. Myer advised that the homes cost more to build than they sell them for, and this happens
through funding that they receive from the Delaware State Housing Authority, either through the
Strong Neighborhood Housing Fund or their Housing Development Fund, which provides assistance
or a subsidy that brings the price down to an affordable amount. Mr. Myer noted that there is no
profit in that sense.

Mr. Slavin stated that there were some rather reckless accusations made earlier that the City had
concocted some scheme for profiteering and he was glad that Mr. Myer was able to provide them
with a dispassionate explanation that the accusations were false and based on false information.

Mr. Sudler asked if, in the future, they could consider Lights On Dover Strong outside of the
targeted area. He noted that he had received input from the First District and the outskirts of the
Fourth District indicating that they would like the program in those areas as well.

Mr. Anderson asked how the properties are obtained from the City. Responding, Mr. Myer advised
that the properties are not obtained from the City. He noted that they talk to the property owners
and purchase the properties from them. Mr. Myer stated that 212 North Governors Avenue was a
foreclosed, defaulted property that they bought at a monition sale.

Mr. Anderson thanked Mr. Myer for the work that NCALL has done and noted that there had been
a number of families that had been coming up block by block, and there had been a coordinated
effort with public safety, lighting, infrastructure, and home ownership. Mr. Anderson stated that
there had been a marked improvement in the Kirkwood and Queen Street area and it was moving
forward toward new and other areas. He encouraged Mr. Myer to keep moving forward and advised
that he would work toward resource cooperation.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 8

COUNCIL COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT - JULY 25, 2017

The Council Committee of the Whole met on July 25, 2017 at 6:02 p.m., with
Council President Slavin presiding. Members of Council present were Mr. Anderson
(departed at 6:07 p.m. and returned at 6:11 p.m.), Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis
(departed at 7:34 p.m. and returned at 7:36 p.m.), Mr. Polce (departed at 7:11 p.m.
and returned at 7:13 p.m.), Mr. Hare, and Mr. Lindell. Mr. Cole was absent.
Mayor Christiansen was also present (departed at 7:44 p.m.). Civilian members
present for their Committee meetings were Mr. Garfinkel and Mr. Shelton (Safety
Advisory and Transportation) and Mr. Shevock and Dr. Stewart (Legislative,
Finance, and Administration). Mr. Caldwell and Mrs. Horsey (Parks, Recreation,
and Community Enhancement) were absent.

SPECIAL PARKS, RECREATION, AND
COMMUNITY ENHANCEMENT COMMITTEE

The Parks, Recreation, and Community Enhancement Committee met with
Chairman Sudler presiding.

Request for Letter of Introduction to the State Secretary of Agriculture to
Request an Assessment of Continental Park (Thomas Dix)

Colonel Thomas J. Dix, 664 Independence Boulevard, advised that he lives near
Continental Park and is a master gardener. He explained that he would like to
approach Mr. Michael Scuse, the Delaware Secretary of Agriculture, to request
assistance from the Office of Urban Forestry regarding Continental Park. Colonel
Dix noted that he had previously dealt with a woman in the Office of Urban Forestry
named Kesha and was very impressed. He stated that Continental Park has a two-
acre forest that had been abandoned for over 40 years and that he would like to
request an assessment of the park from the Office of Urban Forestry.

Mr. Hare asked if this was something that members must approve or if Colonel Dix
could request the assessment on his own.

Responding to Mr. Slavin, Colonel Dix confirmed that he wanted the letter
requesting assistance to be sent to Secretary Scuse from Council on behalf of the
City as the property owner. Mr. Slavin requested that Mr. Mike Valenti, Delaware
State Forester and a Dover resident, also be included. Colonel Dix agreed, stating
that he had read about Mr. Valenti, who had been in forestry for many years, and he
believed that Mr. Valenti worked directly with the Office of Urban Forestry.

Mr. Neil thanked Colonel Dix for bringing this matter to the attention of Mr. Sudler,
stating that he thought it was a terrific idea. He indicated that he favored sending the
letter, for both the City and its citizens.

Colonel Dix stated that, based on the value of his own property, he calculated the
value of Continental Park at $1M. He noted that the park is 2.95 acres in size and
the front third of the property is being used sometimes. Colonel Dix stated that the



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 9

park was often used previously for football practice; however, Redner’s is now used
for football practice because there is too much dog excrement on the park property.

In response to Mr. Slavin, Colonel Dix clarified that he was asking for a letter of
technical assistance and an assessment of any assistance the Department of
Agriculture could offer. He stated that he was not qualified to say whether the park
is good, bad, or indifferent, noting that he is just a master gardener. Colonel Dix
explained that the Department of Agriculture has professional staff that could
evaluate the forest and advise the City regarding what is right and wrong about it.

The Committee recommended assisting Colonel Dix with a letter of technical
assistance from the City on his behalf.

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the Committee’s recommendation,
seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

Discussion Concerning Safety and Vandalism Issues at City Parks

Mr. Sudler reviewed the Park Issues Reported to the Safety Advisory and
Transportation Committee regarding safety and vandalism issues at City parks. He
noted that Mrs. Sharon Duca, Director of Public Works had advised Council about
graffiti at the pavilions at Dover Park and Mr. Lindell had reported graffiti at Silver
Lake Park. He stated that gangs or posses are defacing park amenities and as soon
as they are cleaned up and the area is power washed, they come back again and tag
them to show that they are not going anywhere. Mr. Sudler advised that the Public
Works Department had done a great job in moving forward and cleaning up after
them again, and methods were now being reviewed to deter them from tagging park
facilities. He thanked Police Chief Marvin Mailey for quickly responding to the
concerns by increasing patrols in this area.

Mr. Sudler advised that he had purchased and donated imitation security cameras and
warning security signs to be installed inside park pavilions to help deter graffiti
tagging, smoking, and other unlawful activities at the City’s parks. He stated that
these inexpensive tools could be used to measure if imitation cameras could help
deter this type of activity and secure City parks from vandalism. Mr. Sudler advised
that the cost of these two (2) items combined was less than $20. He submit the
imitation cameras and signs to the City Clerk, noting that he would email Mrs. Duca
to ask her to retrieve them.

Continental Park’s Workshop Update

Mr. Sudler reviewed the July 2017 Chair’s Report. He noted that a workshop was
held to raise awareness regarding the types of amenities that the City provides and
to get community feedback regarding the location in Bicentennial Village where park
amenities should be implemented or installed. Mr. Sudler stated that he,
Mayor Christiansen, Mr. Lindell, Mr. Polce and City staff attended the workshop.

Mr. David Hugg, Acting Director of Planning and Community Development, noted
that he also serves as Director of Parks and Recreation. He advised that a very



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 10

successful workshop was held at Continental Park, noting that at least 31 or 32
people signed the attendance sheet and there were probably more than that present.
Mr. Hugg indicated that a number of comments were left, and opinions were divided
regarding whether or not park benches were favored. He stated that some people
advised that benches attract undesirables; however, others expressed the need for
benches to sit on, particularly young mothers who watch their kids play in the park.
Mr. Hugg indicated that there were fairly universal recommendations that the City
look at having an active playground on Colony Drive, near the wetland drainage
area, instead of having something more intense at Continental Park. He stated that
the recommendations received were for the City to look at Continental Park as a
more passive activity area and concentrate more active use in an area that is out of
the range of traffic and where there are more families. Mr. Hugg indicated that there
were some comments about making Continental Park more family friendly, with
benches and picnic tables. He noted that a number of comments were received
indicating that the parks need serious attention in terms of maintenance, in particular
that some equipment and facilities were aging and not in the best condition.
Mr. Hugg advised that park maintenance was something that needed to be
considered.

Mr. Hugg stated that other items mentioned were a splash pad and swings. He
indicated that safety was a real concern, and some people wanted safe places for
children to play, particularly in the Colony Drive area because it is somewhat
isolated from the major thoroughfare. Mr. Hugg advised that the comments had been
synthesized, and the conclusion was that a modest investment would be made in
Continental Park as it stands currently, possibly in some benches and trash cans. He
noted that one (1) individual mentioned that there were no dog waste pick-up bags
or signs. Mr. Hugg advised that bags and signs were relatively inexpensive and
would be a useful addition to the City’s parks. He noted that if signs were installed
asking people to clean up after their dogs, something should be placed there to give
them that opportunity.

In regard to Colony Park, Mr. Hugg stated that staff was trying to develop ideas for
what could be done right now, noting that the City was in the process of thinking
through what the next steps might be. He noted that there were funds in the Capital
Improvement Program (CIP) for small park improvements, rather than the massive
improvements that would occur at Schutte Park or Dover Park, and
Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City Manager, had assured him that some of these
funds could be spent. Mr. Hugg indicated that he thought the City could invest in a
couple of parks and make a difference.

Mr. Anderson moved to suspend the rules to allow the public to comment, seconded
by Mr. Neil and unanimously carried.

In response to Mr. Hugg’s comments regarding dog waste pick-up bags and signs,
Colonel Thomas J. Dix, 664 Independence Boulevard, stated that three (3) parks
currently had dog waste signs, kits, and wastebaskets, noting that he had previously
provided pictures of them.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 11

The Committee recommended acceptance of the report.

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the Committee’s recommendation,
seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

Back to School Giveaway and Rib-Off Fundraiser Initiative

Mr. Sudler reviewed information regarding a Back-to-School Supply Giveaway and
Rib-Off Contest fundraiser for Dover Park and Continental Park. He noted that a
proposal had been developed to obtain input and buy-in from the community.
Mr. Sudler indicated that a concrete date had not yet been set and details would have
to be worked out before everything is finalized.

Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City Manager, commended Mr. Sudler for trying to put
together the Back to School Giveaway and Rib-Off Fundraiser Initiative community
event. She noted that needs regarding the proposed event had been discussed and a
meeting would be held on August 8, 2017 to determine if health inspections, or
similar items would be required and to try to get details ironed out to move forward
with the event.

In response to Mr. Hare, Mrs. Mitchell advised that this was not a City-sponsored
event or a Parks and Recreation Department planned program at this time, stating
that Mr. David Hugg, Acting Director of Planning and Community Development,
could validate that. She indicated that Mr. Sudler was trying to pull the event
together for the parks. Responding to Mr. Hare, Mrs. Mitchell stated that Mr. Sudler
would have to obtain permits and the approval of food inspectors unless Council
made the fundraiser a City-sponsored event.

Mr. Sudler stated, for clarification, that he was seeking Council’s approval for the
event and, if Council deemed it not necessary to approve or support the event, he
would take the necessary steps to hold the event.

Responding to Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler stated that he was seeking a motion to
endorse and approve the event. Mr. Anderson indicated that the event would benefit
the City without cost to the City and was a good idea. Mr. Hare stated that he
disagreed and that he thought there would be costs involved. Responding to
Mr. Hare, Mrs. Mitchell advised that, if the event was sponsored by the City,
expenses would be incurred for labor, possibly for cleanup after the event, and to pay
staff for their time at the event if staff was involved. She indicated that if Mr. Sudler
wanted to hold this special event outside of Council approval and obtain a permit for
it, there would still be labor costs, etc.; however, there would be a permit fee to help
recoup the cost. In response to Mr. Hare, Mrs. Mitchell stated that the money raised
would offset some of the expense, whether or not the event was sponsored by the
City.

Mr. Hare advised that he would like to see a proposal and a breakdown of the
expenses before saying whether or not he would support it.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 12

Responding to Mr. Slavin, Mrs. Mitchell indicated that a special City-sponsored
event would require a special insurance rider, and this would be part of the
discussion during the meeting on August 8,2017. She stated that information would
to be gathered regarding insurance, health issues, etc., to see what the costs would
be.

Mr. Hare questioned if the Food and Drug Administration would have to be involved
if the event was sponsored by the City. In response, Mrs. Mitchell indicated that she
would have to obtain those details from staff. She noted that health inspectors were
present for the vendors that were cooking at the Farmer’s Market held on
Wednesdays.

Mr. Hare, referring to the event information provided by Mr. Sudler, noted that
people would have to sign a waiver and questioned whether people would have to
sign a waiver if the event was sponsored by the City. Mr. Hare reiterated that he
thought it was premature to say yes or no until members have all of the information
following the meeting scheduled for August 8,2017. Mrs. Mitchell advised that staff
would have all of the information when this matter is considered by Council during
their meeting scheduled for August 14, 2017.

Mr. Sudler suggested that a motion could be made to move this item forward to
Council pending the receipt of criteria and information following the final discussion
meeting.

Mr. Lindell stated that he agreed with the concept but shared Mr. Hare’s concerns
regarding the need for a detailed plan regarding the associated costs.

Mr. Polce asked if members of the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) and the Police
Athletic League (PAL) would be at the August 8" meeting. Responding,
Mrs. Mitchell stated that Police Chief Marvin Mailey would be present, along with
any representatives that he feels necessary.

Mr. Anderson suggested moving this item forward with no recommendation. He
explained that when the information is provided during the August 14,2017 Council
meeting, members will be able to make the appropriate motion, and this matter will
not be delayed. Mr. Anderson stated that he would be willing to provide $250 from
his City Council Community Enhancement funds toward the proposed event.

Responding to Mr. Polce, Mr. Anderson clarified that the motion was to move this
item forward with no recommendation, which would allow members to vote on the
item on the Council floor when they receive additional information. Mr. Anderson
stated that Committee members would not be recommending that the proposal be
approved or fail but just moving it forward.

The Committee recommended moving the Back to School Giveaway and Rib-Off
Fundraiser Initiative forward without a recommendation.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 13

Councilman Sudler, Chair of the Parks, Recreation, and Community Enhancement Committee,
advised that this item had been forwarded by the Committee to City Council without a
recommendation in order to gather additional information. Mr. Sudler reviewed “Proposal for
Council’s Approval of Reclamation of Dover Park and Recreational Center Day!
September 9, 2017" (Exhibit #7).

Mr. Sudler requested Mr. Hugg, Mrs. Duca, and Mrs. Mitchell to provide additional comments.

Mr. Dave Hugg, Acting Director of Parks and Recreation, stated that there had been an active and
ongoing group with a very large number of residents of the east Dover community that had met
three (3) or four (4) times, including socially last week, to take back ownership of Dover Park, to
recognize the value of that park as an anchor park, to identify what needs to be done to bring that
park back to its one-time premier status, and to encourage the local residents to take ownership so
that the people who do not use the park for its proper purposes are aware that they are not going to
be tolerated anymore.

Mr. Hugg advised that, with Mr. Sudler's direction, they had put together an activity-based family
program for September 9, 2017 with food and games. He noted that some of the Parks and
Recreation staff and the Public Works staff had been asked to participate if this is a City-sponsored
and City endorsed event. Mr. Hugg advised that they are very enthusiastic about being a part of this
event and they had already found a few things that they can do to make the park safer, such as
relocating one of the gates to make it much more difficult to drive into the park, as well as reaching
out to the Dover Housing Authority about a main gate that lacks the proper locking apparatus and
allows access to the park at night. Mr. Hugg noted that a lot of positive things are already happening
as part of this initiative, and the people who said they wanted to volunteer had been back at every
meeting and had been signing up to be a part of this process.

Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City Manager, concurred with Mr. Hugg’s comments. She advised
that the labor and the cost of the overtime for the event would be approximately $1,300.

Mr. Sudler moved to endorse this project and make it a City-sponsored event. The motion was
seconded by Mr. Anderson.

Mr. Hare asked where the money raised from the event would go. Responding, Mr. Sudler stated
that half of the money raised would go toward the First District Continental Park amenities and the
other half would go toward Dover Park in the Third District. He noted that the money that they
already raised, which is close to $3,000, would be put toward the cost for the staff overtime and the
remaining balance would go toward what they had raised as a fundraiser.

Mr. Hare clarified that this is not a Dover Park fundraiser, but a City-sponsored event to raise money
for different parks. Mr. Sudler confirmed that the fundraiser was for Dover Park and Continental
Park specifically.

Mr. Neil asked what activities were planned for this event to raise additional funds. Responding,
Mrs. Mitchell stated that they were going to have a chess tournament, checkers, a K9 demonstration,
Police Athletic League (PAL) officers, school backpack giveaways, horseshoes, and a rib-off, with
prizes for the best ribs. She also noted that Mr. Sudler had celebrity judges lined up for the rib-off.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 14

Mr. Sudler noted that the Fraternal Order of Police would be doing the back to school giveaway and
the PAL program would be holding a three-on-three basketball tournament.

Mr. Neil asked if any of those events were going to raise funds. Responding, Mr. Sudler advised
that funds would be raised through donations and there was no specific item or event that they would
pay for. He noted that there would be an informational station at the pavilion with a donation
bucket. Mr. Sudler stated that this was a grassroots initiative where the community comes in, buys
in, and donates money.

Mrs. Mitchell advised that the City would pay for materials and supplies for the event and any
additional proceeds, such as the commitments that Mr. Sudler already has, would go to the Parkland
Reserve account and would be earmarked for Continental Park and Dover Park. Mr. Sudler stated
that they may not need a lot of money for Sam's Club separate from the $3,000 that they had already
been promised. He advised that the City would be responsible for hot dogs and hamburgers and the
individual rib-off participants would provide their own ribs. Mr. Sudler stated that the winner of
the rib-off would receive a trophy. He noted that they had been negotiating with Sam’s Club to
provide some food and items, if this event was approved by Council. Mr. Hugg advised that he and
Mr. Sudler went to Sam's Club Friday morning and met with the manager of membership services
and marketing and asked Sam's Club to be a co-sponsor of this event. He noted that they asked for
a contribution of hamburgers, hot dogs, condiments, rolls, and anything else that Sam’s Club felt
inclined to provide. Mr. Hugg advised that they received very positive feedback and, as requested,
he and Mr. Sudler drafted a letter officially asking Sam’s Club for their support, which Mr. Sudler
will be mailing once Council endorses the event.

Councilman Cole asked what the time line or structure of the day was. Responding, Mr. Hugg stated
that they were in the process of finalizing those details, but the event would officially run from
12 noon to 5:00 p.m. He noted that, during that time period, there would be programs or activities
going on throughout the park and the rib-off would be around 1:00 p.m. Mr. Hugg advised that the
food would be available from the time they open until 5:00 p.m., and it is a free event. He stated
that they want a large number of people to come out and enjoy themselves who want to take their
park back and say "This is our park. This is our community and we want this park to be safe, and
we want it to be attractive and we want it to be a real anchor in our park system."

Mr. Sudler thanked everyone for considering this proposal and stated that he thought that this would
be a great opportunity to show all of their constituents that they support them and are very
appreciative of them supporting the City.

The motion to endorse this project and make it a City-sponsored event was unanimously
carried.

Meeting at Grottos Pizzeria to Update Community Volunteers on Future
Activities and Events for City Park Programs

Mr. Sudler advised that a social meeting for volunteers on future activities and
events for City park programs would be held at Grotto Pizza on August 9, 2017 from
6:00 p.m. until 8:00 p.m. and invited all Committee and Council members to attend.




CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 15

Mr. Sudler informed members that some of the volunteers were individuals who
attended a Dover Park community meeting held on May 25, 2017 regarding Dover
Park programs and activities. He noted that these individuals had signed up to
indicate that they wanted to play a significant role in the proposed Back to School
Giveaway and Rib-Off Fundraiser Initiative and in anything that the City was doing
regarding activities and events for the parks, and he advised that they would be
contacted.

SAFETY ADVISORY AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE

The Safety Advisory and Transportation Committee met with Chairman Lewis
presiding.

AGENDA ADDITIONS/DELETIONS

Mr. Anderson expressed concern regarding shootings in the City of Dover and stated
his belief that members should discuss this matter very soon. He thanked Mr. Lewis
for committing to place this item on the next Safety Advisory and Transportation
Committee meeting agenda and indicated that, because of that commitment, he
would move to approve the agenda as presented.

Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the agenda, seconded by Mr. Neil and
unanimously carried.

Debriefing/Post-Mortem on Firefly Music Festival (Presentations by the
Department of Planning and Inspections and the Dover Police Department)
Mr. David Hugg, Acting Director of Planning and Community Development,
referred to his memorandum dated July 14, 2017 regarding the Debriefing/Post-
Mortem Report on 2017 Firefly Music Festival. He informed members that the
Firefly Music Festival went very well and there were very few incidents at the
festival with relation to the Fire Marshal’s Office and the Planning and Inspections
Department. Mr. Hugg noted that some of the items that were highlighted in the Fire
Marshal’s report would be discussed with Red Frog Events, Dover Downs, and
Dover International Speedway in preparation for next year’s festival. He stated that
most of those items were relatively minor, such as clarification of parking, incidents
involving people who were injured while cooking onsite, and fencing. Mr. Hugg
advised that a list of vendors was not received until the last minute, which caused
some issues. He noted that the event was enjoyed by several thousand people.

Mr. Sudler noted that a total of 169.5 hours of staff time was expended at the event
and asked how much the City made from participating and providing staff.
Responding, Mr. Hugg advised that the only information he had was the actual
revenue received by the City from fees, which was approximately $5,000.
Mr. Matthew Brown, Deputy Fire Marshal, stated that the City does not receive
reimbursement for the Fire Marshal’s Office at an hourly rate but does receive the
permit, fireworks, and those types of fees.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 16

Mr. Sudler expressed his understanding that the City expends a lot of staff time in
support of the event but does not receive much monetary return. Responding,
Mr. Hugg explained that the City provides a lot of staff time, and the fees, permits,
and license charges do not cover those costs; however, he stated the need to look
beyond this fact to the economic impact of the Firefly Music Festival on the City.
He stated that the City and all of the businesses in Dover benefit immensely from
this activity. Mr. Hugg advised that the fee structure is not designed to cover the
City’s costs, unless Council was to direct otherwise.

Mr. Slavin stated that Council had asked for debriefings after the event, not for the
purpose of trying to calculate potential lost revenue to the City, but to make sure that
the City was business-friendly and was keeping the festival a viable event for the
City, and to know what could be expected the following year and if any trends were
developing. Mr. Slavin stated that knowledge about the event had leveled off, and
the event had also leveled off in its numbers. He indicated that Firefly had not
become an easy event but was now a regular feature to manage, similar to the way
in which NASCAR races are managed. Mr. Slavin stated that he agreed 100% with
Mr. Hugg that members should look at the benefit of having more than 80,000
people who willingly spend their money over approximately five (5) days, as well
as the impact to the City’s businesses.

Mr. Neil asked if the City receives recompense for event coverage by the Dover
Police, and Mr. Hugg suggested addressing this question to Police Chief
Marvin Mailey. Mr. Neil expressed his belief that the City receives compensation
for police coverage, and he noted that this is a major State event and the City is
assisted by many police departments, fire departments, and ambulance companies.
He stated that a change had been made and the complete festival area, including The
Woodlands, was placed under the City. Mr. Neil indicated that the City’s Police
Department was put in charge, which he stated was worthwhile.

Mr. Neil explained that there had been neighborhood issues, noting that the
community where he resides, Wild Meadows, is in the area of the event. He
indicated that the pedestrian traffic was less than in previous years, perhaps because
the crowd was not as large. Mr. Neil advised that Persimmon Park Place had some
problems regarding turnarounds and other things that affected their community. He
indicated that Dover Downs and Dover Motorsports are very receptive and reach out
to communities to ask what kind of problems they are experiencing, if any. Mr. Neil
stated that it was important to take care of the problems related to many people
coming through neighborhoods. He complimented Dover Speedway, the host of Red
Frog Events’ Firefly Music Festival, for being cognizant of the problems and helpful.

In response to Mr. Hugg, Mr. Brown stated that the Fire Marshal’s staff begins the
pre-planning and planning for the Firefly Music Festival six (6) months in advance.
Mr. Hugg stated that Dover Speedway and Red Frog Events are very accommodating
and interested in making sure that the event is safe and enjoyable with minimal
problems.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 17

Mr. Neil indicated that it was also helpful that former Dover City Councilman and
former Police Chief James Hosfelt is in charge of security for Dover Speedway. He
noted that Mr. Hosfelt understands the problems and had been terrific in working
with the City and the community.

Mayor Christiansen questioned if Mr. Hugg and Mr. Brown believed that anything
needed to be improved regarding the festival in the future. Responding, Mr. Hugg
stated that the Fire Marshal had outlined items to be addressed, noting that there
were parking concerns and miscellaneous things, such as a vendor list, but no major
items. Mr. Brown advised that there was nothing major to address; however, staff
was working with Dover Downs and Red Frog on several issues. He noted that
Dover Downs is very accommodating regarding staff requests and had provided a lot
of additional security to assist staff during the camper load-in period and in
monitoring the campgrounds. Mr. Brown advised that any issues that came up onsite
were immediately addressed by Dover Downs. He indicated that Red Frog is out of
State and is hard to deal with prior to the Festival; however, once they are in Dover
they are attentive. Mr. Brown stated that staff tries to work with Red Frog and give
them a lot of notice on major issues. He noted that the campgrounds had previously
had only grass lanes and fire trucks drive between the rows; however, a three-year
progressive stony pavement plan had been developed. Mr. Brown advised that this
was the first year of the plan, and it had lived up to expectations. He indicated that
concerns that arise are dealt with onsite, pre-planning with Dover Downs had always
occurred, and there had been no issues whatsoever.

Mr. Brown stated that he wished to caution members with respect to previous
comments about financial reimbursement for staff time at the event. He explained
that if staff was being paid to be at the festival and was also performing enforcement,
this could create an awkward situation. Mr. Brown suggested, if members wished
to address reimbursement, that they continue to use campground fees, special event
fees, etc., rather than charging for staff hours. In response to Mr. Sudler, Mr. Brown
clarified that staff may have to address violations at the festival, which may cause
tension and friction. He advised that if staff was being reimbursed for their hours,
they would be receiving pay to be at the festival, which would create a difficult
situation if they had to enforce something, impose a fine, or close a structure down
because it was in violation.

Mr. Sudler asked if someone is onsite at the festival to address violations and hazards
that City staff point out. Responding, Mr. Brown advised that City staff have a great
working relationship with Mr. Hosfelt and Mr. Mark Hostetter, Fire Protection and
Life Safety Technician, Dover Motorsports, Inc., and staff are in communication
with them by phone and radio. He stated that several incidents had come up;
however, onsite meetings are held and incidents are addressed immediately.
Mr. Brown indicated that City staff had never had an issue with Dover Downs not
complying onsite.

Lieutenant Christopher Hermance, Special Enforcement Unit Commander, Dover
Police Department, stated that he is responsible for large-scale event coordination



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 18

and planning and tends to the races at Dover Downs as well as the Firefly Music
Festival. He reviewed the 2017 Dover Police Department Firefly Music Festival
After Action Report.

Lieutenant Hermance advised that Routel is used as a dividing line for the festival
grounds, and the festival area and the camping area on the west side of the roadway
are monitored by the Dover Police Department. He indicated that the festival area
is broken into Divisions 1, 2, and 3, and Lot 18. Lieutenant Hermance stated that
Lot 18, when filled, has a larger population than the City. He stated that Lot 18 is
under the Dover Police Department’s jurisdiction; however, there are agreements
with the Delaware State Police to take control of that area and to assist in other areas
in Division 3. Lieutenant Hermance advised that changes had been made and the
City had started working a little better with the Delaware State Police, in terms of
incorporating State Police forces into some areas that the Dover Police Department
would normally cover, which allowed the City to allocate its resources to other areas
of the event. Lieutenant Hermance stated that group dynamics, flow, and
communication were good and everything went very well, with significant
improvements over last year.

Lieutenant Hermance advised that, according to Red Frog Events, approximately
90,000 people attended the festival daily and approximately 40,000 of them camped
in campgrounds in the festival area. He stated that the load-in to the campsites began
at 8:00 a.m. on Wednesday, June 14, 2017, noting that vehicles are loaded in from
Lot 18 and moved west. Lieutenant Hermance indicated that there was a lot of
coordination and monitoring via technology, cameras, and Unmanned Aerial
Vehicles (UAVs) with the Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT)
controlling traffic, and everything went smoothly, with only the typical minor
difficulties.

Lieutenant Hermance informed members that there were numerous private security
agencies under the command of Dover International Speedway that the Department
liaised with, including 13 outside agencies in law enforcement alone. He stated that
these agencies worked in areas from festival row positions to campground row
positions and checkpoints. Lieutenant Hermance expressed the need to react to
world events and noted that procedures are evaluated for improvement every year.
He stated that a serpentine-type barrier consisting of numerous 80,000 pound dump
trucks was set up as a checkpoint and as protection for vehicle-borne threats.
Lieutenant Hermance advised that this barrier was being reassessed for improvement
next year, noting that DelDOT provides the vehicles and drivers with 24-hour
coverage in case the vehicles need to be removed.

Lieutenant Hermance noted that the command post was manned 21 hours per day
and there was an on-scene commander 24 hours a day. He advised that the command
post was in an idle state between 3:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. and he, as the on-scene
commander, usually lived out of the post. Lieutenant Hermance stated that the
Delaware Information and Analysis Center (DIAC) and Delaware’s Fusion Center
were used to gather information about potential threats and intelligence coming into



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 19

the area in regard to things like drug activity coming to and from the festival to other
events.

Lieutenant Hermance informed members that 42 complaints were received between
Wednesday, June 14, 2017 at 6:00 a.m. through 11:00 a.m. on Monday,
June 19, 2017 in the specific area of the event. He noted that there were zero (0)
DUI complaints. Lieutenant Hermance stated that a DUI offender had gotten up onto
a bridge last year, and this incident was one (1) of the things that set in motion a
truck barrier for 2017 to prevent this type of activity. Lieutenant Hermance advised
that some major drug arrests had been made by undercover officers in the Drug,
Vice, and Organized Crime (DVOC) Unit. He indicated that some of these arrests
were extremely large, with significant numbers in terms of ecstasy, marijuana,
MDMA, LSD, cash seizures, etc. Lieutenant Hermance advised that police patrols
were not funded by Dover International Speedway or Red Frog but through Dover
Police Department grant funding for patrols. He explained that officers were
conducting these types of arrests through foot patrols, which may not be possible
next year, depending upon funding. Lieutenant Hermance advised that this matter
was something that needed to be looked at and the Department was continuing to
work with Dover International Speedway in this regard. He noted that foot patrols
made a very significant impact on the drug activity coming into the event, which
made the event safer and worked for the Police Department.

Lieutenant Hermance stated that he worked closely with Mr. Hosfelt on the event,
which had been a pleasure, and there were open communications between Lieutenant
Hermance, Mr. Hosfelt, DeIDOT, and the Delaware State Police. He noted that they
were able to resolve issues as they came up. Lieutenant Hermance noted that
meetings would begin in the next couple of weeks to present and discuss the small
issues that had come up.

Lieutenant Hermance indicated that one (1) of the biggest changes was the
consolidation of command posts. He explained that previously there were two (2)
command posts, the Joint Operations Command (JOC), on the west side of Route 1,
and the Festival Command. Lieutenant Hermance explained that these two (2)
facilities had been combined at the JOC, which was better in terms of incident
command, fusion, and operation of the overall event. He expressed the need to
acquire technology to allow dispatchers to use headsets because it becomes loud in
the command post. Lieutenant Hermance stated that numerous links in the chain had
been removed, which shortened it to provide a better response and better transfer of
communication.

Lieutenant Hermance advised that there had been numerous discussions last year
regarding signage on the roadways and in the festival. He indicated that
improvements were seen; however, more improvements were needed. Lieutenant
Hermance stated that he had scheduled approximately 4,000 hours of commitment
for law enforcement, noting that these funds are not paid by the City but by Red Frog
Events and Dover International Speedway. He stated that there were almost 640
hours from municipal agencies alone, and without their help and Dover Police



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 20

Department’s outstanding relationships with these agencies, the Dover Police
Department would not be able to support the event as they do not have enough
people. Lieutenant Hermance advised that police presence is key for the event. He
stated that there were no major issues. Lieutenant Hermance explained that the
festival is a living thing that is always changing, and the Police Department changes
and adapts to it. He stated that everyone involved had gotten good at what they do
and is open to new ideas.

Mr. Anderson stated that it was amazing that there were 90,000 people and only
minor incidents, with the exception of two (2) incidents. In response to
Mr. Anderson, Lieutenant Hermance stated that he was not aware of any noise
complaints outside the event.

Mr. Neil indicated that he usually hears noise complaints. He noted that a private
event called Afterfly is held on the Kent County side of Persimmon Tree Lane;
however, this year it was not bad. Mr. Neil advised that, in the past, crowds of kids
came in and blocked traffic, which did not occur this year. He stated that traffic was
slow due to checkpoints for turning into the campgrounds, but it was easy enough
to get in and out. Mr. Neil stated that the noise level was controlled, noting that this
was previously a problem because the area was in the County and the City could not
get involved. He advised that, in the past, offenders had been warned and the noise
would then flare up again. Mr. Neil indicated that the sound technicians had done
a marvelous job of channeling the sound.

Lieutenant Hermance stated that improvements had been made in bus transportation
routes throughout the facility. He explained that a lot of planning was done that
incorporated Dover Area Rapid Transit (DART) in bringing people to and from the
event. Lieutenant Hermance advised that DART was running bus transportation to
Wawa stores in the City, noting that bus transportation reduces the number of feet
on the ground outside of the controlled area. He noted that one (1) change this year
that the Mayor had encountered was the hard closure of the bridge.
Lieutenant Hermance stated that, due to the number of pedestrians crossing the
bridge, the bridge was fully closed at approximately 10:00 p.m. on Thursday, and no
motor vehicles, including golf carts, could cross it for any reason. He advised that
different access points were used via Route 1 and other detour roads.
Lieutenant Hermance informed members that next year police motorcycles will be
allowed to cross the bridge. He explained that having the bridge closed works out
very well when 30,000 people come out of the festival area at 1:00 a.m. or 2:00 a.m.
because they are able to get where they need to go to bed down for the night in a
quick, orderly manner.

Responding to Mr. Anderson, Lieutenant Hermance explained that the reference in
the report to opening the bridge part-time to motors in item #11, Items Requiring
Improvement, on page 10 of the report referred to the motorcycle unit. He indicated
that this measure would allow for motorcycles to provide rapid response, noting that
motorcycles have a smaller footprint than golf carts and the path is established there
for them to traverse.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 21

Review of Chapter 59 of the Dover Code - Juvenile Curfew (Sudler)

Mr. Sudler informed members that, due to recent shootings, he had looked for tools
in the Dover Code to help deter gang initiative, activities, and criminal enterprises.
He noted that Chapter 59, Juvenile Curfew, was adopted after Mr. Hare had
participated in a ride-along with the Dover Police Department in 2011 or 2012.
Mr. Sudler expressed his opinion that this was a good ordinance; however, he noted
that the ordinance stated that the Chief of Police would provide an update within six
(6) months after its implementation to allow for Council to assess its effectiveness.
He indicated that he was interested in knowing some of the challenges that police
officers encounter as they enforce Chapter 59.

Police Chief Marvin Mailey informed members that the ordinance seemed well
written; however, it posed some challenges from an enforcement standpoint. He
stated that the first time an offender is encountered for a curfew violation, the
offender would be given a warning and told to go home. Chief Mailey indicated that
in a second encounter, an officer is supposed to take the youth into custody, write
them up, and take them to a parent. Chief Mailey explained that, in his 24 years of
experience as a law enforcement officer, there is always an issue with taking
juveniles into custody. He explained that this type of encounter would be considered
a non-custodial encounter; therefore, when a youth is taken into custody, the officer
must return the child to a parent or someone in the neighborhood, which had always
been problematic for law enforcement. Chief Mailey advised, for example, that the
Department responded to a complaint earlier in the day regarding an unattended
four-year-old and was still trying to find a family member to pick the child up. He
stated that the child was still at the Police Department with staff from the
Department of Services for Children, Youth and their Families, Division of Family
Services (DFS). Chief Mailey advised that if DFS does not respond to this type of
situation, an officer would be tasked to babysit, and he noted that there is an issue
with turning over juveniles anytime there is a juvenile encounter.

Chief Mailey stated that the curfew was a very good idea and a tool for law
enforcement and he was not suggesting that the City get rid of it. He indicated that
other enforcement tools are used when officers encounter juveniles after hours, such
as ordinances regarding loitering, criminal trespass, and disorderly conduct.
Chief Mailey explained that when an officer comes upon juveniles and tells them to
leave an area or disperse and they do not, they can be charged with loitering, which
is a full custody arrest. He stated that these juveniles can then be taken into custody,
taken to the station, and put into a cell until their parents can be contacted. He noted
that federal guidelines mandate that a juvenile cannot be kept for longer than six (6)
hours and, at the end of the detention, they must be turned over to a parent or DFS,
whose typical response time is approximately two (2) hours. Chief Mailey advised
that every time a juvenile is contacted, the steps he outlined are performed, which
takes an officer off the street. He informed members that the Department was
currently staffed with 99 officers, was down two (2) officers, and there are frequent
retirements. Chief Mailey estimated that 10 to 12 officers are routinely on patrol at
night, and they run out of officers quickly with the influx of normal criminal
complaints, accidents, arrests, fights, etc. He stated that the additional component



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 22

of taking an officer away every time they run into juveniles who are out on the street
would present a significant manpower problem for the Department and its sergeants
who work at night, since there is a limited number of staff to begin with.

Chief Mailey reiterated that the ordinance is another good enforcement tool,;
however, there are other tools in the toolbox that are more effective. He stated that
the Department deals with enforcement of youth after hours by arresting many
juveniles for loitering, criminal trespass, and disorderly conduct. Chief Mailey also
indicated that the Department had plans for a program with juvenile probation
starting in August and he thought this would help tremendously.

Mr. Sudler stated that the ordinance included accountability, not only for the juvenile
but also for the parent and the establishment where a juvenile may be loitering. He
asked what measures are taken with establishments who do not report juveniles
loitering. Responding, Chief Mailey indicated that this depends on what the officer
thinks about a situation. He explained that if it is known that an establishment has
stayed open and allowed juveniles to congregate or stay, the curfew ordinance can
be applied and a violation can be issued to the business. Chief Mailey stated that the
ordinance is an enforcement tool that can be used to hold businesses accountable for
stimulating that kind of activity; however, the City does not have any businesses
open after midnight that want juveniles frequenting them, unless they are paying
customers. He informed members that the Police Department receives phone calls
from local businesses asking for squad cars to come and move juveniles out.

Mr. Sudler asked if Chief Mailey could submit past reports regarding the ordinance
to the Safety Advisory and Transportation Committee for review and discussion.
Responding, Chief Mailey referred to correspondence dated October 18, 2012 from
former Police Chief James Hosfelt, stating that this was the only report regarding the
curfew ordinance. He stated that this assessment was completed after the first six (6)
months of implementation of the ordinance and stated that the rate of violation had
decreased approximately 7% in one (1) year. Chief Mailey noted that the ordinance
mandated that Council receive informal updates, which he stated he could provide
regarding the number of juveniles the Department is contacting and what staff is
experiencing. He indicated that they could let the curfew ordinance constantly grow,
mature, and become more effective. Chief Mailey stated that he could do a more
formal report if members prefer and asked members to let him know what they need.

Mr. Lewis indicated that members received a copy of the five (5) questions that
Mr. Sudler asked Chief Mailey regarding the juvenile curfew ordinance with the
answers provided by the Chief.

Mr. Neil stated his belief that Chief Mailey had indicated that an officer may have
to sit with a juvenile for six (6) hours, followed by an additional two (2) hours before
the juvenile is turned over. He asked if it would help if an agency served as the
juvenile’s custodian if the Police Department is unable to contact the parents.
Mr. Neil indicated that lack of a parental guidance system is a societal problem, and
parents may be working or a single-parent family may be involved. He questioned



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 23

if a custodial situation could be found for juveniles so that the officers could get back
on the street. Responding, Chief Mailey indicated that DFS is the custodial branch
that takes custody and watches children whose parents cannot be found until they can
locate a family member. He noted that the Department works with DFS and contacts
them when they cannot find a family member or locate a neighbor to take custody
of the child. Chief Mailey explained that if they cannot find anyone in the first hour
or two (2), they typically activate DFS, and there is a two-hour response time for
DFS on average. He noted that, when holding someone’s child, a certain amount of
liability is incurred in regard to whom the child is turned over to. Chief Mailey
indicated that the City is responsible for whatever happens as a result of releasing a
child to a family member or neighbor; therefore, officers typically do not turn over
children to other residents. He stated that they would rather turn a child over to a
State organization who is responsible and has been proven in child welfare and their
treatment of children.

Mr. Neil asked if there could be a policy to automatically call DFS as soon as a
youngster is in custody so that an officer can be freed up more quickly. He stated his
understanding that the Department might have a juvenile for six (6) hours before that
occurs. In response, Chief Mailey explained that federal guidelines state that the
Department cannot hold a juvenile for longer than six (6) hours but does not usually
hold them that long because they immediately start calling the parents, caregiver, or
party who is responsible for the child. Chief Mailey indicated that if they cannot
reach them, they try to knock on the door of at the residence. He noted that if this
is unsuccessful and they do not get a response in a reasonable amount of time, they
contact DFS.

Mr. Anderson asked if the Juvenile Curfew Ordinance Employment Certificate could
be posted to the website so that parents and employers would have easy access to it.
Responding, Chief Mailey advised that he could ask Mr. Andy Siegel, IT Director,
to post it to the City’s website, or staff could make it available on the Dover Police
Department’s website. Chief Mailey advised that, during his experience as Deputy
Chief and his few months of experience as Chief of Police, no certificates had been
received by the Department. He stated that officers apply sound judgment when they
encounter juveniles after hours, explaining that if a young male or female is stopped
for a traffic stop or while walking and advises an officer that they are on their way
home from work, the officer checks into it. He stated that an officer is typically able
to substantiate the juvenile’s employment by how they are dressed, for example if
they work at Hardee’s, or they may have seen the juvenile in their place of
employment. Chief Mailey advised that if the officer believes the juvenile is stating
the truth, the juvenile is allowed to go. He noted that officers were not stopping
people and issuing tickets to those who do not have work permits. Chief Mailey
informed members that no certificates had been submitted; therefore, staff knew
there were no existing permits.

Mr. Sudler asked how the community is made aware that they need to submit a
Juvenile Curfew Ordinance Employment Certificate if it is not on the website and
how this could be made more user friendly. In response, Chief Mailey advised that



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 24

the quickest way to publicize the ordinance would be through social media,
explaining that the bullet points of the curfew could be advertised and the exceptions
could be listed as well. He stated that a certificate could be attached in pdf format
or returned by email. Chief Mailey indicated that certificates could be submitted to
his office and he could approve them on an as-needed basis.

Mr. Sudler suggested a press release to get the word out so that people would be
made aware of the ordinance and that they could contact Chief Mailey, rather than
possibly being surprised.

Mr. Lindell stated his understanding that, in Chief Mailey’s experience, juveniles
who are approached after curfew that are causing issues are usually charged with
something else, and breaking the curfew is secondary. Chief Mailey advised that this
was the case, depending on the juvenile’s behavior. He stated that the ordinance is
one (1) of many tools in the toolbox and a nice option for officers to use; however,
they would rather use a criminal charge if the individual’s behavior rises to that
level. Chief Mailey stated that typically youths who are congregating are told by
officers to move on and usually comply. He explained that if they put up resistance,
a criminal charge can be applied. Chief Mailey noted that when an officer makes an
arrest, the youth can be put in a cell and staff can try to contact their parents, rather
than issuing a curfew violation under the City’s ordinance. He noted that the curfew
violation results in non-custodial custody; therefore, if the child cannot be turned
over to a family member, they cannot be put in a cell for the violation and must be
put in a non-secure facility. Chief Mailey stated that a non-secure facility cannot be
locked or restricted, and the juvenile cannot be handcuffed to a wall or anything like
that, so an officer has to sit with them until the Department can turn the juvenile
over.

Mr. Lindell noted that he had been on a police ride-along but did not deal with many
juveniles. In response to Mr. Lindell, Chief Mailey advised that the number of
juveniles approached by officers on an average night depends on the time of year,
noting that there are more in the summer when school is out. He stated that juveniles
are out doing what juveniles do, such as vandalizing parks, as indicated by
Mr. Sudler, and if officers see them acting in a suspicious nature, there are many
mechanisms within Title 11 that allow juveniles to be detained until it can be
determined what they are doing. Chief Mailey explained, for example, that it is a
violation to be in a park after hours; therefore, juveniles who are present then can be
detained and arrested for loitering, trespassing, or something similar. He noted that
officers have many options available.

Mr. Lindell noted, having been on patrol during the ride-along on Friday,
July 21, 2017, that approximately five (5) or six (6) officers were taken off the road
due to other duties, leaving five (5) or six (6) on the road. He indicated the difficulty
of attending to every juvenile. Chief Mailey advised that attending to every juvenile
would leave the Department very short staffed, stating that if he was the desk
sergeant he would have to keep one (1) officer back to watch all the juveniles. He



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 25

explained that the other four (4) officers would have to handle the rest of the
complaints for the night, or until the juveniles could be released.

Mr. Lindell suggested allowing the officers to use their common sense and do their
jobs as professionals.

Mr. Polce asked what percentage of juveniles receive a plea deal for a lesser offense.
In response, Chief Mailey estimated that this would apply to approximately 70% -
80% of first time offenders, depending on the offense. He explained that there is
probation before judgment for offenses such as disorderly conduct or loitering, which
means that an offender who is arrested would go before a judge or master.
Chief Mailey advised that a juvenile would go before a master in Family Court and
would be offered probation before judgment and the offense would go away if the
offender does not get into trouble for the next six (6) months. He stated that the
prison systems are full, which is a problem at both the juvenile and adult levels, so
they do not want to bring nonviolent offenders into a confinement type of situation,
and in the court’s eyes, this is a nonviolent offense.

Responding to Mr. Polce, Chief Mailey confirmed that recidivism is very high.

In response to Mr. Sudler, Chief Mailey stated that a juvenile is absolutely as capable
as an adult of committing a serious or violent crime. Mr. Lewis indicated that he
could attest to the fact that a juvenile is just as capable as an adult of committing a
serious or violent crime, since he works for the Department of Corrections. He
informed members that there were currently 25 juveniles at the Sussex Correctional
Institution (SCI), whereas last year there were only five (5), and SCI has the worst
of the worst. Mr. Lewis stated that juveniles definitely commit crimes.

Traffic Safety Issue on Kenton Road (Fox Hall and Fox Hall West Area)
(Lindell and Polce)

Mr. Lindell advised that Mr. James Hosfelt, Kent County Commissioner and former
member of City Council, had brought a traffic safety issue on Kenton Road, in the
arca of Fox Hall and Fox Hall West, to his and Mr. Polce’s attention.

Mr. James Hosfelt, 303 Pebble Valley Road, informed members that a significant
accident occurred on Kenton Road when his daughter, who was traveling northbound
on Kenton Road, was run off the road by an aggressive driver, struck a tree, and ran
into a backyard fence in the Fox Hall development. Mr. Hosfelt advised that in
mid-April, he was approached by a resident of Fox Hall West, who noted that if the
accident had occurred on the other side of the roadway while his child was playing
in the backyard, the vehicle could have gone through the fence, struck his child, and
caused the child’s death. Mr. Hosfelt stated that, following the spring 2017
elections, he reached out to Councilmen Lindell and Polce, and the three (3) of them
worked together on this matter as a City/County issue. He advised that they thought
that this matter should be brought to the attention of the Committee and possibly also
to the Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT). Mr. Hosfelt stated his
belief that DelDOT had done a traffic study review regarding what they planned to



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 26

do in the Dover High School area. He advised that he did not know what the answer
was, stating that he, Mr. Lindell, and Mr. Polce thought that a guardrail on both the
east and west side of the roadway would be a simple solution. Mr. Hosfelt noted
that, in viewing the area from Google Earth, the area extended 200 yards from
Kenton Road to the entrance of Fox Hall and Fox Hall West. He stated that he,
Mr. Polce, and Mr. Lindell were going in different directions to see what could be
accomplished, and he was unsure if there were other ideas. Mr. Hosfelt indicated
that they were looking for the endorsement of City Council to refer this matter to
DelDOT for consideration and to get suggestions or ideas for going in another
direction.

Mr. Lewis indicated his belief that the area being discussed was located in
Representative Sean Lynn’s district and asked if anyone had reached out to him. In
response, Mr. Hosfelt advised that the area being discussed was in Representative
Lynn’s and Senator Brian Bushweller’s districts. Mr. Lewis asked if public safety
funds could assist in placing a guardrail. Responding, Mr. Polce indicated that
Representative Lynn and Senator Bushweller were in the loop regarding the
situation. He stated that DelDOT was doing an initial study specific to potentially
widening the road and their feedback and study results were expected in early
August. Mr. Polce noted that he thought the study would outline tangible action
items and expressed his hope that Senator Bushweller and Representative Lynn
would be gracious enough to discuss it.

In response to Mr. Sudler, Mr. Polce advised that the DelDOT study had not yet been
completed. He indicated that DelDOT had done an initial phase and they had
requested DelDOT to look into widening a berm and potential safety options.
Mr. Polce stated that once the report is released, it will be made available to all
members.

Mr. Sudler stated that College Road, where he resides, is as much a danger as Kenton
Road, explaining that both roads are similar in size and prone to the same kinds of
accidents. He noted that College Road connects to Kenton Road. Mr. Sudler asked
if College Road could be included in this initiative, noting that College Road borders
on both the First and Fourth Council Districts. He suggested that members partner
in their efforts, in order to strengthen their position on this request, stating that he
and Mr. Anderson, as Fourth District representatives, would love to partake.

Mr. Sudler noted that Mr. Shelton resides off College Road, in the First District, and
asked for his input. Responding, Mr. Shelton explained that he resides in Hidden
Oaks, across from the Jehovah Witnesses Dover Congregation building. He noted
that the houses on the right side of College Road, when heading west toward Kenton
Road, are vulnerable to accidents and estimated that they are only an arm’s length
from the road. Mr. Shelton indicated that this area needed shoring up, possibly
through some type of safety device. He stated that he agreed that the area on Kenton
Road near the entrances to Fox Hall and Fox Hall West should be improved and
noted that an accident at that location a couple of weeks ago had backed traffic up
past the firehouse to McKee Road. Mr. Shelton suggested that an engineer may need



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 27

to review this area. He advised that the fences in this area were not strong enough
to withstand a vehicle going through, which could potentially cause a death, and
noted that there are children in the area. Mr. Shelton indicated that the entire area
needed to be included.

Mr. Sudler expressed his sorrow about Mr. Hosfelt’s daughter’s accident and stated
that he looked forward to working with him.

Mr. Lewis informed members that he had an issue with people driving on the grass
on the side of his house a couple of years ago. He noted that his home is at the end
before a townhouse development row starts and there is a service road that comes
around it. Mr. Lewis advised that, at that time, Mr. Scott Koenig, former City
Manager, had arranged for the placement of a barrier of old telephone poles at this
location to stop people from coming in, and this had worked. He suggested that this
could be done until a guardrail is installed and asked Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting
City Manager, to review this possibility. Mr. Hosfelt indicated that this could be a
stopgap measure, stating that anything would be appreciated. He stated that he
agreed with Mr. Shelton and Mr. Sudler that College Road was also in need.

Mr. Lindell stated that Police Chief Marvin Mailey had been asked for accident data
for Kenton Road in the area of Fox Hall and asked if this could also be obtained for
College Road in front of Hidden Oaks and the other side of the Fourth District.
Responding to Mr. Lewis, Chief Mailey indicated that he could provide this
information. (City Clerk’s Olffice Note: Subsequent to the meeting, Chief Mailey
provided a Report of Collisions on College Road - July 2012 to July 2017.)

Mr. Neil stated that he did not think that members could take any action until the
reports were received.

Mr. Sudler moved to recommend that Police Chief Mailey provide the reports that
Mr. Lindell had mentioned, including the safety impact indicators and how much
traffic there is on College and Kenton Roads. The motion failed for lack of a second.

In response to Mr. Lewis, Mr. Hosfelt advised that he was looking for Council to
endorse or support the project.

Mayor Christiansen asked if it would be prudent to contact Ms. Jennifer Cohan,
Secretary of Transportation, via the Kent County Metropolitan Planning
Organization (MPO) to find out the priority of the Kenton and College Road projects
with respect to DecisionLens. He noted that basic engineering work was being done
on Kenton Road. Mayor Christiansen stated that such a written request would
memorialize that Secretary Cohan is aware that the City would like these projects to
be moved higher on the list. He explained that there was a project proposed to have
a suicide lane constructed on Kenton Road, along with the necessary improvements.

Mr. Slavin advised that he had been informed by Mrs. Traci McDowell, City Clerk,
that a typical agenda item for the August meeting of the Safety Advisory and



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 28

Transportation Committee is to set the priorities for transportation improvements that
the City hopes to see from DelDOT. He indicated that gathering the information
discussed and bringing it back for the August meeting would be the perfect timing
to slot this matter as a high priority.

Responding to Mr. Lewis, Mr. Slavin stated that he did not believe any action would
be required at this time. Mr. Slavin thanked Mr. Hosfelt for his work on this matter
and his previous work on Council.

Colonel Thomas Dix, 664 Independence Boulevard, noted that he frequently sees
pedestrians along the road in this area. Responding, Mr. Lewis indicated that
pedestrians would be included. Mr. Polce stated that one (1) of the specific requests
to Secretary Cohan was to extend the roadway to make it pedestrian and bicycle safe
and friendly.

LEGISLATIVE, FINANCE, AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE

The Legislative, Finance, and Administration Committee met with Chairman Hare
presiding.

Proposed Resolution No. 2017-10 - Establishing the “Making Dover Prosper”
Initiative (Anderson)

Mr. Anderson thanked Mr. Neil and Mr. Cole for co-sponsoring Proposed Resolution
No. 2017-10. He also expressed thanks to Mr. David Hugg, Acting Director of
Planning and Community Development, for his work on this matter, and to friends
in the business community, including the Chamber of Commerce.

Mr. Anderson stated that, during the Council Retreat of January 6, 2017, members
discussed items that they wanted to accomplish this year. He indicated that Proposed
Resolution No. 2017-10 would put into writing the remaining items that would make
Dover a business-friendly environment so that Council memorializes that these items
are accomplished. Mr. Anderson reminded members that Council had heard about
Vision 2020 during the Council Retreat and he thought that most members agreed
with it. He advised that there had been discussion about the need for a road map to
City services that would make it easier for people to know where to go one (1) step
atatime. Mr. Anderson stated that Mr. Hugg was working on initiatives to make the
City more 21* century friendly, with the ability to track permits and similar items.
He advised that Mr. Hugg had indicated that it would be helpful to have the
endorsement of Council for these initiatives.

Mr. Anderson noted that Dover is a business friendly city and Proposed Resolution
No. 2017-10 looks at what can be done to remove existing barriers and the
perception that the City is not business friendly. He stated that the best way to
change this perception would be to make sure that there is no basis in reality for it.
Mr. Anderson advised that the Proposed Resolution would allow those who have to
deal with City regulations and are affected by them to have a voice in making sure
that regulations are modernized and work as they are supposed to. He indicated that



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 29

the resolution would eliminate some of the unintended consequences of ordinances
and rules that were passed 50 or 60 years ago and do not apply in the same way
today. Mr. Anderson noted that the City had the good fortune of having Mr. Hugg,
who was an expert who had already accomplished similar measures in another area.
He indicated that he thought that Council needed to give Mr. Hugg the tools he needs
and the endorsement of Council in a formal fashion. Mr. Anderson stated that he
thought Council also needed to back the Chamber of Commerce in their Vision 2020.
He stated that members can make Dover prosper by freeing the engine of free
markets in a responsible way that recognizes appropriate regulation, but making sure
that it works the way it is supposed to, to fulfill the purpose that is intended, without
being duplicative and getting in the way of legitimate business activities.

Mayor Christiansen stated that he thought Mr. Anderson had brought the Proposed
Resolution forward in good faith and that it was the intention of members of Council
to follow through on it, noting that he thought members had realized that the City
had been a bit behind the times. Mayor Christiansen advised that he and Mr. Hugg
had met with the County and other entities, who were also in agreement that it was
time to move forward into the 21* century. He stated that he applauded
Mr. Anderson for presenting the Proposed Resolution and that he thought it would
behoove members of Council to adopt it to say to the world that the City is in
business to do business and come to Dover.

Mr. Slavin expressed appreciation to Mr. Anderson for bringing the Proposed
Resolution forward. He indicated that he was feeling unsettled that, as politicians,
members were taking credit for other people’s work. Mr. Slavin stated that this
initiative was not an original idea of any one (1) person on Council but had come
from staff, and the work that had been done to achieve what had been seen so far was
done by staff, and not Council. He cautioned members about posting things on
Facebook that state, “This was my initiative.” Mr. Slavin asked members to have
humility and give credit where it is due, rather than using it for political purposes.

Mr. Hare stated that Mr. Hugg and his staff did a great job putting this initiative
together, noting that he received numerous emails with changes that had been
discussed.

Mr. Lindell stated that he agreed with the comments in the Proposed Resolution. He
noted that, because a conglomeration of staff and other individuals were involved,
he wanted to make sure that the initiative is followed through on rather than just paid
lip service. Mr. Lindell also stated his hope that members would not micromanage
or Monday morning quarterback staff but allow them to do what they need to do to
get the job done.

Mr. Anderson pointed out that this concept was brought up before current staff had
been hired; however, things had been brought together and staff was doing a
tremendous job. He noted that a lot of the concepts were already being implemented,
which he stated was tremendous.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 30

Mr. Anderson requested an opportunity for one (1) of the authors of Vision 2020 and
a representative of the Chamber of Commerce to comment.

Ms. Judy Diogo, Central Delaware Chamber of Commerce, 435 North Dupont
Highway, expressed appreciation for Proposed Resolution No. 2017-10 being
brought forward. She reminded members that the Chamber’s Vision 2020 had nine
(9) different points and estimated that the Proposed Resolution addressed five (5) of
them. Ms. Diogo advised that the Chamber was excited that a committee would be
formed, which would allow for feedback and the business community to work with
Mr. Hugg and the Planning Department. She indicated that this would allow
everyone to come together and identify the issues that are slowing things down.
Ms. Diogo stated that once the issues are identified, solutions can be developed. She
expressed thanks and stated that the Chamber was looking forward to working with
the City to move the initiative and the City forward.

The Committee recommended adoption of Proposed Resolution No. 2017-10.

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the Committee’s recommendation,
seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

Strengthening of the Tax Exemption Review Process (2017 Budget Review -
Hare)

During the Special Council Meeting - Budget Review of May 30, 2017 discussion
regarding the Public Safety Fee Recommendation, Mr. Hare noted that many
properties had been exempt for many years and suggested that there be a better
review. He suggested that there were properties that should justify why they are tax
exempt and that, once the public safety measure is approved, tax exempt status
should be reviewed and it should not all be the responsibility of Mrs. Cheryl Bundek,
Tax Assessor. Mr. Hare requested that consideration of strengthening the tax-
exempt review process be placed on a future Council Committee of the
Whole/Legislative, Finance, and Administration Committee agenda.

During the Council Committee of the Whole/Legislative, Finance, and
Administration Committee meeting, Mr. Hare expressed his belief that there were
some properties in the City that should not be tax exempt and that the review process
by the Board of Assessment Appeals should be stronger. He indicated that he had
discussed this matter with Mrs. Bundek. Mr. Hare indicated that he was bringing
this matter to members’ attention so that they could begin their own reviews, noting
that they could provide their lists to Mrs. Bundek and should feel free to meet with
her or give her a call.

Mr. Lewis stated that he concurred with Mr. Hare with respect to this matter.

Healthcare Summary of Proposals

During the Special Council Meeting - Budget Review Meeting of May 24, 25, and
26, 2016, members moved that the City Manager conduct a Request for Proposals
(RFP) pertaining to health insurance coverage for City employees, and that the RFP




CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 31

be issued by no later than December 31, 2016. Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City
Manager, indicated that Mrs. Kim Hawkins, Human Resources Director, advertised
for an RFP for health/medical care and prescription insurance benefit for the
employees, retirees, and dependents of the City of Dover. She explained that, prior
to 1999, the City had a self-insured plan with a deficit of over $2M. Mrs. Mitchell
advised that the City reached out to the State to try to join their healthcare program,
and they allowed the City to join in 1999. She noted that the City has been on the
State program since that time. Mrs. Mitchell indicated that the State charges the City
a 5% risk assessment fee and $2.70 for every contract to be part of that program.

Referring to her memorandum dated July 19,2017 regarding Health and Prescription
Request for Proposals, Mrs. Mitchell indicated that the City asked for comparative
coverage that would not be less than current coverage, and proposals were received
for Blue Cross/Blue Shield coverage from L & W Insurance and Still Insurance
Agency. She explained that both proposals had the same rates, and the only
difference between the two (2) proposals was the broker’s fees. Mrs. Mitchell stated
that L & W Insurance wanted a $50,000 flat fee and Still Insurance Agency wanted
$19 per contract for participants under age 65 and $5 per contract for those over
age 65.

Mrs. Mitchell advised that the results reflected an annualized savings to the City of
$1.1M in premiums based on the FY 17 budget, without the broker’s fees. She stated
that, of this $1.1M, the employer would pay approximately $961,000 and the
employee would pay approximately $150,000. Mrs. Mitchell indicated that in
FY 18, the savings would equate to $803,000, noting that there would be a 4.75%
rate increase in January 2018. She stated that this would equate to almost $695,000
in savings for the employer and $108,000 for the employee. Mrs. Mitchell stated
that the broker’s fee would not be part of this and would be $50,000 for L & W and
$115,000 for Still Insurance Agency.

Mrs. Mitchell advised that staff had provided a memo and was not presenting a
recommendation at this time because, if the City wishes to exit the plan, notice must
be given to the State by April 1* for a termination date of June 30"™. She noted that
the first time the City could exit the State plan would be June 30, 2018.
Mrs. Mitchell explained that if the City found that the new plan was not working, it
would have to wait three (3) years to re-enter the State plan, and the State would not
pick up the City’s retirees upon re-entry. She stated that retirees were placed on the
State plan in 1999 through a mistake made by the State and, because it was their
mistake, they allowed the City’s retirees to remain on the plan. Mrs. Mitchell noted
that if the City went back to the State plan, active employees would be placed on it;
however, retirees would be placed on their own individual plan. She advised that the
retirees’ experience and premiums would be rated on the group of retirees at that
time, and the City would have to pay their employer cost.

Mrs. Mitchell noted that a lot of money was being discussed; however, she expressed
concern regarding the risk of being in the State pool versus the City having its own
health care as a smaller group. For example, she noted that the City has 340 active



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 32

employees and 263 retirees, for a total of 603 participants in the pool with their
experience rate, which could have catastrophic claims, low claims, etc.
Mrs. Mitchell indicated that the State’s pool has 20,970 retired and 36,748 active
participants, for a total of 57,718, and this is the City’s risk exposure in its current
pool. She stated that members would have to consider where this risk would lead if
the City comes off the State plan, stating that the City is paying the State for that
risk; however, the City is part of a much bigger pool.

Mrs. Mitchell advised, that if Council wished to move forward in the direction of
leaving the State plan, many meetings must be held with groups of employees to
explain where the City is going with this. She stated that she did not want to have
these meetings and disturb employees unless members wanted to make this change.

In response to Mr. Shevock, Mrs. Mitchell stated that the City’s retirees and active
employees are currently on the State plan. She explained that retirees under the old
plan contribute a percentage toward the shared cost of family coverage, for example
a retiree may pay 25% and the City may pay 75%. Mrs. Mitchell advised that the
City has new employees who contribute 15% or 20% of the cost and the City
contributes the remaining 85% or 80%, respectively. She stated that the City pays
100% of the health care contribution for many retirees who were grandfathered in
under the City’s prior cost-sharing allocation, when no employee contribution was
required for individual coverage.

Responding to Mr. Shevock, Mrs. Mitchell stated that current retirees are on the
State plan, and if the City pulled them off the State plan they would be unable to go
back on the plan. She noted that this was a risk of pulling all City participants out
of the State plan. Mrs. Mitchell explained that if an employee retired tomorrow, they
would stay on the State plan, unless the City decides to buy its own insurance and
remove everyone from the State plan. Mrs. Mitchell advised that the City would
have to make this decision; however, the change could not be made earlier than
June 2018.

Mr. Anderson thanked Mrs. Mitchell for looking into this matter, stating that he was
intrigued and that the savings merited a closer look. He advised that $800,000 or
possibly $1M in savings would be worth paying attention to because the State cost
would probably increase. Mr. Anderson noted that coverage under both proposals
would be through Highmark and asked if the types and levels of benefits would
change and if the participants’ choices would remain the same. Responding,
Mrs. Mitchell advised that the premiums mirrored what the City currently has under
the State plan and employees could keep their choices and doctors. She indicated,
however, that the State’s Aetna plan was not included in the proposals, only Blue
Cross/Blue Shield.

Mr. Slavin stated that the risk assessment was especially troublesome for him and
that he would like to know more about this as the dialogue progressed. He asked if
a dispassionate third party could be obtained to review and quantify the risk.
Responding, Mrs. Mitchell stated that she could do that now, noting that she could



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 33

also have the City’s actuary look at it. She advised that when this matter had been
discussed previously some time ago, the City’s experience was compared from one
year to the next, and this information was obtained from the State. Mrs. Mitchell
stated that one year the City’s experience showed a benefit of approximately
$300,000 and the next year it showed a loss that was approximately $300,000;
therefore, the results almost washed out. She indicated that when the actuary opined
at that time, they felt that, because of the size of the State pool, the City was better
off without making a change, noting the possible effects of a catastrophic claim, and
Mr. Slavin stated that this is what he expected.

Mr. Slavin stated that, in his opinion, changing health plans for over 600 people
would disrupt the lives of the City’s workforce and every member of their families
who are on these plans. He indicated that this aspect was not something that
members should devalue because it does not have a dollar sign attached to it.
Mr. Slavin expressed the need to consider this in terms of managing the City’s
workforce. In addition, he cautioned members about removing retirees from the
State plan with no way to re-enter it. He noted that retirees are a big force that will
come to the meeting when this is considered because they will want to know about
it and will have a lot of questions. Mr. Slavin indicated that a change in the pension
plan manager was considered during one of the first meetings he attended as a
Councilman many years ago. He stated that he had never seen the room as full or
received as many emails on a single topic and asked members to be ready if they
proposed to make this change.

In response to Mr. Slavin, Mrs. Mitchell indicated that consideration of this item
would have to be part of the discussions related to the next budget cycle.

Responding to Mr. Hare, Mrs. Mitchell advised that City employees pay a different
allocation percentage than State employees pay and that she thought that the City
employees’ percentage was higher.

Mr. Hare indicated that he had requested this health care information a few years ago
and it had finally been received. He stated that he had spoken to other people in the
insurance field who advised that the City should not discuss changing health care
further unless there was a $2M - $4M difference. Mr. Hare indicated that these
individuals had stated that it would not be worth the disruption for under $1M. He
noted that Mrs. Mitchell had stated the difference next year would be only
approximately $800,000.

Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City Manager, advised that the original memo that was reviewed by
the Legislative, Finance, and Administration Committee during their meeting of July 25, 2017 did
not include the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) union. She advised that the memo had since been
revised (Exhibit #8).

Mr. Hare moved for acceptance of the amendment to the original memo, seconded by Mr. Neil
and unanimously carried.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 34

Mr. Hare moved for acceptance of the Council Committee of the Whole Report, seconded by
Mr. Anderson and unanimously carried.

MONTHLY REPORTS - JUNE 2017
By motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Neil, the following monthly reports were
accepted by consent agenda:

City Assessor's Report

City Council's Community Enhancement Fund Report
City Manager's Report

City Planner's Report

Controller/Treasurer's Budget Report

Fire Chief's Report

Police Chief's Report

QUARTERLY REVIEW OF CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN (CIP) (APRIL, MAY, AND
JUNE) (PRE-AUDIT)

Members were provided the Quarterly Report for the Capital Investment Plan (CIP) as of
June 31, 2017.

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for acceptance of the Quarterly Report for the
Capital Investment Plan (CIP) as of June 31, 2017. The motion was seconded by Mr. Neil and
carried by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

QUARTERLY REVIEW OF OPERATIONS/REVENUES - PASSPORT ACCEPTANCE
FACILITY

Members were provided the Quarterly Operations/Revenues for the Passport Acceptance Facility
Report as of July 30, 2017.

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for acceptance of the Quarterly
Operations/Revenues for the Passport Acceptance Facility Report. The motion was seconded
by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

LIMITED PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT FOR ELECTRIC UTILITY

Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City Manager, requested authorization to sign a limited service
contract for Mr. Steve Sax (Utility Management Partners, LLC), the former Electric Director, to
provide assistance, oversight, and advisement on several issues and projects related to the electric
utility that she is working on.

Mrs. Mitchell stated that the limited professional services contract is for $75 an hour for in-office
time and $50 an hour for travel time.

Responding to Mr. Anderson, Mrs. Mitchell stated that the contract had been reviewed by Deputy
City Solicitor Pepper.

Responding to Mr. Hare, Mrs. Mitchell stated that Mr. Sax lives in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, so if
it is necessary for him to travel to Dover for issues that cannot be handled by phone or



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 35

teleconference, he has asked to be reimbursed for his travel time. She also noted that Mr. Sax would
be reimbursed for his actual expenses.

Staff recommended authorizing the Acting City Manager to sign a limited service contract with
Utility Management Partners, LLC.

Mr. Sudler moved for approval of Staff’s recommendation, seconded by Mr. Cole and carried
by a unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

APPOINTMENT OF ACTING CONTROLLER/TREASURER

By Consent Agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for the appointment of Lori Peddicord as the
Acting Controller/Treasurer. The motion was seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a
unanimous roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

APPOINTMENTS RECOMMENDED BY MAYOR CHRISTIANSEN
Mayor Christiansen recommended the following appointments:

Ethics Commission - Lisa M. Enright - Five Year Term to Expire July 31, 2022 (to
fill the expired term of Andrew S. Moreland)

Public Advisory Committee of the Dover/Kent County MPO - C. David Jamison -
Two-Year Term to Expire July 2019 (to fill the expired term of Karen McGloughlin
(At-Large Alternate))

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the appointments, as recommended
by Mayor Christiansen. The motion was seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous
roll call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

201718 ANNUAL APPOINTMENT RECOMMENDED BY COMMITTEE CHAIR
(DEFERRED DURING THE ANNUAL MEETING OF MAY 8, 2017)

Chairman Sudler recommended the appointment of Dr. Kim Warfield to the Parks, Recreation, and
Community Enhancement Subcommittee for a one-year term to expire May 14, 2018 (to fill the
expired term of Ann Baker Horsey).

By consent agenda, Mr. Anderson moved for approval of the appointment, as recommended
by Chairman Sudler. The motion was seconded by Mr. Neil and carried by a unanimous roll
call vote (Mr. Lewis absent).

FINAL READING - PROPOSED ORDINANCE #2017-09

The First Reading of the Proposed Ordinance was accomplished during the Council Meeting of
July 24, 2017. Council President Slavin reminded members of the public that copies of the
ordinance were available at the entrance of the Council Chambers or on the City's website at
www.cityofdover.com under "Government."

Mr. Sudler moved that the Final Reading of the proposed ordinance be acknowledged by title
only, seconded by Mr. Neil and unanimously carried.


http://www.cityofdover.com

CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 36

PROPOSED ORDINANCE #2017-09 AMENDING CHAPTER 2 - ADMINISTRATION, ARTICLE IV -
OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES, DIVISION 1 - GENERALLY, SECTION 2-201 - COMPENSATION AND
EXPENSES FOR MAYOR, COUNCIL, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER ELECTED OR APPOINTED
OFFICIALS

By motion of Mr. Neil seconded by Mr. Anderson Council, by a unanimous roll call vote
(Mr. Lewis absent), adopted Ordinance #2017-09, as follows:

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DOVER, IN
COUNCIL MET:

That Chapter 2 - Administration, Article IV - Officers and Employees, Division 1 - Generally,
Section 2-201 - Compensation and Expenses for Mayor, Council, Employees and Other Elected or
Appointed Officials, of the Dover Code, be amended to read as follows:

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY

Sec. 2-201. - Compensation and expenses for mayor, council, and other elected or appointed
officials.

(a) Fees established. In accordance with section 12 of the Charter, authorizing the council to
establish compensation and expenses for the mayor, councilmembers, and other elected or
appointed officials, the following fees are hereby established:

(1) Mayor. The mayor shall receive an annual salary of $45,000.00. In addition, the
mayor shall receive an expense allotment of up to $5,000.00, to be included in the
city's annual budget for miscellaneous expenses, to be reimbursed upon submission
of receipts or proper documentation. Expenses in excess of this amount shall only be
permitted by council approval. The mayor shall be entitled to all benefits customary
to an employee of the city, except pension benefits, and sick and vacation leave.

(2) Councilmembers generally. Each councilmember shall receive an annual salary of
$7,416.00, to be paid monthly. The council president shall receive an annual salary
of $8,652.00, to be paid monthly. Councilmembers shall receive reimbursement for
actual and necessary expenses incurred when on official business as prescribed by
ordinance or policy.

3) Board of assessment appeals. Each appointed member of the board sitting to hear
appeals from the municipal assessment shall receive $75.00 per diem reimbursement
for expenses for the preparation and attendance at each meeting of the board of
assessment appeals.

4) Nonemployee election officers. Each person not a city employee appointed to serve
as an election judge for any municipal election shall receive $200.00 for per diem
reimbursement for each election attended. Each person chosen to serve as a clerical
assistant for any municipal election shall receive $150.00 for per diem
reimbursement for each election attended.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 37

(b)

(%) Employee election officers. Employees of the city appointed to serve as election
judges or officials for any municipal election shall receive $150.00 for per diem
reimbursement for expenses for each municipal election attended in addition to their
regular salary.

(6)  Appointee to council committee. Each appointed member to any city council
committee, not serving an elected term to any city office, shall receive $75.00 for
preparation and attendance at each committee meeting to which the member is
appointed.

(7) Employee on council committee. Any city employee appointed to a council
committee shall receive $25.00 for reimbursement for expenses per diem for each
meeting attended which is held after 5:00 p.m. on a scheduled workday or at any
time on a weekend or city-approved holiday.

(8) Planning commission. Each appointed member of the planning commission shall
receive $100.00 per diem reimbursement for expenses to be paid monthly for
preparation and attendance at each meeting of the planning commission.

9) Board of adjustment. Each appointed member of the board of adjustment shall
receive $75.00 per diem reimbursement for expenses to be paid monthly for
preparation and attendance at each meeting of the board of adjustment.

Compensation commission. There is hereby created a compensation commission to consider
compensation for the mayor, city council, and paid members of city committees and
commissions. The compensation commission shall consist of five members, one member
appointed by the mayor, one member appointed by the council president, and three members
appointed by city council during the annual meeting. Members shall be city residents who
are registered to vote in city elections. Members shall serve four-year terms and cannot be
reappointed within the next four years. The controller/treasurer and human resources director
shall serve as ex-officio, nonvoting members.

The compensation commission shall meet at least once a year, with a written report due to
council on or before the first regular council meeting in November. Prior to submitting a
resolution to council which proposes a change in compensation, one public hearing must be
held. Upon receiving the resolution of the commission, the city council may reduce or reject
the commission's recommendation, but it may not increase any item in the resolution. The
recommendations contained in the resolution, and any permitted changes to such
recommendations, shall not become effective unless adopted by ordinance enacted at least
three months prior to the elections of the next succeeding mayor and council, and shall take
effect only for the next succeeding terms of office of the mayor and council.

ADOPTED: AUGUST 14, 2017



CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 14, 2017 PAGE 38

ACTING CITY MANAGER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

Mrs. Donna Mitchell, Acting City Manager, announced that Comic Con would be held on Saturday,
August 19, 2017 from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. She also announced that the Dover Air Force Base
Air Show and open house would be held on Saturday and Sunday, August 26™ and 27™.
Mrs. Mitchell advised that both events were free.

COUNCIL MEMBERS' ANNOUNCEMENTS
Mr. Sudler reiterated his thanks to Council members for approving the Dover Park special event.

Mr. Anderson congratulated the members of Council on making a wise decision for downtown
earlier in the evening regarding the proper disposal of the library.

Council President Slavin noted that they returned to television for this meeting, and he thanked
Mrs. Kay Dietz-Sass, Public Affairs and Emergency Management Officer, and the City Clerk’s
Office for the extra work they put in on the project and expressed his appreciation for those efforts
and for the ability to have the meetings broadcast. Mr. Slavin stated that he hoped that all the
viewers at home enjoy the new equipment and hopefully the broadcast is much improved.

Mr. Neil moved for adjournment, seconded by Mr. Hare and unanimously carried.

Meeting adjourned at 8:44 p.m.

TRACI A. McDOWELL
CITY CLERK

All ordinances, resolutions, motions, and orders adopted by City Council during their Regular
Meeting of August 14, 2017, are hereby approved.

ROBIN R. CHRISTIANSEN

SA\AGENDAS-MINUTES-PACKETS-PRESENTATIONS-ATT&EXH\Council-Minutes\2017\08-14-2017 Council Minutes.wpd
Exhibits

Exhibit #1 - Information provided by Mr. Steven Hall

Exhibit #2 - Excerpts from Council Minutes, provided by Ms. Sue Harris

Exhibit#3 - Listings of Properties, provided by Ms. Sue Harris

Exhibit#4 - Tiny House Community Listing, provided by Ms. Sue Harris

Exhibit #5 - Excerpts from Consolidated Plan, provided by Ms. Sue Harris

Exhibit#6 - NCALL Restoring Central Dover Housing Plan, provided by Mr. Joe Myer

Exhibit#7 - Proposal for Council’s Approval of Reclamation of Dover Park and Recreational Center Day!
September 9, 2017, provided by Mr. Sudler

Exhibit#8 - Memorandum from Kim Hawkins and Donna Mitchell dated July 19, 2017 Regarding Health and
Prescription Request for Proposals



EXHIBIT #1
Regular Council Meeting of 08/14/2017

August 7, 2017

WHY IS IT SO HARD FOR PEOPLE TO ACCEPT
THE FACT THAT HOMELESSNESSIS A
PROBLEM IN THIS STATE? | CAN'T
BELIEVE THE INCONSIDERATION OF THE
PEOPLE. THERE ARESO MANY

HOMELESS PEOPLE IN SUSSEX, KENT:
AND NEW CASTLE COUNTIES. WHY IS IT
SO HARD FOR PEOPLE TO UNDERSTAND
THAT ALLWE WANT IS A PLACE TO LIVE..
A PLACE THAT WE CAN CALL HOME!!l ALL
WE WANT TO DO IS LIVE LIKE
EVERYONE ELSE !1111S THAT TOO HARD
TO ASK? EVERY DAY: | SEE HOMES;
BUILDINGS ECT; GOING UP; BUT NO ONE
CARES ABOUT THOSE WHO ARE SLEEPING
IN THE STREETS; BUS SHUTTLES AND
ABANDONED HOUSES OR BUILDINGS ?
PEOPLE ARE BEING ARRESTED FOR



TRYING TO FIND A PLACE TO SLEEP? WHAT
ARE YOU AS A STATE GOING TO DO
ABOUT THIS MATTER? IT'S ABOUT TO GET

COLD! FROM THE DESK
OF STEVEN ALL




AUGUST 01, 2017,2017.

WHAT DOES IT TAKE TO FIND ITIN THE HEARTS OF
MEN TO WANT TO HELP PEOPLE? IF A FAMILY
MEMBER OF YOURS FELL ON HARD TIMES, AND LOST
EVERYTHING THAT THEY EVER OWNED AND WAS
GIVEN A CHOICE TO SLEEPIN ATENT ORON THE
STREETS WOQULD YOU HELP? EVERONE TELLS YOU TO
REACH OUT TO CHURCHES; SOCIAL SERVICES AND
OTHER RESOURCES THAT ARE SUPPOSED TO HELP;
YET, 'M STILLIN A TENT ON SOUTH LITTLE CREEK
ROAD IN DOVER, DELAWARE! DO YOU KNOW WHAT
IT’S LIKE TO WAKE UP EVERY MORNING IN A TENT
IN THE WOODS? CAN YOU EVEN IMAGINE?
SERIOUSLY; WHAT DOES IT TAKE TO BRING ABOUT
CHANGE? I'M NOT SPEAKING FOR THE OTHER HOME
LESS PEOPLE HERE IN DOVER; I'M SPEAKING FOR

GOTTEN ATTACKED WHILE SLEEPING IN MY TENT; AND
WAS KILLED; WOULD YOU BE THE LEAST BIT
CONCERNED? OR WOULD YOU GO ON WITH YOUR
EVERYDAY LIFE ; BECAUSE IT DID’'NT HAPPEN TO ANY
ONE THAT’S CLOSE TO YOU? WHEN ARE WE GOING
TO COME TO THE REALIZATION THAT WE ARE HELPERS



ONE OF ANOTHER?

| PRAY THAT ONE DAY YOU SEE HOMELESS NESS AS
A PROBLEM THAT NEEDS TO BE SOLVED AND WONT

MIND JUMPING lN”/WAND BEING A PART OF THE

P

FROM THE D;/SK/ OF STEVEN W. HALL é
/ /QQ P




JUNE 8, 2017 -

WHAT DO YOU DO? PLEASE TELL ME, WHAT DO YOU DO WHEN YOU
FALL FROM THE STATUS OF A JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL BASIC ENGLISH
TEACHER IN SUSSEX COUNTY, TO A HOMELESS INDIVIDUAL THAT LIVES
IN THE WOODS IN A TENT IN DOVER? PLEASE, TELL ME WHAT DO YOU
DO, WHEN YOU ARE AT THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR LOOKING FOR A
JOB DAILY ALONG WITH BEING AT THE DOVER PUBLIC LIBRARY’S JOB
CENTER EACH DAY IT’S OPEN LOOKING FOR A JOB, BUT YOUR
BACKGROUND PREVENTS YOU FROM BEING HIRED? PLEASE, TAKE
ABOUT 5 MINUTES AND PLACE YOURSELF IN MY SHOES. WHAT DO YOU
DO, WHEN YOU CAN’T AFFORD TO PAY TO HAVE YOUR RECORD -
EXPUNGED,BECAUSE YOU HAVE NO INCOME COMING IN AT ALL?WHAT
DO YOU DO WHEN THE PRESSURE OF LIFE PRESSES ON YOU SO, UNTIL
YOU FEEL LIKE GIVING UP AND ENDING IT ALL?(NO, I'M NOT A SUICIDLE
CASE!) I DON'T CUSS, | DON'T DRINK, PARTYING ISN'T A PART OF MY
AGENDA ANYMORE AND | HATE DRUGS! WITH TRYING TO DO THE
RIGHT THING, YOU GET NOWHERE!! PLEASE, TELL ME, WHAT DO YOU
DO? CAN YOU EVEN IMAGINE LIVING LIFE THIS WAY? I’'VE BEEN IN THE
SHELTER, I"'VE CHECKED OUT SOCIAL SERVICES AND OTHER RESOURCES
AND GOT NOWHERE! YOU EITHER HAVE TO BE A FEMALE WITH
CHILDREN , NOT KNOWING WHO THE CHILDREN’S FATHERS ARE, OR

YOU HAVE TO BE AN ADDICT OR A RECOVERING ADDICT TO GET HELP?
PLEASE, TELL ME, WHAT DO YOU DQ??
STEVEN W. HALL



JUNE 28, 2017

TO: WHOM THIS MAY CONCERN: HELLO, MY NAME IS
STEVEN HALL; IN JULY 1998, | WAS ACCUSED OF
MESSING WITH A 13 YEAR OLD BOY, | WAS CHARGED
WITH UNLAWFUL SEXUAL CONDUCT, BECAUSE THEY
KNEW THAT THEY COULD’NT PROVE THAT | HAD SEX
WITH THIS BOY! BECAUSE | KNEW NOTHING ABOUT THE
LAW, AND WAS TOO POOR TO AFFORD TO HIRE A
LAWYER, | WAS COAXED INTO HIRING A PUBLIC
PRETENDER. WE USE THIS TERMINOLOGY, BECAUSE OF
THE FACT THAT THEY PRETEND AND ASSURE YOU THAT
THEY ARE GOING TO DO AS WELL AS A PAID LAWYER,
WHEN IN FACT, THEY REALLY DON’T CARE!! THEY'RE
GOING TO GET A STATE OF DELAWARE PAYCHECK

TORMENTED, I'VE BEEN EVICTED FROM HOUSING, I'M
CURRENTLY HOMELESS LIVING IN A TENT IN DOVER
NOW!!T "M SICK OF THIS CRAP!!!T BECAUSE OF BEING A
REGISTERED SEX OFFENDER FOR THE LAST 20 YEARS, |
CAN’T GET A JOB! JOBS THAT I'M WELL QUALIFIED

OF MEN THAT HAVE RAPED AND ANNIALATED



CHILDREN, AND THEY'RE DOING BETTER THAN ME! THIS

AND SEEKING A LAW FIRM THAT WILL HELP ME WITH MY
LAW SUIT!HITTUNLESS, YOU CAN COME UP WITH A WAY
TO HELP ME GET BACK ON MY FEET?, I'M GOING TO SLAP
PROBATION AND PAROLE AND EVERYONE ELSE
INCLUDING THE MEDIA THAT HAS CAUSED ME AND MY
FAMILY ALL THE PAIN AND SUFFERRING AND
HUMILIATION THAT WE'VE GONE THROUGH IN THE
LAST 20 YEARS!!! PLEASE HELP ME!!!!T FROM THE DESK




August 7, 2017

TO WHOM THIS MAY CONCERN: WHY IS IT
THAT EVERY TIME | ASK YOU TO PRINT
SOMETHING IN YOUR LETTERS OR
EDITORIAL SECTION YOU DON'T PRINT
IT??  WILLYOU PLEASE ; PLEASE PRINT
THIS ARTICLE FOR ME??? 1 AM TRYING TO
GET HELP FROM STATE AND CITY




EXHIBIT #2
Regular Council Meeting of 08/14/2017

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on August 22, 2016 at 7:44 p.m. with Councilman Hare
presiding in the absence of Council President Slavin. Council members present were Mr.,
Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis (departed at 7:43 p.m.. and returned at 7:58 p.m.), Mr. Cole,
Mr. Hosfelt, and Mr. Hutchison.

Pastor Aaron Appling, Victory Church, called on the audience to raise their hands if they were
homeless, or had recently been homeless, and many people raised their hands. He explained that
he was representing a group of people that he had gotten to know deeply over the past six (6)
months.

Pastor Appling acknowledged that some would ask why he was addressing City Council when
his problem with the homeless was related to Kent County. In response to this, he stated that
most of the homeless he had encountered live in the City. Pastor Appling advised that they had
been on the streets feeding the homeless seven (7) days a week for the past six (6) months with
no riots, problems, or violence. He referred to a homeless awareness event that was held about a
month ago, where they camped out in tents set up at the corner of Division and State Streets for
six (6) days and asked lovingly and kindly for help. Pastor Appling mentioned that Councilmen
Sudler and Anderson came by the event; however, other than a few, the highest ranking officials
in the community never even said hello, which disturbed him morally. He felt that those who are
given a responsibility are supposed to do certain things and, although some things had been
done, there was more to do, stating that there was very little outreach from the officials who
work for the taxpayers. Pastor Appling noted that the County had advised them that it was illegal
to house homeless people where their church is because the soil was not good enough, due to
zoning laws, etc. He stated that he did not care about these issues because he was coming from a
moral standpoint and believed it was morally wrong for the homeless to be on the streets. Pastor
Appling advised that some of the homeless sleep in front of City Hall every night and asked that
they be given access to the dozens of abandoned houses around the City so they could fix them
up and put people in them within a month or two (2).

Pastor Appling advised that they were not asking for money but just for red tape to be removed.
He asked for those present who agreed with his comments to respond by saying “aye”, and many
of those present did so.

Ms. Sue Harris, Chair and Co-Founder of Port Delaware, Inc. and Tiny House Villages for
Homeless, informed members that she was present to make plea for help. She wanted it to be
understood that they would never criticize the efforts of the City or any other caretaker on behalf
of the homeless up to this point or into the future. Ms. Harris asked members to listen and really
hear what they were saying, noting that it was an understatement to say that the homeless
population in the area was becoming overwhelming. She stated that each day the homeless
providers and service organizations in Kent County go above and beyond to try to accommodate
and deal with this growing problem. Ms. Harris indicated that non-profits search for solutions to
serve a growing population with dwindling dollars. Churches and citizens take to the streets to
bring food and water to increasing numbers of people who wait for welcome relief of sustenance
and love, and efforts still fall far short of solving the problem. Ms. Harris advised that, report
after report, rescarch and case studies show that, without all the pieces to the puzzle, the cycle of
homelessness will continue. She acknowledged that Code Purple provides help for cold weather
emergencies and year-round assistance with needs, resources, and housing when they can. Ms.
Harris noted that the Dover Interfaith Mission for Housing, Shepherd’s Place, and Whatcoat are
good providers that take people in and give them the opportunity to feel secure for a month or



two (2) to get started on the right path. She explained that there are a few transitional beds to
move men from shelters into the next level of self-support, but it seemed that there was a missing
piece of the puzzle. Ms. Harris felt that those who can be taken out of the State system and
moved to permanent housing are unable to do so because there is nothing available that is
affordable. She explained that if there was affordable housing available, these people would no
longer cost taxpayers thousands of dollars to house, would finally be able to take care of
themselves, and in doing so would make room for someone else in a shelter bed so that they, too,
could begin to end their cycle of homelessness. Instead, Ms. Harris stated that these individuals
return to the streets or to housing that is unsafe, and to situations that threaten their new-found
independence, since the need for affordable housing far exceeds the availability. Ms. Harris
indicated that those individuals speaking on behalf of the homeless were present to encourage the
City, as well as the County, to help them with their piece to the puzzle. She noted that the City
had made efforts to help, as was obvious in the City’s annual action plan, which highlighted the
need for affordable housing. Ms. Harris stated that the problem of affordable housing was not
close to being solved, and they desired to help the City to solve it. She advised members that
advocates had beaten their heads against walls researching properties in the area and looking
over coding and zoning laws, when the officials already had all those answers. Ms. Harris
indicated that they spend endless hours reading articles, news stories, white papers, and
testimonials of the experiences of other tiny house villages throughout the country. Ms. Harris
provided a written statement on tiny house communities, a handout including information on
homelessness in Delaware, as well as a binder containing research regarding tiny house
communities (as on file in the Office of the City Clerk).

Ms. Harris felt that the most frustrating part of this issue was that only one (1) piece of this
puzzle was needed to move forward with putting these villages together, and this was the piece
that the County and/or City could provide. She advised that they had the support, volunteers, and
donations to make this happen, but continued to look for an opportunity for a site from the City
or the County. She noted that Kent County could presently provide this by granting a permit for
the Village of Victory. Ms. Harris informed members that they would continue to advocate and
encourage innovative solutions for affordable housing for those most in need to provide a
smoother path for villages in the near future. She asked members to consider putting some
thought into how to make this happen together instead of concentrating on convincing them why
it should not and would not work. Ms. Harris stated that this concept had worked in many places
throughout the country and would work here if given a fair opportunity. She felt that efforts
being put forth in the community to support the homeless each and every day with food and
water were unmatched, stating that their dedication was humbling and showed what they could
put into this village. Ms. Harris hoped to hear from Council and to feel their support through
action, especially help with locating a site. She indicated that they would continue to plead for
the City to help in their search for answers to this complicated and diverse problem. Ms. Harris
expressed the desire to work together with every homeless organization, stating that there was
much that could be done if it did not matter who gets the credit.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on September 12, 2016 at 8:00 p.m. with Council
President Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil,
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison.

Pastor Robert Appling, Victory Church, 2648 Sharon Hill Road, informed members that he was
representing those who have no voice: the homeless. He stated that he came to Dover 38 years
ago, had built three (3) churches and two (2) parsonages, and had owned property on the corner
of Division Street and Governors Avenue, as well as two (2) other properties in Dover, which he
believed gave him the right to speak about the needs of the community. Pastor Appling
expressed deep concern about housing the homeless for the upcoming winter, and felt this need
could be alleviated by renovating, restoring, and utilizing abandoned buildings downtown and
empty businesses all around town. He felt that this is an important item that City Council and
citizens of Dover and Kent County need to address. Pastor Appling informed members that some
people think of the homeless as criminals, drug addicts, and drunks; however, many are educated
and looking for jobs, and his church had been working with other churches to feed and house as
many as they could.

He requested that Council put the needs of the homeless on their agenda in the near future.

Mr. EShed Alston advised members that he had been a resident of Dover for 42 years, and he
supported this community and Pastor Appling, whom he had known since they were both young
men. He stated that he had done some research prior to the meeting and found that the federal
government spent $114B to settle illegal aliens into the country last year. Mr. Alston felt that if
the government could spend that much money on people who are here illegally, they should be
able to spend as much on the people who are here legally. He believed that the City needs to
have compassion for the poor and homeless, and homelessness can happen to anyone if
misfortune befalls them. Mr. Alston advised Council members that if this happened to them, they
would better understand the plight of the homeless. He also stated that citizens should not have
to ask, but that they have a right to demand that the government help them because the
government works for the citizens. Ms. Marla Purvis, 9 Par Haven Drive, Apartment C-34,
shared that she had been homeless for four and-a-half-years while living in Prince George’s
County, Maryland; Atlanta, Georgia; and Orlando, Florida. She stated that she spent most of her
time on the streets, but was in and out of homeless shelters during that time. Ms. Purvis
explained that government officials had directed her to resources that were specific to her
situation and, ultimately, this assistance was what she needed to overcome homelessness. She
felt that a person needs a safe, secure place to sleep and take a bath before they can concentrate
on setting goals, making plans, and executing them. Ms. Purvis was very grateful for all of the
help that she received and wanted to share her story to encourage the community to continue to
provide the resources that the homeless need. Pastor Aaron Appling, Victory Church, 2648
Sharon Hill Road, called on the audience to raise their hands if they were homeless or had
recently been homeless, and many people raised their hands. He stated that he was a native of
Dover and a descendent from the Nanticoke bloodline that dates back further than most people in
the room. Pastor Appling wanted to remind members that the homeless men and women are
here, they are real, and this is a real problem. He recalled a speech given by Martin Luther King.
Jr., where he told a story about a rich man and a poor man named Lazarus, who was at the rich
man’s gate every day begging for crumbs. Pastor Appling found it interesting that he sees people
sleeping in front of the gates of City Hall every night. He stated that the passion and emotion
coming from people in this room was not anger but a peaceful expression, and reminded those



present that this country was founded by people who came to places like this and communicated
their passion and desires for government. Pastor Appling provided information regarding
properties in the City of Dover that were vacant or in disrepair, as well as a binder containing a
brochure on Port Hope Delaware, Inc. and a petition signed by those in support of their efforts
for the homeless (as on file in the Office of the City Clerk). He indicated that he had a list of
properties that the City owns, noting his belief that those properties are owned by the
community, not the people who are elected. Pastor Appling believed that the City could house
the homeless in some of these buildings, including the old Dover Public Library. He noted that
the petition contained over 5,000 signatures supporting what they were doing here in the City.
Pastor Appling felt that most of Council’s constituents want the homeless off the streets before
winter and, by coming peacefully to the meetings, they were exercising the rights that many
people have given their lives to protect. He compared this to the founding of our country and the
Civil Rights movement, saying that they were very loving and passionate about what they were
doing, and they would not leave people on the streets this winter without a voice. Pastor Appling
stated that every day they will camp out somewhere in the City, and they will be at the next
couple of City Council meetings and Kent County meetings as well. He asked for those present
who agreed with his comments to respond by saying “aye.” and many of those present did so.

Mr. Steven Hall, 684 Forest Street, stated that he was born and raised in Sussex County,
Delaware. He explained that he felt compelled to speak because he taught seventh, eighth and
ninth graders how to read, write, and spell for eight years. Mr. Hall informed members that he
earned a bachelor’s degree in elementary education, and once had two (2) cars and a nice home,
but now had none of those. He stated that he wanted to show appreciation for the Dover
Interfaith Mission for Housing and all that Pastor Appling and Victory Church were doing for
the homeless. Mr. Hall reiterated that they were just voicing their opinion and that this situation
could happen to anyone. He informed members of all the meetings that Pastor Appling and he
had attended to try to bring light to this issue in Sussex County and in Dover. Mr. Hall requested
consideration for their proposal and asked for the City to help give people a home.

Mr. Mike Reyes, Smyrna, stated that he was representing a pastors’ association with more than
25 members in Wilmington and Chester and was in support of what Victory Church and its
ministers were doing because they had applied for the same thing in their areas. He noted that the
difference between the two (2) regions was that the Wilmington and Chester governments
welcomed what Victory Church was doing, but there were not enough churches getting involved
in feeding and helping the homeless. Mr. Reyes emphasized that his city would love for a church
to be as involved and willing to do the work repairing houses as Victory Church had been. He
felt that this would City.

Ms. Marisa Costello, Smyrna, Delaware offered her support to Victory Church and the tiny
houses; however, she explained that she had come to the meeting for a totally different topic. She
displayed a photograph of her 14-year-old daughter and informed members that her daughter was
currently missing in the City of Wilmington, and she was trying to get help through the New
Castle County Police Department. Ms. Costello stated that on June 21, her daughter was a
victim of rape in Dover. She explained that she had been trying to contact the detective assigned
to the case, and her phone calls had not been returned. Ms. Costello stated that detectives told her
that they were following their protocol and they refused to put it on the news because her
daughter had not been abducted.



She explained that her daughter was in a group home called The Terry Shelter, which is an
unsecured facility, when four (4) girls ran away in one (1) week. Ms. Costello expressed
frustration that the shelter was unable to do anything to help the parents of the girls who ran
away, and agreed with Ms. Chantell Scott that there was nothing for kids to do around here. Ms.
Costello stated that she has three (3) daughters, and she has put aside her own safety to find her
daughter. She asked if anyone could tell her how to get help. Mayor Christiansen offered to
speak with Ms. Costello in the hall.

Councilman Neil welcomed the people who came to speak about the issue of homelessness and
assured them that City Council was working on all areas of the issue. He noted that there are
certain rules that they have to follow, and that the City cannot just take someone’s property and
give it to the homeless. Mr. Neil advised that another way to make a difference is to talk to the
people who are going to vote so they can elect the people who will be able to do something about
it. He acknowledged that this is not just a problem in the City of Dover, but is a universal
problem in the State and the country, and he welcomed them back.

Ms. Janetta Guinn, 749 Slaughter Street, informed members that three (3) years ago, she would
have been homeless if it were not for her landlord, Mr. Joe Burden, who allowed her extra time
to pay him. She expressed frustration that Mr. Burden tries to fix up houses to get the homeless
off the street but the City keeps tearing them down because they are not up to code.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on September 26, 2016 at 7:36 p.m. with Council
President Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil,
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, Mr. Hostelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison (departed at 8:57 p.m.).

Ms. Alexis Simms informed members that she was currently homeless and is a 21-year-old,
visually impaired, pregnant female who is suffering from lupus. She stated that she had tried
calling every social system she knew of in an attempt to find housing, but there was no help
available for her. Ms. Simms asked who the system could help if there was no help for someone
in her situation. She indicated that the systems are not helping anyone who cannot help
themselves. Ms. Simms believed that being homeless should not be thought of as a disease,
noting that the homeless want and need help. She stated that one person she had called raised the
price of a one-bedroom residence from $500 to $850 when they found out that she was homeless.
Ms. Simms informed members that she only makes $700 per month. She noted that the waiting
list for public housing is three (3) years and asked how anyone could survive three (3) years of
the winters here. Ms. Simms believed that the City had millions of dollars, but instead of helping
people, they were helping themselves. She indicated that those present were going to keep
coming to the meetings, whether they were homeless or not, and that all they want is a place to
stay. Ms. Simms pointed out that members are warm at night, and if they were to step into the
shoes of the homeless, they would not survive. Pastor Aaron Appling, Victory Church, 2736
Forrest Avenue, thanked Ms. Simms for her bravery in speaking in her condition. He reiterated
the severity of her condition, being pregnant and blind due to lupus. Pastor Appling also pointed
out that Ms. Simms has a two-year-old daughter, making it even more important to find her a
place to stay. He indicated that they had been working desperately for the last week to help her,
but every call had been a dead end.

Pastor Appling referred to a homeless man who came to them after he had a stroke and was
released from the hospital. He indicated that there are no resources for people in these situations,
and they look towards the pastors and the community members. Pastor Appling stated that they
are not equipped for this purpose, and sometimes have to break laws in order to help people
because they feel it is morally wrong to see them living on the streets. He expressed frustration
that some of the homeless people were told that they could not walk through the downtown
market, and wanted to know whether this came from the Planning Department, Council, or the
Mayor. He felt that this was discrimination because they have a right to walk where anyone else
is allowed to walk. Pastor Appling was also concerned that some of his associates were
repeatedly told that they were not allowed to feed the homeless at the library, but they were not
given an alternate place to go to feed them. Referring to recent events around the country.,
specifically Charlotte, North Carolina, Pastor Appling believed that this kind of thing was what
was pushing people to violence, and that they were trying to stop those things from happening
here. He stated that they were a peaceful and respectful organization, but they need help. Pastor
Appling indicated that there are people in the City that desperately need help, stating that his
organization needs opportunities opened up in order to help them. He explained that it is getting
cold outside and there are many other churches and groups involved with their organization, and
they are not going to let people be on the streets by themselves this winter. Pastor Appling
advised members that they will either be out there with the homeless or they will find a place to
be with them indoors. He urged members to put this item on their agenda before it starts getting
cold, and reminded them that they are running out of time.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on October 10,2016 at 8:12 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare (arrived at 8:15 p.m.), and Mr. Hutchison (departed at 8:36 p.m., and
returned

at 8:39 p.m.).

Mr. Eric Abernathy, 436 West Duck Creek Road, Clayton, Delaware stated that he is a strong
advocate for homelessness and the building of tiny homes. He stated that he had been homeless
in the past and knew the plight of homeless people. Mr. Abernathy stated that help had been
requested at each of the Open Forums he had attended. He believed that homelessness in
Delaware and in the area was getting out of hand. Mr. Abernathy expressed frustration that there
were people with nowhere to go, and when they found somewhere, these places were being taken
away from them and they had to move elsewhere. He felt that the homeless were being pushed
away from the downtown area, stating this was also a problem in the County. Mr. Abernathy
indicated that advocates for the homeless were trying to find help and had already been able to
do things that people had said could not be done. He stated that they would continue pushing
forward because they were doing God’s work, were working seven (7) days a week to help those
in need, even though they did not have all the resources they needed. Mr. Abernathy stated that
there were people present who were willing to help the homeless, and some were even taking
them into their homes, but he wanted to know when they were going to get some help.

Ms. Alexis Simms stated that she is a resident of Dover and advised members that the homeless
and their advocates would continue to come to these meetings. She asked why the City was
trying to fine Victory Church $100 for helping the homeless. Ms. Simms expressed frustration
that the City would not give the homeless a place to stay but did not want her to live in a camper.
Mr. Slavin clarified that the City was not the source of the $100 fine that Ms. Simms referenced.
Responding, Ms. Simms stated that, regardless, Victory Church was being fined $100. She
advised members that it was 62 degrees that day and there were millions of homeless people. Ms.
Simms doubted that those present would go home, turn their heat off, and lie on the floor with a
blanket, but if they did, she felt they might change their minds about the homeless. She stated
that although the City receives millions of dollars, nothing was being done for the homeless. Ms.
Simms stated that they would keep coming back to every meeting until something was done.

Mr. Richard Harmond. Dover, stated that he had been actively homeless for six (6) years and,
although he had recently obtained a better support system, he needed more help. He indicated
that he had been in and out of the hospital due to health problems, and other homeless people
were going through the same thing. Mr. Harmond explained that, while living on the street, he
had been beaten up, was unable to get the rest he needed, and became unable to focus. He stated
that this led to depression and weight gain, noting that he now weighs 510 Ibs. Mr. Harmond
explained that it was difficult to find help when he was smaller, but now it is even more difficult.
He indicated that he was speaking for other people, as well as himself, noting that homeless
people have died from exposure. Mr. Harmond agreed with Ms. Simms that members had nice
homes to go to and could take showers, noting that he had gone days, weeks, and years without
taking a shower. He felt that if members were in the shoes of the homeless, they would view this
situation differently. Mr. Harmond expressed frustration when people say that there is help out
there, since he had been calling the Delaware Help Line (2-1-1) for three (3) months straight:
however, they were doing nothing for him. He indicated that Pastor Aaron Appling’s mother was



his advocate and had been helping him to fill out paperwork, go to various doctors, and try to get
help from the State, but they had not been able to find help. Mr. Harmond stated that without
Pastor Appling, he probably would have died, since he was on his last bit of breath when he went
to Pastor Appling’s church. With Pastor Appling’s assistance, Mr. Harmond was admitted to the
hospital. He informed members that homeless people are often put out of hospitals because it is
believed that they are just going there to sleep: however, this is not the case. He advised that the
homeless are human and belong in a nice house, acknowledging that some of them make
mistakes. Mr. Hammond believed that members were aware of systems and resources to help fix
the homeless. He stated that there were a million excuses not to help someone, but felt that we
could all do better by trying to fix the situation.

Pastor Aaron Appling, Victory Church, 2648 Sharon Hill Road, called on those present to raise
their hands if they were homeless or had recently been homeless, and many people raised their
hands. He thanked Ms. Simms and Mr. Harmon for their bravery in speaking about their
situations. Pastor Appling noted that Ms. Simms is blind, suffering from lupus, pregnant, and
homeless, and Mr. Harmon has a medical condition and weighs 510 lbs. He stated that they had
been tirelessly working to find them help and had been unable to do so, having called a number
that they were provided for three (3) months without finding a place for Mr. Harmond. Pastor
Appling stated that they had been helping Mr. Harmon in the back of their church for the last
three-and-a-half months because they feared his death, but were not staffed or capable of doing
this and were only doing so because he had no place to go. They were desperately trying to find a
place and were now starting to have a little success. Pastor Appling indicated that they were also
trying to find a suitable place for Ms. Simms, who has an income of $700 per month, but there
was no affordable housing in the City or County. He advised that, if help was not received, Ms.
Simms would be sheltered at one place or another by the State, who would send Child Services
out and split the family up, but they would not provide adequate help to keep the family together.
Speaking as a pastor and on behalf of his church, Pastor Appling indicated that they were 100%
on the side of those in the community who were suffering most. He advised that, as a community
leader, he represented over 1,000 members of the community, and informed members that over
5,000 people had signed a petition on behalf of the homeless. Pastor Appling felt that the moral
compass was broken since people who were suffering drastically in the City were being pushed
aside. He stated that the time had come to not just say what is politically correct, but to actually
start helping them. Pastor Appling informed members that for the last six (6) months to a year,
his church had worked seven (7) days per week and provided over 150 meals every day. He
advised that they provide meals twice per day and also pick up 14 to 40 people every night and
take them back to the church for showers, food, and community. Pastor Appling advised that
they receive no State, federal, or City funding for these efforts, and they were not asking for
money but were performing a civil service. He asked what would happen to those people if the
church stopped helping them, noting that if they were left in dire straits, there could be an
uprising. Pastor Appling informed members that they were asking for more from the City’s
leaders, stating that members’ responsibility was to not just to those who have money. He
indicated that he had seen members ask questions of organizations that have money and pay
taxes, but no questions were being asked of Mr. Harmond and Ms. Simms, who represent a real
constituency. Pastor Appling commended Councilmen Anderson and Slavin for having reached
out to them, but he indicated that if members were unable to represent the least in the
community, then they were unfit to represent anyone.



Dr. Patricia Morris stated that she is a new resident of Dover, having only been here for six (6)
months, and she almost became homeless, but by the grace of God, she did not. She explained
that she had been homeless in San Diego after losing her son to heart failure, her house to a fire,
and being forced from a job making $80,000 per year. Dr. Morris stated that she is now earning
minimum wage, and had seen how much Victory Church was doing to help the homeless. Dr.
Morris pointed out that there are many megachurches that do not do as much for the homeless as
this church did. She advised that she had called some of the help numbers that Pastor Appling
had referred to because she was trying to get help when she first moved here. Dr. Morris applied
for jobs for a year and had never gotten an interview in her field at the various colleges in the
community. Dr. Morris advised members that people become homeless when there is no help,
and noted that others had joined the church to provide help. She indicated that there should be
more avenues to assist churches to get through to facilities and places for the homeless. Dr.
Morris believed that the church was doing the work that the Lord had for them to do and the
work of the kingdom that other churches were not doing. She was unsure if members would pay
attention if all of these churches informed members that she was working at Royal Farms, when
she had a degree in education and 25 years’ experience. She believed that Dover has little cliques
that only want to hire their people, stating that she was told by an institution that they only hire
their kind, although she did not know what this meant. Dr. Morris indicated that she was present
to support helping the homeless in the community.

Mr. Hutchison asked if funding was available from the State of Delaware to address the issue of
the homeless. Responding, Mayor Christiansen stated that, although the State of Delaware does
have funds, the City of Dover does not receive this funding. He indicated that the 2-1-1 system,
through the Department of Health and Social Services, is the repository of those funds, which to
his knowledge; go mostly to New Castle County. Mr. Hutchison questioned if the City of Dover
receives anything to address this issue. In response, Mayor Christiansen advised that the
programs in place in the City, such as the Mayor's Challenge to End Veterans Homelessness,
Code Purple, individual church programs, and the Dover Interfaith Mission for Housing, operate
through their own funding and grants. He indicated that homelessness was not a new issue.
Mayor Christiansen stated that he understood the concerns of Pastor Appling and the speakers;
however, he felt that it was not correct to say that the City of Dover was not doing anything to
help the homeless. He noted many members of this Council had participated in helping the
homeless, and continued to do so through serving meals and giving to the individual mechanisms
in place.

Mayor Christiansen believed that the real issue that Ms. Simms and Pastor Appling had was with
Kent County, who was levying the fines, and he suggested taking this issue to the County. He
felt that the City was well aware of the plight of the homeless in the community. Mayor
Christiansen stated that the Salvation Army and many churches throughout the City were taking
this issue very seriously and had been in the trenches for longer than the last six (6) to nine (9)
months, and he felt compelled to stand in their defense.

Mayor Christiansen expressed the desire to speak with Dr. Morris following the Open Forum,
stating that he would like to find out which institution told her that they only hire their own and
why this was said to her. Responding to Councilman Sudler’s question regarding what financial
support the City of Dover provides from the budget to Code Purple and the concerns of the
homeless, Mayor Christiansen advised that the City of Dover expends no taxpayer dollars toward
Code Purple. He explained that there had been individual support and the mustering of support



from churches throughout the community, who had opened up their churches as sanctuaries on
evenings when the temperature goes below 32 degrees, serving hot meals and a place to stay for
the 12 or 13 hours that they are able to staff. He reiterated that no City of Dover monies go into
any of the operations that take care of the homeless.

Mr. Anderson agreed with the Mayor that there were no direct City funds for homelessness;
however, funds in excess of $30,000 were directed by the City through Community
Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding to help with this situation. He acknowledged that the
problem is huge. Unfortunately, the City is limited to expending only 15% of what the City
receives in CDBG funding.

Mr. Anderson agreed that, as Ms. Simms had stated, there was a severe shortage of housing for
the disabled. He had noticed that the waiting lists now seemed worse than ever before, and he
felt that this matter definitely needed to be included in comprehensive planning.

Ms. Vanell Dodd informed members that she had lived in the State for over 30 years and was a
homeless mother of three (3), with grandchildren, etc. Since Ms. Dodd had been in Dover, there
had not been any help for the homeless at all. Referring to previous comments, she stated that
people could call 2-1-1 all day., and sometimes they respond, sometimes they do not. Ms. Dodd
stated that there was only one (1) homeless shelter in Dover for women and asked where they
were supposed to go. Referring to several other homeless individuals present, including her
niece, Ms. Simms, she indicated that she calls these individuals her kids. She indicated that she
had sat in front of City Hall and the Mayor’s Office many nights in the freezing rain with some
of these kids, who had nowhere to go. Ms. Dodd explained that she had laid on the ground with
them just to make sure that they felt safe and had someone that knew how it was to be homeless.
She advised members that if they stood outside in her shoes for just one (1) night to understand
how cold it is or watch those kids cry or try to figure out what kind of meals they were going to
have that day, members would understand what it is to be homeless. Ms. Dodd thanked the
Mayor, Mr. Anderson, Pastor Appling and everyone for all that they were doing, indicating that
there was nothing that the homeless can do for themselves, since they do not have homes. She
stated that some of these individuals do not choose to be homeless, but there are no jobs and the
rent is a little too high. Ms. Dodd advised members that she had worked with Mr. Burden on
fixing up some of the houses in Dover, and still nothing had been done. She believed that houses
could be made into homeless shelters or rented to some of the people who were trying to work,
noting that some of the homeless are educated. Ms. Dodd felt that we all share and bleed the
same blood and are supposed to be family. She questioned why there were so many problems
with homelessness, stating that she felt like crying because she believed that everybody in
America should have a home and a place to stay. Ms. Dodd questioned why there is no help
where we live and why help is offered to other states.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on October 24, 2016 at 7:51 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison.

Ms. Jeanine Kleimo, Chair, Dover Interfaith Mission for Housing (DIMH), 684 Forest Street,
advised members that DIMH had operated a 36-bed shelter for homeless men since 2008 and had
served more than 1,800 men in this period of time. She thanked the City for the support that had
provided through block grant funding. In addition, Ms. Kleimo explained that DIMH’s
cooperation with the Downtown Dover Partnership (DDP) had also permitted them to erect a
daytime resource center for homeless adults to avail themselves of shower and laundry facilities
and mail, and also to get assistance with jobs and public benefits. Ms. Kleimo indicated that one
of the most important things that DIMH had learned in their years of assisting the homeless is
that it takes more than housing. She stated that their success in putting more than 1,000 of 1,800
men back to work was the result of a very serious volunteer effort to interact with the business
community, and to entice or encourage employers to take a risk on those who are not necessarily
the most traditional candidates for employment. Mrs. Kleimo advised that this resulted in a great
deal of success and a great number of men who are now productive citizens of the community.
She stated that DIMH estimates that in a year they put about $3M back into the local economy,
which is about 10 times what it costs them to operate, including case management and
assistance. Ms. Kleimo indicated that assisting the homeless 1s good business and strengthens the
community as a whole. She encouraged those City Council members who had not already been
to the shelter to come and visit them and see what they do firsthand. Ms. Kleimo explained that
the DIMH daytime resource center assists between 100 and 200 people a week and more in cold
weather, noting that the demand is great for services among the homeless members of the
community. She stated that DIMH is grateful to the community as a whole for the service they
provide in the form of volunteerism. Ms. Kleimo advised that their most notable statistic reflects
that, as a community, more than 12,000 plates of dinner a year are provided on a food budget of
$0. She expressed hope that the City would continue to collaborate to expand the supply of
affordable housing in the community, which is severely needed by those whom they help to get
employment. Ms. Kleimo thanked members for the support given to date and looked forward to
working with the City in the future.

Ms. Lisa Lambert, 2443 Chestnut Grove Road, advised members that, several weeks ago, the
Governor put on his website the need to always be prepared for disasters. She stated that there is
a outside and if the grid went down people would stay anywhere and no one would say anything
about where they stayed. She stated that people were now saying things about where people stay,
which was not right. Ms. Lambert advised that something needed to be set in place, noting that
individuals had been coming for months and stating their plea. She indicated that there was word
that homeless people could no longer go to places like the library and the bus station. Ms.
Lambert advised that these people would not disappear, but they have no place to go. She noted
that they were being told that places that were being made for the homeless were not in the code;
however, there was no code when people are staying on the ground or sleeping in a dumpster.
Ms. Lambert advised that a building would be a little more safe and secure, and if someone was
willing to provide one, she did not understand the negativity. She indicated that each day it
would start getting colder with winter coming. Ms. Lambert stated that she did not want to stand
outside now and could not imagine spending the night out when it is cold. She noted that it was
wonderful that there were places that take people in when it is freezing and below; however, she



would not want to stay out when it is 58 degrees. Ms. Lambert stated that something must be
done or people would die.

Ms. Lambert explained that she hates to call individuals homeless because this is where they are
but not who they are, and they are humans just like everyone else. She advised that they need a
place to go to the bathroom and sleep, food to eat, and shelter. Ms. Lambert stated that
something must be provided for them or it would be on everyone’s heads. She indicated that
people were making arrangements that were being denied. Ms. Lambert advised that something
would be done if there were a natural disaster, and she stated that there was a disaster since
nature was hitting everyone with winter.

Mr. Steven Hall informed members that he does not have an address. He stated that he had come
to speak previously when he was a resident of DIMH and stood as an advocate for the homeless
people in this community. Mr. Hall advised that he was now one of these individuals. He
explained that he had walked away from DIMH on Monday thinking he had a guarantee of
housing: however, everything crumbled and he stated that it felt like the world came tumbling
down. Mr. Hall stated that this had been a very rough week, noting that many of those who have
fought this fight had grown weary and some had given up. Mr. Hall stated that he understood
from the last meeting that the City was supporting them and thanked members for their support.
He asked members to pass the word along, stating that he would not stop faxing government
officials, such as the governor and the county. Mr. Hall advised that he would not give up or
grow weary, noting that he would like to have Thanksgiving dinner in his own home, and it was
his goal that he and the rest of the community would be placed by Thanksgiving Day. Mr. Hall
thanked members for their support and stated that he was praying that they would continue their
support. He indicated that the individuals who were present would not go anywhere, leave, or
disappear but would rejoice when given the keys to a home they could call their own.

Ms. Alexis Simms, Dover, informed members that the homeless are still out there. She stated
that she did not understand why people were not given a place to stay when the City does not
want them at the library, bus stop, or on the streets. She advised that this made no sense and
noted that all they were asking for was somewhere warm. Ms. Simms stated she could guarantee
that members had not tried to sleep on their floors or miss a day of eating, noting that some
people depend on Victory Church just to eat every day and they need help. She indicated that
they would not stop coming back do so because they were comfortable. Ms. Simms challenged
members to step out and help, stating that they would rather see people die than help, which was
not right. Ms. Simms advised that members would either help or God would move them out of
the way. stating that the homeless have the ultimate God.

Mr. Richard Harmon stated that he was homeless and oversized. He indicated that the point was
about life and death. Noting that Ms. Kleimo had referred to business, he stated that this was
about more than business and was about the lives of real people, just like members of Council.
Mr. Harmon stated his belief that members had gotten their jobs by doing things and talking to
people, and they had promised to do their jobs to the best of their capability. He noted that there
were people there that needed help and if members could not help them, they probably knew
someone who could. Mr. Harmon stated that one door can open another and lead to opportunities
for people like himself and others to get help. He explained that he was in a life and death
situation now, stating that he had thought he weighed 510 pounds but he weighs 610 pounds.
which puts him at 400 pounds away from 1.000 pounds. Mr. Harmon indicated that this was not



the fault of the City but was the life situation he was going through from being homeless. He
stated that he is not able to care for himself the right way because he is not stable and cannot eat
the things he needs to eat. Mr. Harmon explained that those who are outside must eat whatever
they can. He indicated that this was just like being an animal and that it was not right for a
human to live like this, no matter what mistakes he had made. Mr. Harmon stated that the
support system is slim to none and was more like none. He asked members to find some ears,
noting that the homeless were fighting. Mr. Harmon stated that Pastor Aaron Appling, Victory
Chapel Church, was only one man and could not do this all by himself. He stated that DIMH has
grants daily and receives checks, and that they were not doing their job properly. Mr. Harmon
questioned how people that go to DIMH and are told they can get housing, yet leave without it.
He advised that those who leave DIMH are supposed to be in some kind of program and that
DIMH has money for. Mr. Harmon stated that Pastor Appling was just one man with a non-profit
who was trying to help the homeless. He advised that more help was needed and that people and
the government have money. Mr. Harmon stated that he did not want to die like this and needed
a second chance in life and something better. He reiterated that they all needed help.

Ms. Sue Harris, 241 Pine Street, stated that unclear information was offered at the last meeting
and it was important to make clear that they had not come to any of these meetings asking for
money. She explained that they had asked through their voice at meetings and in writing twice
with specifics for abandoned properties, open lots, and vacant buildings. Ms. Harris stated that
these were things within the City’s possession. She noted that she understood the process of
writing and getting grants and how money must be requested; however, she stated that money is
not always the answer without the cooperation of the municipality. Ms. Harris advised that she
had pulled from the City’s own reports what had been presented in order to apply and be
approved as a designated district, as well as a recipient of Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) funds. She reminded members that these words were from the City’s own plans and
what had been submitted.

Ms. Harris indicated that the Restoring Central Dover Plan included a plan that identified a
number of goals to be included, such as strengthening existing housing stock and supporting new
housing and mixed use development. She stated that the Central Dover area has enough vacant
land to comprise 25 football fields. Ms. Harris advised that removing regulatory barriers and
exploring land with NCALL, received a grant from Wells Fargo for $750,000 last year that will
be distributed over a five-year period, providing NCALL the opportunity to hire two (2) full-time
employees, a neighborhood revitalization coordinator and a community organizer. Ms. Harris
stated that it was odd and convenient that one of the members of the steering committee that
suggested the grant had been hired as the community organizer.

Ms. Harris indicated that in NCALL’s report of the work completed and underway, the only
mention of housing was new home construction by NCALL, Central Delaware Habitat, and
MDHC. She stated that this was great and had nothing bad to say about it; however, it would not
help anyone present as home ownership was way outside of the realm of conversation for those
them. She noted that they were looking for low-income rentals. Ms. Harris stated that, according
to the 2010 census, 15.3% of the housing units in the blocks comprising this district are vacant.
In addition, she noted that the district includes 49 registered vacant buildings and 25 lots where
buildings had been demolished by either the City or homeowners since 2008. Ms. Harris advised
that the City of Dover invested CDBG funds to improve the downtown area through housing
rehabilitation and support of the DIMH men’s shelter. She stated that the planning documents



that comprise the City of Dover's district plan include encouraging mixed-use development,
providing additional transitional housing, and encouraging greater zoning flexibility to enable
infill housing developments.

Ms. Harris advised that in 2014, DSHA announced that $2.5M would be divided amongst the
municipalities of Kent and Sussex County for housing rehabilitation. She indicated that in the
executive summary of the Consolidated Plan that the city of Dover is mandated to submit to
HUD for 2015 to 2019, affordable housing is wonderfully included, noting that page #1 of the
plan identifies specific needs concerning affordable housing. Ms. Harris noted that page 3
indicates that the priority needs for the City of Dover include initiatives to assist the homeless
and rehabilitation activities involving rental housing units. She advised that the plan states that
the City of Dover fully supports the Homeless Planning Council’s initiative to end chronic
homelessness in Delaware by 2017, and that there is still a lack of affordable housing and
emergency shelters. Ms. Harris indicated that it was stated that over the next five (5) years the
City will provide CDGB assistance to homeless providers to assist in reducing chronic
homelessness in Dover and specifically mentions persons with alcohol and drug addiction. Ms.
Harris stated that the City's funds facilitate serving the needs of the population for just these
things. Ms. Harris noted that there are currently116 shelter beds, 30 transitional beds, and 10
permanent supportive beds. She stated that it did not make sense to have so many emergency
shelter beds and only 10 permanent spots to put people in, and that it should be turned around.
Ms. Harris indicated that more affordable housing was needed. She reiterated that they had not
asked the City for money, stating that she understands how grants are written, having worked 30
years for the State spending grant money. However, she noted that the City had vacant
properties. Ms. Harris indicated that, according to the City’s action plan, 10 units were rehabbed.
She asked what 10 homeless people were put into those 10 rehabbed positions. Ms. Harris stated
that she was disappointed that members had not told them the truth two (2) weeks ago. She stated
that

Mr. Hutchison had asked Mayor Christiansen if money was provided to the City to help the
homeless. Ms. Harris advised that it was stated in the plan how the City does help, and noted that
her group wanted to be one (1) of the partners that the City can help. She stated that her father
would be embarrassed and ashamed at the fact that members would lead them astray. Ms. Harris
stated that the meeting held on Thursday the 14w was the last opportunity for the public to have
input for the 2017 plan. She reminded members that they had been present on Monday and no
one mentioned the meeting. Ms. Harris advised members that she had looked everywhere to try
to be up to date on things. She stated that, instead of lying, members could have told her that if
she went to the meeting on Thursday, she might learn how to find the opportunities that are
coming up in the next CDBG round.

Mr. Anderson requested that a written copy of Ms. Harris™ statement be submitted for the record
(Exhibit #1).

Mr. Eric Abernathy, 436 West Duck Creek Road. Clayton, Delaware, stated that he was speaking
as an advocate for the homeless and that there was a very serious issue regarding a homeless
individual who was missing. He explained that he had visited Mr. Arthur Gibbs at the hospital on
Wednesday. Mr. Gibbs had been discharged and refused to leave and sign the discharge papers
after he talked to his doctor. Mr. Gibbs was still there when Mr. Abernathy left, but when Mr.
Abernathy went back to check on him a few days later, they told him that Mr. Gibbs was
discharged on the 19" and was not in the hospital. Mr. Abernathy told them that they were lying.
He questioned how he could have sat and talked with Mr. Gibbs for an hour-and-a-half if Mr.
Gibbs was discharged and left the hospital on the 194, He indicated that he had gone to Mr.



Gibbs’ temporary residence and Mr. Gibbs’ cousins had not seen him and did not know where he
was. Mr. Abernathy had advised his pastor that he would file a missing persons report on Mr.
Gibbs but could not do so because he was not a blood relative but just someone who knows him,
had been looking out for him, and had been his transportation. Mr. Abernathy told Mr. Gibbs’
cousin to file a report. She indicated that there was one (1) more place to check, and if Mr. Gibbs
was not found, they would file a missing persons report the next day. Mr. Abernathy stated that it
was a shame that someone was homeless and was now missing.

Pastor Robert Appling, 2648 Sharon Hill Road, stated that he lives outside of Dover and owns
property in Dover. Mr. Appling indicated that, approximately a month-and-a-half ago, he
requested Council to take up his proposition to either sell or give them vacant property so they
could start working with the homeless. He explained that there was a little confusion during the
last meeting regarding tiny houses at Victory Church and Dover, Delaware. Pastor Appling
informed members that all of the homeless that they work with have come out of the City of
Dover. In the last two (2) weeks, a husband and wife who lived on their property for
approximately six (6) to eight (8) months had gotten jobs. They had found a place to move to
with their two (2) children, and Pastor Appling indicated that he and others felt good about that.
He advised that there was a lady present at the meeting named Sonya who slept on the seats of
the church for maybe a month or so, and she had found a job and a temporary place to live;
however, at the end of the month she would be homeless again. Pastor Appling indicated that
they were working with another gentleman from the City of Dover who found a job and a room
in Dover to live. He stated that they were trying to build tiny homes to help get some of these
homeless out of the City or find them places in the City. Pastor Appling advised that they were
feeding between 100 and 150 people every single day, noting that in a year’s time their church
would be providing 50,000 to 54,000 meals for the homeless. He informed members that they
had received no grants and no money from anyone other than their helping to provide food, and
he was asking again for help finding something in the City of Dover. He advised that they were
looking at a couple of properties to perhaps buy as temporary transitional places to help them
help the homeless spiritually, physically, mentally, and emotionally and get them back on their
feet so that they can become good citizens of the State, and of the City of Dover if they are living
in the City. Pastor Appling stated that they had been able to help a number of people and they
felt good about that. He asked members to consider some of the empty properties to help them
work with the homeless of Dover and get them back on their feet.

Pastor Aaron Appling, Victory Church, 2736 Forrest Avenue, advised that he lives right outside
the City but has some properties in the City as well. He reminded members that there was
discussion about finances and money at the last meeting. Pastor Appling indicated that they were
told by the Mayor and some others that the City gets no money to help the homeless. After doing
some research, he indicated that the information was false and he was unsure whether this had
been the intent. Pastor Appling stated that the City does get money and that either those
representing the homeless, or the federal government, or both were being lied to or somebody
did not understand. He noted that Mr. Harmon has a medical condition and cannot find help.
Pastor Appling stated that they had other people in their church with obvious medical disabilities
and they had been turned down for Social Security. He advised that they are discovering that the
system as a whole is broken. Pastor Appling stated that everyone should come together and say
that the homeless are real people, such as the children or grandchildren of members, who did not
have the privileges that many people had experienced while growing up or in life. He indicated
that people would continue to put blind eyes on and keep walking around this issue if they do not



look at the homeless as real people. Mr. Appling noted that the library was on Council’s agenda.
He indicated that the City would try to sell it to make money for the City and questioned where
the money would go. Mr. Appling stated that in his research he found a Martin Luther King
institution that had a proposal for a resource center. He indicated that the community needs more
resources. Pastor Appling questioned what better person the library could be given to, if they had
a proposal. He stated that his group could use those resources as well, noting that they were
feeding people and going to places every single day.

Pastor Appling provided information regarding the Community Voice Coalition Identity
(Exhibit #2), which he stated would give a comprehensive look at what they had been doing for
the last seven (7) months. He advised that they were not playing politics or asking members to
somehow come up with money and give it to them. Pastor Appling noted that none of those on
staff with the church get paid to help the homeless, stating that he has a wife and a two-year-old
daughter. He indicated that he does not get paid and his wife would probably desert him if she
was not a good woman. Pastor Appling stated that his wife had asked if she had to be homeless
to get some food. He reiterated that they need help since there are not enough resources for
people who are dedicating their time and energy. Pastor Appling informed members that he is a
very talented person who had done mission work overseas. He stated that he can sing and preach
and could be getting paid to go places but was choosing to do this because it is his heart’s desire
to do so, and this is how their organization operates. Pastor Appling advised that if they had half
the resources that some of the other organizations have, they would get 10 times as much done.
He indicated that they were already proving this because they have nothing and are getting a lot
done with nothing. Pastor Appling asked members to consider the need to team together.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on November 14, 2016 at 7:42 p.m. with Council
President

Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole,
Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison. Mr. Anderson was absent.

Mr. Stephan Hill, 38 Bertrand Drive, Dover, advised that his parents are in their eighties and
someone was recently being chased through their yard. He stated that there was shooting and a
bullet came through the window of his parents’ house. Mr. Hill noted that he has been in that
community from February 1969 to the present day and they have been law abiding citizens, but
people are coming in that do not live in their neighborhood. He stated that homelessness is a
problem because they come through his neighborhood every morning and drop trash. Mr. Hill
also stated that there have been break-ins and he feels that enough is enough and something has
to be done. Mr. Hill stated that the only time he sees the police is when something happens and
he would like to see more of a police presence to maybe curb the criminal activity, noting that
the people have no reverence for the law.

Mr. Steven Hall of Dover read the following statement:

“November the 14th, 2016, this is addressed to the state, county, and government officials, along
with the governor, and the city officials of Dover. As the winter months approach us, and
temperatures continually drop, it saddens me to know that out of all the crying out and pleading
that we have done, ignoring our cry for help has been your solution. I'm not asking you to take
money out of your personal account. I'm not asking you to take food from your family. Neither
am 1 asking you to take clothes that you're wearing to give to me. What I'm asking you is, "Who
cares enough to meet me after this city council meeting in the vestibule and step up and say,
‘Steve, I'm here to help."" As I represent the rest of the homeless people that I know my time is
preceding me, I want you to know that I do thank you for listening to us. I realize that it is out of
your hands. I'm not here to impress you with fancy words. I'm here for help. I'm tired. I'm
oppressed. I know many people that if they were at the point that I'm at, they would consider
taking their life to keep from enduring this trauma. It's nice that you listen. Now it's time for you
to get out of your chair, and do something and help me. I had said at the last meeting that when
your carve your turkey on Thanksgiving day, and I'm closing with this, I would like to have keys
in my hand to a home that I can call my own, to carve one as well. Thank you for listening to
me.

Ms. Ruth Ann Purchase, 3796 Seven Hickories Road, stated that she has been helping an elderly
man who is very generous and who wants to spend his retirement years helping other people. She
noted that he has often volunteered at the men's homeless shelter and he offered to take a fellow
home who had used up his allotted time in the homeless shelter. Ms. Purchase stated that he took
him home for just a couple weeks, saying, "Until you get your feet on the ground." She advised
that he would drive him to little jobs that he had. Ms. Purchase stated that eventually the man put
a lock on the bedroom door and, three years later, her elderly friend has not been in that room
since and that man now has the keys to her friend’s car and he is in control of her friend’s life.
Ms. Purchase advised that the elderly man has been a resident in Dover for decades and he is
currently in Silver Lake with an injury. She stated that she goes to visit him almost every day and
she can do nothing to help him because she is not a family member. Ms. Purchase stated that the
homeless man needed help, more help than an elderly man with Asperger's Syndrome could give
him. Ms. Purchase stated that there are very generous people in Dover and in the United States in
general. She noted that United States citizens give, and give, and give, and it is statistically



proven that they are philanthropists. Ms. Purchase asked for help to know how to help. She
stated that we need strategic thinking, we need very clear long-term thinking, and we need not
just social services in an office somewhere, but training for every citizen who wants to help. Ms.
Purchase encouraged learning more and looking at examples where human citizens of a town are
all learning together how to bring peace, how to build up their neighbors, and how to close the
technology gap, the financial economic gap, and the skill-set gap. She stated that they could all
work together, but they need permission and encouragement to make it happen.

Ms. Teri Staub, 198 Hammond Drive and Wedgewood in South Dover, stated that she and/or her
parents have lived at that address for over 48 years consecutively. She stated that Dover is her
home, she votes in every city, state, and federal election and she thought that her government
was there to represent the interests and concerns of its citizens. Ms. Staub stated that they have
been coming to the meeting for months to bring their plans for affordable housing to Council’s
attention and have asked them to meet and work with them to help house the homeless in their
community. She advised that they have wonderful, doable solutions, and are ready to implement
them with armies of people waiting to help them with time, resources, money, and supplies. Ms.
Staub stated that men and children die in the streets from problems that can be traced to their
homelessness while they are waiting for their chance to begin. She asked for bravery,
compassion, and for affordable housing to be a priority to address their needs. Ms. Staub stated
that they wanted a definitive answer as to whether or not they would ever be put on the agenda.
Mr. Richard Harmon, speaking on the behalf of homeless people, stated that he is 25 years old
and has been homeless for quite a while. He stated that he gets help from Victory Church. Mr.
Harmon stated that winter is coming and people are sleeping on the ground. Mr. Harmon advised
that they need more resources and that people have been leaving the Whatcoat and Interfaith
shelters without the things they have been promised, such as affordable housing, or an apartment.
He advised that they need more advocates and more programs to teach them financial, stable
things.

Ms. Alexis Simms, on behalf of the homeless, stated that all homeless people are not criminals or
animals, they are people in need of help. She advised that they were asking for affordable
housing, noting that full disability is $733 and a one-bedroom apartment is $650, which would
leave $88 to pay an electric bill. Ms. Simms stated that they were asking for the old Dover
library or different types of housing.

Mr. Aaron Appling, Pastor at Victory Church, 2660 Forest Avenue, stated that he wanted to
speak on a moral issue of ignoring things. He spoke of the history of ignoring the Native
Americans, of the ignorance of them being real people, and now there are barely any Native
Americans anywhere in this land. It was almost completely genocide. Mr. Appling spoke about
ignoring black people as being a real people in times of Martin Luther King. He stated that he
thought they were running the risk of ignoring poor people and just going on with daily business,
as 1f somehow they are a sub-par group and they are not real. Mr. Appling stated that the
homeless are real people and, although they might act, dress, or think differently, it may be
because their ancestors acted, thought, and dressed differently. He said that maybe they do not fit
into this system ot things and maybe this system is not good for everybody. Mr. Appling stated
that when you have a great amount of wealth, resources, or power and you don't use it to do
anything to help, that's a responsibility that's being neglected.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on November 28, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. with Council
President Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis, Mr.
Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison. Mr. Anderson was absent.

Ms. Alexis Simms, homeless, stated that she was present on behalf of the homeless again, not to
put members down but to beg them to give the homeless something. She indicated that it would
be a really cold winter, the old Dover Public Library was still empty, and there were plenty of
buildings on Loockerman and Division Streets that were still empty and could be used. Ms.
Simms advised that they could clean buildings up themselves if they were given to them and
were just asking for somewhere and for members to have kind hearts. She stated that members
were not out in the cold so they did not know how she felt; however, she guaranteed if this was
somebody in members” families, one of their kids or grandkids, they would not want them out in
the street. Ms. Simms stated that they were people, not animals that have fur when wintertime
comes, but humans that have skin and get cold fast.

Mr. Eric Abernathy, 436 West Duck Creek Road, Clayton, stated that he had read in the paper
and heard on the news that veteran homelessness had been ended in the State of Delaware and he
wanted to let people know that it had not ended. He advised that he was a veteran and had a
place to stay; however, technically he was homeless because he did not have his own address and
he knew that there were other veterans out on the street that still had no place to stay. Mr.
Abernathy indicated that they were getting no help and nothing was being done for them, noting
that if things were going to be put in the paper or on the news, they should be telling the truth.
He stated that the truth was that there are still veterans in this state that do not have a place to
stay and are homeless, and this needed to be addressed.

Ms. Khadija Gray, Kent Budget Inn, stated that she and Mr. Derrick Gray were part of a
homeless family who works and lives in a budget motel paying $300 per week. She advised that
it is hard not knowing where you are going to live and noted that they have no convictions or
evictions. Ms. Gray stated that their place was condemned by the City of Dover and they were
left out in the cold with no place to go, and if it were not for Pastor Appling and the other people
there, they did not know where they might wind up. She indicated that nobody was listening to
them and that Mr. Gray had had full custody of Alexis since she was born and was asked by the
State why he did not receive child support. Ms. Gray advised that this was all that the State had
said, but they wanted to call the Division of Child and Family Services (DCF) and remove their
child from them. Ms. Gray stated that this was unfair, when all they were asking for was a hand
up, not a handout. She explained that they were in support of tiny housing or any kind of housing
that is available and needed. Ms. Gray stated that there are a lot more people who work hard for
everything and are not homeless by choice, noting that a lot of them do not have an option to go
home and lie down. She requested that when members go home, they think about the homeless
because they are people too.

Mr. Timothy Lee Tague stated that he was present on behalf of the homeless, noting that he had
just found a place in a trailer park in Hartly. He indicated that he was helping out other people so
they do not go out into the cold. Mr. Tague asked how City sidewalks could be raised up to
where people can trip, noting that his girlfriend was on crutches because of the sidewalks. He



stated that something must be done with these sidewalks before somebody else hurts themself,
noting that they could sue the City for a sidewalk not being fixed.

Mr. Aaron Appling, Pastor at Victory Church, 2660 Forest Avenue, informed members that a
place had finally been found in Delmar Pediatric Center for Mr. Richard Harmon, the 600 Ib.
man who had been coming to the Open Forum. He stated that Mr. Harmon could legally go there
after being housed for six (6) months at their church, which according to the County was illegal,
although it was okay for him to be on the street. Pastor Appling stated that getting Mr. Harmon a
place was a blessing; however, they had to do that almost entirely on their own without real help
from any agencies, although there were a few that did help once they really dug really deep. In
addition, he noted that Mr. Abernathy, who had just spoken, was a senior citizen and a Vietnam
War veteran who spends six (6) days a week taking food to the homeless on the streets. He stated
that Mr. Abernathy had been asked repeatedly at the library to stop giving sandwiches out for
people to eat, which Pastor Appling stated he thought was discriminatory, noting that if anybody
else was eating at the library, the homeless people had a right to eat as well and could not be
discriminated against. He indicated that this was unjust and if it were to continue, they would
definitely have a problem with that as an organization and a civil rights group. He stated that if
members wanted to give them a facility to use to feed the homeless downtown, they would be
happy to take that anytime, and the homeless would then be in that facility. Pastor Appling
advised that they would run it eight (8) hours per day if they had to and had the manpower to do
so. Pastor Appling explained that in recent times they had been told that no other organizations
had been helped by the City, or that monies were not available in the City to go toward this issue;
however, their lawyers looked into it, and the City does get money and has helped Interfaith and
Code Purple, in some way or another, even if it was not direct financial money, they purchased a
building. Pastor Appling stated that they knew that there were other things that could be done to
help, noting that the streets were getting cold outside and the number of homeless people was
increasing. He stated that families were brought up here, not just the stereotypical people, and he
had received six (6) or seven (7) calls in the last two (2) weeks from homeless mothers who were
getting ready to be put of the motel system. Pastor Appling stated that we, as a government, are
funding these motels and paying more for a room at a hotel than they would pay to live in a
house, which he thought was ridiculous. He expressed the need to come up with another solution
rather than giving them vouchers to motels and asked members to participate in helping them in
this area.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on December 12, 2016 at 7:38 p.m. with Council
President Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil,
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, and Mr. Hare. Mr. Hutchison was absent.

Ms. Alysa Tosson, Dover, stated that she was present to talk about homelessness in Delaware.
She stated that it was about change and chances, and that we need to help change our
community. Ms. Tosson indicated that someone had given Council members a chance by voting
for them and asked them to take a chance and help to change homelessness in Delaware. She
indicated that not all homeless people are criminals, noting that she has two (2) jobs, works every
day. and works and volunteers to help someone else. Ms. Tosson stated that God’s purpose is for
us to love one another and help someone else and asked members to take some time out, give the
homeless a chance, and help them, noting that all they were asking for was a chance.

Mr. Steven Hall, Dover, advised members that he was standing there for five reasons: 1) the
homeless were still here; 2) unfortunately they were not going anywhere; 3) there were still
vacant buildings and houses in this city; 4) the homeless were not in any of them; and 5) if
members were getting tired of hearing their cry, they should help the homeless and they would
not have to hear it anymore. He indicated that he realized that Code Purple was available;
however, Code Purple was like a band-aid and a temporary fix.

Ms. Alexis Simms, Dover, stated that she was present to speak on behalf of the homeless and
that it seemed that members did not know what to do to help them. She noted that Councilman
Sudler not only owns but manages Mishoe Towers. Ms. Simms indicated that not every homeless
person in this crowd was broke, noting that they have funds. She advised that Mayor
Christiansen had stated in the paper that he had ended veteran homelessness; however, she stated
that Mr. Eric Abernathy was a veteran who was also homeless. Ms. Simms stated that her third
issue was that two (2) weeks ago they were present at a Council meeting and were told that they
could not clap, and noted that there was clapping for a game but they could not clap for a pastor
who was helping the homeless and trying to keep them off the streets. She indicated that this was
confusing and that she needed Council to help the homeless. Ms. Simms indicated that the old
Dover library was still empty and that the homeless needed help.

Ms. Sue Harris stated her belief that members would not want her to talk about Code Purple and
that she would not do so now; however, she explained that she was managing this site at People’s
Church for the next two weeks and invited members to come over, have dinner with them, take a
shift, and work an overnight. Ms. Harris advised that it is hard to get volunteers to keep this
going and that they are wonderful people. She stated that it would be wonderful to have members
come spend some time at one of the Code Purple sites, serve and have dinner, and hang out if
they had not done so. Ms. Harris stated that she was excited to hear about the blue ribbon
commission that started a few months ago and it was nice to know that it was going to get
rolling. She expressed her hope of seeing some familiar faces on the commission. Ms. Harris
stated that both people who were newly involved and some who had been involved for many
years would like to have a say.

Pastor Robert Appling, 2648 Sharon Hill Road, commended Council and the Mayor, noting that
he had read an article in the paper that the Mayor was planning a council for the homeless in the
City of Dover. He suggested that at least one (1) advocate for the homeless be placed on that



committee because they know what is going on. Pastor Appling thanked everyone for what they
had done to help: however, he stated that more help was needed. He stated that his wife had
worked hours upon hours calling every facility in the State of Delaware to help a 25-year-old,
young, black gentleman who weighed 661 1bs. Pastor Appling noted that most facilities would
not handle anyone over 400 Ibs; however, they finally found a place in Delmar and he had been
there now for about 14 days, had lost 25 Ibs., and was on a mental, physical, and emotional
therapy program. Pastor Appling stated that this individual was tickled to be off the streets and to
be getting some physical help. He reminded members that winter was just around the corner and
would officially start in a week or so, and he expressed the need to help those who have no place
to go.

Mr. Aaron Appling, Pastor at Victory Church, 2736 Forrest Avenue, thanked Council President
Slavin for visiting them and sharing a bit of his story, noting that this was very encouraging to a
lot of the guys who had been at their service and they were very appreciative. He advised that, as
his father had stated, wintertime was coming, and he thought it crucial to look at some of the
vacant buildings downtown for some sort of resource centers. Pastor Appling stated that his
church brings out and feeds people seven (7) days per week at great expense and already does
almost eight (8) hours per day of work with their volunteers. He indicated that it would be a great
help to the church if they had some facility downtown. Pastor Appling stated his understanding
that people were not wanted at the library and suggested having another facility downtown where
they could provide resources eight (8) hours a day to bring people in and work with them, which
he thought would result in a great change in people getting housed. Pastor Appling advised that
they had already housed five (5) people with absolutely no resources, noting that it is hard to find
affordable housing. He stated that even Councilman Anderson had worked on affordable housing
and could not find it, noting that it is a really hard thing to do without resources.

Pastor Appling stated that they had been helping people with no money who come to them seven
(7) days per week for almost a year now. He informed members that they had done this with no
finances, and this had cost them a great deal, as a church and individuals, noting that people do
not care about the finances when they love what they are doing. Pastor Appling advised that the
public was definitely in support of them, that they had gotten 8,000 signatures in support of what
they were doing in the City of Dover. He stated that they now had another 1,000 signatures and
counting, as well as the attention of news media and others. Pastor Appling informed members
that they were present as a group that was committed to help homeless people and people
suffering in poverty, and that it would behoove Council to look at the body of work that had
actually been done by their group, noting that he had turned in some information about their
work. Pastor Appling advised that their group was made up of professionals who had worked in
life. He stated that he has a bachelor’s degree and had done mission work and built orphanages
overseas, while the rest of the crew included people with master’s degrees and those who had
been very successful in the business world. Pastor Appling indicated that they were not just a
misfit group but a talented group of people who have a heart to help the very people that are
suffering in our City. He encouraged members to put on an agenda at some point in time what
members could do to help facilitate the group doing a greater work that would help the City and
the people at the same time. Ms. Terri Staub, Dover, concurred with Pastor Appling’s comments
and stated that she was thrilled to hear about the blue ribbon commission and that talented minds
were putting their talents to this subject. She stated that Pastor Appling was correct that they
have a body of work that would save a lot of time if members would look at what had already
been done. Ms. Staub stated that they are on the front lines and in the trenches, and were out at
midnight, scooping people up off the street, hand feeding them when necessary, and hauling



bedding down the street and into the churches everyday so that these people have somewhere to
go. She stated that having somewhere they could set up and have people come to them rather
than having to go to each of them would be such a help. Ms. Staub encouraged members to be as
quick as possible to come up with some sort of solution, noting that winter was coming. She
advised that she takes her dog out in the middle of the night and, while standing on her back
porch wrapped in a warm robe, she thinks that there is no way she could be out there for any
given amount of time, yet too many people are being told that they have to stay on the street
where this problem cannot be addressed. Ms. Staub asked members to do something, open a
building, and give people a place to be. She stated that if this is done and it goes wrong, they
could be shut down, but in the meantime some people will have had somewhere to go for a few
nights, and if it works, all the better. Ms. Staub expressed appreciation for the Mayor’s efforts
and asked that the knowledge that they have be used, because the homeless are committees of
one (1) and need to be a committee of many.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on January 9, 2017 at 7:34 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison. Mr. Hosfelt was absent.

Ms. Alexis Simms, 453 Newcastle Avenue, stated that she wanted to make members of Council
aware of some reality points, as follows: 1) The very people standing behind her were the very
people that voted them into their place and they were going to be the very people that vote them
out of their place; 2) If members of Council don't want the homeless speaking at the library or
being at the library at all, or the bus stop, or lingering around, why haven't they given them a
place where they can help the homeless to get a place, have resources, and get jobs; and 3) The
homeless will be there every other week until members of Council help them or they lose their
place as Councilmen.

Mr. Timothy Lee Tague advised that he has noticed that there are sidewalks that are terrible to
walk on. He suggested replacing the brick sidewalks with cement, because if somebody falls,
they could sue the city.

Mr. Steven Hall asked members of Council to think about how they felt when they started their
cars that morning in the frigid temperatures and how they looked out the window that past
weekend and watched the snow fall and realized how cold it was. Mr. Hall stated that he had to
endure that cold all weekend and it was so frigid cold that it brought him to tears. He asked
members to use the resources that they have to help him and others like him to find a place so
that he does not have to endure the cold again.

Mr. Alex Cropper advised that he was there to support those who are the voice of homelessness,
and to offer and extend any support. He stated that he works for Connections Community
Support Programs which has many different programs to help the homeless. Mr. Cropper stated
that he was aware that they need more resources in the community; however, they do have some
very limited programs.

Pastor Aaron Appling, 2660 Forrest Avenue, noting that the freezing weather had arrived, stated
that they had found people on the streets, in the cold, that suffer from mental illness and there
should be something for those that are dealing with mental illness. Pastor Appling advised that
they have had to scoop them up, as well as those who were unable to get to the Code Purple
shelters, and take them to their church. He stated that, even with the Code Purple shelters, the
rules and regulations related to opening a shelter are becoming so stringent, so rigid, that most
churches don't even qualify to open up. Pastor Appling stated that, even if they wanted to, it is
against the rules because it does not have is cold like this and somebody is outside and, in those
situations, churches should be able to bring people in. Pastor Appling stated that it was obviously
safer inside of their church, or another church that doesn't necessarily have a sprinkler system,
than it is to be outside on the streets. He noted that regulations are making it more difficult for
those that are helping the homeless or trying to do these civil services.

Pastor Appling stated that it would be beneficial to have partnerships in the City or
municipalities so they were not always bumping heads and fighting over helping people. He
advised that it seems to be a very, very hard process to find any type of partnerships with their



government and municipalities. Pastor Appling stated that it would behoove them, and it would
be a great thing, if they started looking into taking down some of the red tape so that they could
help. He suggested that the rules and regulations hurt more than they help and, although these
laws are meant to save or protect life, they are actually doing the very opposite.

Pastor Appling added that he and his group of people support Deputy Chief Mailey being the
nextPolice Chief.

Ms. Sue Harris stated that they need a solution to homelessness and asked what the City of
Dover would do with all of the desperate people if Code Purple was not saving lives each night
that they give them sanctuary from the freezing cold. She stated that people would, without a
doubt, be dying out there. Ms. Harris stated that, from her perspective, Code Purple was
established to be the emergency backup for those in a desperate situation and she felt as though
the City had decided that Code Purple is, instead, their solution to the problem. Ms. Harris
advised that Code Purple leaders and volunteers are miracle workers.

Ms. Harris stated that she prays for guidance for the City leaders to realize how vital the services
of all these unpaid volunteers are and to recognize that the City has a responsibility in this
problem. She noted that stretching the services offered beyond their capacity could lead to
unintended consequences. Ms. Harris stated that she also prays for the strength and continued
passion for all the leaders of these volunteer groups in Dover that go so far above and beyond the
call to provide for their fellow man. They too have limits and capacity that can run over. Ms.
Harris stated that assuming that they will just continue to do this, year after year, is not an
assumption that should be made.

Ms. Harris advised that a solution is needed and everyone, including the City leaders, needs to be
an active participant in finding one. She noted that she was speaking on behalf of herself and
Port Hope Delaware. Ms. Harris stated that she was a proud volunteer of Code Purple, but that
she had no authorization to speak on their behalf. She advised that opportunities for support of
affordable, Permanent housing, is something that the City can offer through abandoned and
vacant properties and land within their boundaries, whether it be property already owned by the
City or property like Ms. Harris advised that she had offered many suggestions and that the main
thing that 80% of these people need to begin their battle to a better life is a safe, stable,
supportive home. Once they have that, all the other services that are offered can be more useful
and successful. Ms. Harris stated that she looks forward to what is ahead and hopes that the
commission being formed will provide a path towards viable and permanent answers to this
problem.

Mr. Eric Chandler stated that he thought that drug addiction was another issue that went along
with homelessness and incarceration. He also noted that there were a lot of housing foreclosures
and that they have to revitalize Section 8 housing. Mr. Chandler suggested that they should all be
able to work together, collectively as a group, to figure out what to do to save some of these
people's lives that just fell on hard times. He stated that they have got to focus on drugs, drug
addiction, and getting these people off the drugs and into drug programs instead of sending them
to jail. Mr. Chandler suggested that they network and help the church write grants so that they
can get some money to get these people off the street.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on January 23, 2017 at 7:53 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison.

Mr. Steven Hall, speaking in reference to homelessness, stated that he was seriously beginning to
believe that Council hears what they say and that their hearts go out for them. He stated that he
believes in his heart that if they could help him, they would. Mr. Hall commended Council
members for the great job they are doing and noted that he believes that someone is going to help
them because it is cold, windy, and raining.

Ms. Katrina Stubbs stated that she previously had a misconception of homeless people, thinking
that they were all on drugs, alcohol, or they were just lazy and did not want to work. She stated
that, because of the economy, she and others like herself are not able to get jobs or afford
apartments for $800 or $900 a month. Ms. Stubbs advised that there is low income housing;
however, there is a two year waiting list. Ms. Stubbs noted that they can only stay at the shelter
for 30 days and, depending on the shelter, they may be able to extend that for an additional 60 to
90 days, depending on their situation. Ms. Stubbs advised that because she is not recovering from
drugs or alcohol, is not a veteran, does not have children, and is not physically or mentally
disabled, she is considered able bodied. She is currently a substitute teacher and has been
applying for different jobs; however, unfortunately, she has not found a full time, permanent job
to be able to afford $800 a month for rent contacted the resources for help that she could. She
stated that she wanted members of Council to be aware that there are individuals like her and she
is hoping that Council will build more shelters and that the existing shelters can extend the time
for individuals like her. Ms. Stubbs noted that she is registered with the Department of Labor and
Delaware Wonder and she has applied for different positions. She advised that she has a degree
in Human Resources Management with a minor in business and has corporate experience, yet
she is not able to get a job. Ms. Stubbs stated that she does not have a criminal record and has not
done drugs, but she has not been able to get a full- time-permanent position.

Mr. Chip Angell stated that he has been homeless for a year and a half. He advised that, three
years ago, he made $55,000 a year as a sous-chef with a 31 year career. Mr. Angell stated that he
served a year in prison when he was 18 years old and when he came back there was a change in
the law and he hasn’t been able to work at a restaurant since. He advised that he lost his home
and his family. Mr. Angell asked Council members to allow people that are trying to help the
homeless to secure a place so that people do not have to sleep in the snow and rain regardless of
how they got there. He noted that if it were not for Reverend Appling and others, he may not
have pulled himself out of the relapse he was in.

Ms. Elizabeth Jones stated that she was 60 years old and homeless due to losing her job. She
advised that she had been to two shelters and Sheppard's Place was the last. After that, there was
nowhere for her to go so she went to Code Purple and they gave her two blankets and she was
sleeping on the street. Ms. Jones stated that anything could have happened to her sleeping on the
street. She noted that WaWa let her sleep beside the building one night because she was scared.
Ms. Jones stated that the shelters encourage people to look for jobs but they don't have money
when they get into the shelters and they need bus passes to help them get around. She also



advised that some people have children and have no one to watch them while they look for a job
so they get stuck in the system.

Pastor Aaron Appling stated that, on a personal level and as a community, they support Deputy
Chief Mailey. He noted that they like him as an individual and would love to have him as the
next Chief of Police. Pastor Appling cautioned Council to be thorough because things can get out
of hand very easily if people that have been oppressed continue to feel like they are being
trapped and oppressed. Pastor Appling stated that they have been studying homelessness for
over a year and suggested that the solution was to build something so that they can have a roof
over their heads instead of spending money studying the problem. He stated that they could work
with City officials and the Planning Department to build a facility that would not cost that much
money and Code Purple would not have to find churches for shelters. Pastor Appling stated that
it would save the city probably millions of dollars that they spend on arresting people, or in the
hospital. Pastor Robert Appling stated that they need housing for the homeless. He advised that
everyone that Victory Church is working with is from the streets of Dover. Pastor Appling stated
that he appreciates everything that the Council has done but they need help to find a solution. He
noted that he and his son both have rental properties in Dover that they are renting to homeless
people to help them out. Pastor Appling also advised that his son has taken half a salary all of
this year and part of the previous year so he could help the homeless. He noted that he will be 85
in March and he has given up his retirement from the church for the last four or five months so
that they can help the homeless. Pastor Appling stated that they are looking at a couple of
different properties in Dover and he will be talking to the Mayor about them once they settle on
one that they would like to renovate and help with the needs of the homeless. He asked that the
City not throw lots of regulations and rules and slow down what they are trying to do, but help
them accomplish what they are trying to do in the City of Dover.

Ms. Sue Harris, 241 Pine Street, read the following statement regarding homelessness:

“Pretty cold and nasty out there, isn't it? [ hope tonight as you're running to your car to go to your
warm home as [ am fortunate to be able to do, as well, you'll remember these people who have
nowhere to run to. No choice but to run to the refuge of a stairwell and a doorway or a soap tent
with everything you own that's been drenched by the rain. There has been no Code Purple for the
past week and probably not going to be any again until the end of this week. In September of
2015, the city of Dover approved a plan to purchase two properties from the House of Pride and
as a part of the deal the city also received two additional vacant lots from the House of Pride.
Kent County tax records show that the properties of 105, 106, 110, and 115 South New Street are
now City of Dover properties. Anne Marie has quoted at Delaware State News as saying; the city
will work with the Downtown Dover partnership and other community partners to ensure that the
long term redevelopment of these properties is consistent with the restoring Central Dover plan.
On page four of the strategic plan one of the strategies set forth is providing a range of housing
opportunities that address the needs of the homeless to home owners. [ have to ask, what housing
opportunities have been provided to address the needs of the homeless? There seems to be
opportunities for new home ownership however that doesn't address the needs of these folks
here. These four lives that are owned now by the city represent an example of the opportunities
that exist but for reasons yet to be provided seem to be not an option. I would like to hear what
the plans are for, possibly those lives and others in the area. These could easily be used to
establish unique and innovative housing solutions to house as many as 32 people, giving each
person 200 square feet of personal living space.



I'm leaving with you today concept drawings of pocket neighborhood ideas (Exhibit #3) that
could easily fit on one of our city lots and house more people at what is an affordable rate at their
level of income. There are lots of lots all over the city that could be used for pocket
neighborhoods established for folks left at the bottom of the economic ladder. The idea is to
think out of the box and to realize that we need to do something different and more affordable for
those at the very bottom of the economic ladder. The drawings that I'll present to you today
represent an innovative combination of the idea of tiny houses of 200 square feet linked together,
five or more, with a common overhanging roof and common porch. The linking of the houses
through common roofs and porches can make services even easier. Just an example. I'd like to
request that we be put on the agenda for a regular council meetings so that this proposal and
others can be seriously discussed and presented. The proposal is simple, together we can provide
some innovative housing solutions that can be replicated in different areas all over Kane County
and bring our affordable housing inventory a little closer to what the need is. I'll repeat once
again, there are things you guys can do. Making comments to people that there isn't anything we
can do is simply making you all look incompetent. Everyone sees that there are things that can be
done that can't be done without the support of the city. There are things that the city can actively
do to help with projects and support these efforts. It's looking more and more like you don't want
to do anything, not that you can't do anything. Well, and I don't pronounce this right, Maupin
LLC has been approved to construct a six unit duplex on a quarter of an acre, just two blocks
away from the corner of Reid and Kirk Wood, under a variance. [ hope that these sorts of
projects that we present would benefit people of the lower level of income that seems to be
forgotten, could and would be considered in the same way. Thank you.”



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on February 13,2017 at 7:38 p.m. with Council
President

Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison. Mr. Hosfelt was absent.

Ms. Alexis Simms informed members that she was present on behalf of the homeless and to ask
for a meeting with members to come to an agreement regarding something to feed the homeless,
a resource center for a few hours or a few days a week, or whatever could be agreed to. Ms.
Simms stated that by not giving the homeless anything, members were putting their jobs in
jeopardy, stating that the people behind her were the ones who had given members their jobs and
salaries and could take them away. She noted that people were paying their taxes so that
members could feed their families and asked why they could not help to feed the families of the
homeless, explaining that this did not make sense. Ms. Simms stated that members had a few
options and limited time, reiterating that the homeless voted them in and she guaranteed that they
would vote them out when the time came to vote again if they did not provide anything.

Mr. Eric Abernathy, 436 West Duck Creek Road, Clayton, Delaware, advised that he was
speaking as a homeless veteran. He stated that his homeless situation had not been satisfied,
explaining that he had a place to stay; however, it was not his. Mr. Abernathy indicated that there
are countless homeless people in Dover, and when counts are made they are never correct. He
stated that the homeless need help and assistance so they can be out of the cold and need a
building, affordable housing, or a place to go. Mr. Abernathy advised that the homeless are
pushed away, and he asked where they would be pushed to. He stated that if they are pushed out
of Dover, other places do not want them: however, everybody deserves to have a roof over their
head, three (3) meals a day, and a place to rest their head. Mr. Abernathy advised that he
considers himself homeless because, although he has a place to rest his head at night, it is not his
home. He explained that every day he and others are out on the street, feeding people and
helping them, but cannot get the assistance they need. Mr. Abernathy indicated that they would
continue to do this and one day would get the help they need, although help is needed now. He
asked members to look into their hearts and find out what is there, and what it is about being
homeless that bothers people. Mr. Abernathy stated that homelessness is no respecter of persons
and can happen to anyone, anywhere. He stated that he was homeless in Las Vegas and it was
not fun, noting that he is not in that position anymore and is in a position to help others.

Mr. Steven Hall stated that he had been before Council time and time again. He stated that he
was touched by an article that he read in the Delaware State News about Council looking into the
issue of homelessness. He advised that he could see why many people lose hope and why many
react to homelessness in the way that they do. Mr. Hall asked if members recalled meteorologists
telling them to bring their pets and plants inside because of the frigid temperatures, and he asked
them to imagine him trying to sleep in the midst of those frigid temperatures. He noted that many
people’s thoughts throughout the day are about what they will have for dinner, whether they will
order out or cook, and asked members to imagine what it would be like, day after day. to
question where they would sleep tonight, noting that the police make the homeless leave. Mr.
Hall agreed with Mr. Abernathy that homelessness could happen to anybody. He stated that he is
a former educator who taught basic English grammar for eight (8) years and was now here. Mr.
Hall advised that no one deserved to be in this state. He stated that when members get out of
their warm beds at night they feel heat surrounding them from floor and ceiling vents or other



sources of heat; however, when he gets up he does not feel any heat but frigid temperatures. He
indicated that he was grateful to God for keeping him and noted that, if he lives to see it, he
would be celebrating another birthday on Saturday and had no idea that he would be celebrating
it in this state. Pastor Aaron Appling stated that those speaking on behalf of the homeless would
not be going away and their numbers would probably swell when the weather gets warmer. He
advised that they are diligent in their focus and could come for the next three (3) years and say
the same things over and over again. Pastor Appling stated that housing is a human right and not
a privilege. He noted that he had done extensive missionary work in the Philippines and in Haiti,
and noticed that in incredibly poor third world nations they never tear down people's shacks. He
stated that it was appalling that this is a nationwide problem and appalling that people’s
livelihoods are torn down and their homes taken away. Pastor Appling advised that when a
homeless person has a place, such as a tent, taken down, this is the same as someone coming and
burning someone’s house down, noting that the homeless are then told that no one will help
them. He reiterated that they would continue to keep coming since they believe that morally they
are right and God is on their side because they are helping the least of those.

Pastor Appling advised that Mr. Abernathy is aged 65 and goes out twice a day every day of his
life, noting that it was a privilege to work with this veteran who does not have much money or
his own home. He advised that they go out into the streets every day and will be here until the
end, with the goal of getting to some ground where people can work together and reconcile
differences and where the homeless can learn from Council and vice versa. Pastor Appling
indicated that he had been hearing stories from all over Delaware about people changing their
attitudes and helping the homeless. He stated that a movement was happening, people were
wanting to be compassionate, and he believed that people want their leadership to be
compassionate as well. Pastor Appling referred to Mr. Jim Plaisted, a veteran, and his wife, Lisa,
who are homeless, noting that Jim is a wonderful man and his wife had been denied for disability
six (6) times. He suggested that the Mayor or someone have a meeting with them and their
family and stated his belief that they would reach the conclusion that the Plaisteds should be
getting a disability check. Pastor Appling advised that Jim can work but had been hit by a Mack
truck when riding his bicycle to work and was now living at the Dover Interfaith Mission for
Housing.

Mr. James Plaisted, 684 Forrest Avenue, Dover Interfaith Mission for Housing, stated that he lost
his home exactly one (1) month ago and had been struggling financially. He informed members
that he was hit on May 23, noting that it had rained that morning and he was unable to work. Mr.
Plaisted stated that he had been working at Barratt’s Chapel Cemetery, was dismissed, and
10minutes after that his life changed. He explained that he had thought his life was changing for
the better; however, he stated that had medical issues and outstanding medical and other bills,
and he and his wife had given up their trailer earlier in the day. which had items in it from their
marriage. Mr. Plaisted advised that he was currently attending Harris School of Business and
would be pinned in 10 weeks, noting that the Lord had helped him all the way. With the Plaisted
family and could speak to their character. He explained that they had struggled and tried to do
everything they could do, but it had been difficult. Mayor Christiansen asked the Plaisteds to
meet him in the corridor after the meeting, so he could see what could be done about getting
them the things that they need. Mr. Hutchison noted that Mayor Christiansen had been working
on addressing concerns of the homeless and requested an update. Responding, Mayor
Christiansen indicated that several weeks ago an announcement was made that a commission
would be put together independent of the Mayor and Council to study the issue of homelessness
in the City of Dover. He explained that the commission met one (1) or two (2) weeks ago and



would continue to do so, noting that it was under the leadership of Dr. Jerry Abrams and would
be meeting in the Dover Public Library. Mayor Christiansen indicated that a number of goals had
been set, and the commission would come up with some of their own goals. He advised that
some of the goals were to identify who the homeless are by name, which is the template that was
used in the Mayor's Challenge to End Veterans' Homelessness, and to identify the issues that
have made people homeless, what we are doing as a community to properly help those who are
less fortunate than we are, what we are doing wrong, other strategies that can be developed. and
what resources are available throughout the entire community to help those who are less
fortunate.

Mayor Christiansen stated that he is not a Pollyanna who believes those veterans’ or civilians’
homelessness can be ended; however, he wanted the community to know that this Mayor and
Council are making an effort to address the issues of those who are less fortunate. He advised
that the ultimate goal is to develop partnerships and come together with services to help.

Mayor Christiansen stated that he understood the frustration, indicating his belief that he and
every member of Council were frustrated that it appeared that they were sitting impassively;
however, they were not. He advised that every member of Council works on a daily basis to help
all of their citizens. Mayor Christiansen stated that he did not want the homeless to think they
were being left behind and there were efforts being made to develop a strategy to do the best that
can be done to help fellow human beings.

Mr. Lewis commended the Mayor for creating a blue ribbon commission, which he thought was
a first step in the right direction, and he hoped something good would come from it. Mr. Lewis
advised that he serves on this commission and stated the need to do more for the homeless men
and women of the community. He indicated that he had been sitting and listening to them for the
past couple of months, noting that his heart goes out to them, and he commended the initiatives
being brought forth, Mr. Lewis expressed the need to do something more.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on February 27, 2017 at 7:42 p.m. with Council
President Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil,
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison.

Mr. Steven French, speaking about homelessness, advised that they have a right to have a home
just like everybody else and suggested that the former Library could be used for homeless
people. Mr. Timothy Lee Tague advised that he was taken by ambulance from the library to the
hospital that day and he was diagnosed with walking pneumonia. He also advised that he had
four or five seizures after he arrived at the hospital and they still discharged him. Mr. Tague
requested City Council to talk to the hospital about admitting people.

Mr. Steven Hall, speaking about homelessness, extended his deepest sympathies to the Dover
Police Department and their families for the loss of the officer and the cadet killed the previous
morning. He advised that Cadet Jimmy Watts was a very good friend of his and he was deeply
saddened. Mr. Hall advised that he is watching, waiting, hoping, trusting, and believing that
whatever decisions the City Council makes will be effective and essential to his situation. He
advised that if speakers present themselves in a productive way, the results will be productive,
and he requested others to stop threatening the Council.

Mr. Eric Abernathy advised that he was an advocate for the homeless and a veteran. He
requested that, if City Council had it in its means, they were asking for help and assistance for a
problem that was not going away.

Pastor Aaron Appling expressed his condolences for the officers and the City, noting that it was
a great loss to the City. Referring to Jim, the veteran that spoke during the last meeting, Pastor
Appling noted that his mother worked on Jim and Lisa’s case at least 30 hours that week and had
not really made any progress. He advised that Mr. Abernathy probably works 40 or more hours a
week, every week, for free. Pastor Appling expressed frustration that tax dollars were not going
to social services.

Mr. Jacob Romano advised that, for the past ten months, he and his wife had been dealing with
Delaware Family Services (DFS) to get their five children back. He advised that the children
were taken from them in July of the previous year and four of them were placed in a predator’s
home, where they stayed for two weeks. Mr. Romano stated that they continue to work with
DFS; however advised that the Mayor would meet with him after the meeting. Mr. EShed Alston
advised that he took his wife to the hospital the previous week with a gall bladder attack. He
noted that they arrived at 7:00 and left at 1:00 in the morning without his wife being seen.

Mr. Alston stated that six hours is long enough to wait. He noted that she was admitted the
following Monday and her gall bladder was removed. Mr. Alston advised that he has noticed that
every night when the Library closes, the homeless shelter of last resort becomes Kent General
Bayhealth Medical Center. He stated that this is a City Council failure to act issue and asked
when they were going to do something. Mr. Alston advised that he had written to City Council
on February 21, 2017 (Exhibit #1) and had not received any responses. Ms. Denice Daniel,
speaking about homelessness, advised that she was a State worker and, due to illnesses, she lost
her income and her Section 8 housing. She noted that she was a diabetic and asked for assistance
with keeping her insulin refrigerated. Mayor Christiansen advised that he would speak to Ms.
Daniel after the meeting. Ms. Sam Wierney advised that she volunteers by making lunches at



Victory Church after she finishes her classes at Del Tech. She noted that she then goes out in the
streets with Mr. Abernathy to feed the homeless people. Ms. Wierney stated that she has been a
member of Victory Church since August of the previous year and she never thought that Dover
had that many homeless people. She requested more help with ending homelessness in Delaware.
Ms. Katrina Stubbs, speaking about the homeless situation, advised that homelessness is getting
worse. She noted that these individuals are educated, hard-working people whose resources ran
out and they became homeless. Ms. Stubbs asked what they could do to speed the process along
and what they could do as a community to help with this homeless situation. She suggested the
use of vacant homes or buildings to house some of the homeless people.

Mr. Chip Angell advised that he is homeless and sleeping in a tent because he gave up and fell
back into his addictions. He stated that if it were not for the people at Victory Church, he would
probably still be destroying himself. Mr. Angell noted that he has been able to cook, use his
artwork, and play drums and be around a lot of positive people at Victory Church. He stated that
he has never collected an unemployment check, food stamps, or any kind of public assistance
and had no idea what assistance was available.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on March 13, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison.

Ms. Katrina Stubbs, speaking about the homeless situation, advised that the process to get into a
shelter or low income housing is very long, and she did not know what could be done to speed up
the process. She stated that she works two part-time jobs, and she is still homeless. Ms. Stubbs
advised that, because she is not recovering from drugs or alcohol and does not have children, she
does not qualify because she is considered able-bodied. She stated that she has been interviewing
and looking for full-time employment but she is still homeless and without full-time
employment.

Council President Slavin advised that the Blue Ribbon Commission on Homelessness was
looking at these situations and he requested Councilman Lewis to speak with Ms. Stubbs.
Reverend Robert D. Appling advised that his son, Pastor Aaron Appling, was doing missionary
work in the Philippines, feeding 300 children a day. He advised that, during the previous
meeting, a homeless veteran was sitting in front of him and, when his name was called, he was
too traumatized to speak. Reverend Appling noted that people like that really need help.
Reverend Appling stated that his wife works about 40 or 50 hours a week transporting homeless
people to various places and noted that many of these people are falling between the cracks
because they cannot follow through with getting assistance. He advised that they have no
transportation, and some are mentally incapable of keeping appointments at a scheduled time at a
certain place. Reverend Appling suggested that homeless people need help getting to the help
that they need. He also noted that his wife assisted a veteran that was going to be put in jail
because he was back on his child support, and she was successful in keeping him out of jail
temporarily.

Mr. Steven Hall stated that he was honored and grateful for the committee that the Mayor put
together. He advised that he had a good job, a nice home, two (2) cars, and was a tax-paying
citizen and somewhat of a pillar of the community. Mr. Hall stated that it was very frustrating to
see people that are in addictions of various kinds who are getting housing, and that if you are not
an addict of any kind, you have nothing. He advised that he had received a letter denying his
disability, so he still had no income and was still waiting for people to call him for a job and
asked for prayers.

Mr. Eric Abernathy stated that he was there as an advocate for the homeless and they were
asking for some help. He advised that he was a veteran and was formerly homeless but now stays
with family. Mr. Abernathy noted that there are many people out there in very worse condition
than he is and they need help.

Mr. Steven French stated that the homeless need a home and they need it now because it is
getting way too cold.

Mr. David Wilkins stated that he grew up in a Christian home, was married twice, divorced
twice, lost his driving license, and ended up becoming homeless. He advised that he lived in a
building owned by Reverend Appling, and he and Aaron Appling offered him work; however, he
was having trouble getting work because everyone knew he was homeless. Mr. Wilkins stated



that he is back into productive society and has lived clean for five (5) years. He thanked Victory
Church and the patrons of Victory Church for helping those in need.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on March 27, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis (departed at
8:50 p.m. and returned at 8:52 p.m.), Mr. Cole, Mr. Hosfelt, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison. Mr. Sudler
was absent.

Mr. Steven French stated that it would soon be too hot for the homeless and that he thought they
deserved a home.

Mr. Timothy Lee Tague advised that he was a fire fighter, a licensed EMT, a licensed paramedic,
and a licensed fire police and stated that there were between 20 and 28 violations that the City
should be looking at. Noting that most new houses have three prong plugs, Mr. Tague advised
that the house he is living in only has two prong plugs. He also stated that the "post-breaker box"
has four fuses. Mr. Tague suggested that some of the landlords” properties that look brand new
from the outside should be inspected.

Mr. Steven Hall stated that he represented and collaborated with those that are trying to get the
homeless into placement and that he supported the Mayor, City Council members, and the
Committee members. Mr. Hall advised that he had an emotional breakdown the previous
Monday, because homelessness is a very serious issue. He noted that some days they have the
strength and the ability to endure it, but some days they are faced with obstacles that make them
feel like they are at their journey's end.

Ms. Liz Jones advised that a homeless woman named Donna passed to the ground on Division
Street the previous week and died. She noted how sad it was that Donna had nobody with her
when she died. Ms. Jones stated that she is being buried in Milton or Milford on Saturday and,
although they would all like to go, they had no way to get there. Ms. Jones noted that
homelessness is not going to go away and that it would get worse as companies close down and
unemployment causes people to lose their homes. She also explained the risk that she takes of
being arrested for carrying 12 different pills in the same bottle in order to protect her medication
and the difficulty in finding a job when the homeless have no way to shower in the morning or a
way to make sure that your clothes are neatly pressed. Ms. Jones requested City Council to stand
beside them and help them because they want homes instead of living on the street where they
are afraid at night.

Mr. Eric Abernathy stated that Donna Stratton was not the first homeless person to die on the
street and she is only the latest that they know of. He advised that Ms. Stratton had just had a
stroke about three weeks before she died and, as usual at Kent General Hospital, they stabilize
you and then they let you go. Mr. Abernathy noted that Ms. Stratton should not have been back
out on the street but under care. He advised that she was at their church every night for service
and to get a decent meal. Mr. Abernathy reiterated that homelessness is a problem and will
continue to be a problem until something is done. He requested help for the homeless and noted
that a homeless Navy veteran in need of help was in the audience.

Mr. Von Smith advised that he was stranded in Dover with no money and, luckily, he found the
library and some of the people there told him about Victory church bringing lunch to the library
and taking the homeless to the church for dinner every night. He noted that the churches and the
Salvation Army feed the homeless but they do not do it every single day or for every meal.



Mr. Smith stated that the locations are spread out and it becomes confusing knowing which day
to go where and when. He suggested that the churches come together as one and that the City
help them.

Mr. Dean Cromer advised that he came from a good background, his father was a chemical
engineer and they came to Delaware because he worked for NASA making space suits. He stated
that all of his brothers and sisters were successtul and that he was the black sheep of the family.
Mr. Cromer noted that he was homeless because of his alcoholism and he just got out of detox
that day. He advised that he almost died the previous Sunday at the bus stop because he drank
too much. Mr. Cromer stated that there has got to be a solution and he is a big believer in
helping those who want to help themselves. Noting that he has been homeless for a few months
and had never been homeless before in his life, Mr. Cromer stated that he has met a lot of people
and some of these people that are homeless do not want any help or to be proactive about their
situation. Mr. Cromer advised that the resource center is a decent place, but it could be more
education workshops such as filling out a resume on a computer. He advised that he was
fortunate enough to get into Whatcoat immediately after being released from detox. Mr. Cromer
stated that he was going to try to come up with a solution by the next City Council meeting,
noting that there are definitely those that are trying to help themselves, those that really want to
get out of this situation and be employed. He also noted that there are those that just want to walk
around the streets and complain.

Ms. Sue Harris advised that, in preparation for the consolidated plan for the State of Delaware,
Delaware State Housing Authority commissioned a needs assessment which was intended to
frame the current housing needs within the State of Delaware, while examining the significant
trends in the housing issues that will dictate housing policy over the years of 2015 to 2019.
Primary housing needs identified in this assessment included, among others, permanent
supportive housing for people with extremely low income and special needs. Ms. Harris stated
that HUD defines special needs as populations to include frail and non-frail elderly, homeless
persons and persons at risk of becoming homeless, persons with HIV/AIDS, persons with
physical disabilities, persons with mental and behavioral disabilities, and persons with alcohol
and drug addictions. Special need housing provides an alternative living arrangement for
individuals who are unable to live independently without care, supervision, or support because of
age, disability, substance abuse, mental illness. chronic homelessness, or other circumstances and
supportive housing programs assist these individuals with datly life and also offer access to case
management housing support, vocational employment, and other services for clients transitioning
to independent living. Regulations for the recipients of the CDBG grant money, identifies four
specific goals - provide aid to special need persons with the objective being to provide support to
homeless shelters and to increase support to agencies that provide rapid re-housing and rental
assistance for those that are at risk of homelessness and to increase permanent supportive
housing and to reduce homelessness by increasing availability. Ms. Harris stated that the City
would soon be providing its report for 2016 and they would have to show how they have
provided affordable housing for home ownership. She stated that, although the City has done
well with Habitat, they are missing the rental housing and affordable housing for this level and
would have trouble claiming that it has done anything for the homeless.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on April 10, 2017 at 7:40 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison.

Ms. Alexis Simms stated that she had been attending the Open Forum and speaking about
homelessness for about nine months and she thought it was ridiculous that nothing had been
done, although the Mayor and Council say they are working on things. She advised that the
homeless gave the Mayor and Council their jobs and that they could take them away. Ms. Simms
asked that they help the homeless.

Mr. Steven Hall advised that he took the time to look up the definition of the word "depressed",
which means to be in a state of general unhappiness or despondency. Despondency is a state of
low spirits caused by loss of hope or courage. Mr. Hall stated that you lose courage when you
wake up in the morning and say, "Thank you, Lord, for letting me live to see another day" and
then your eyes focus and all you see around you are trees. He noted that a hot waffle with
scrambled eggs, his favorite breakfast, is just a dream, something that you wish you had, but you
have no means of making or preparing that breakfast. Mr. Hall stated that living like this is
enough to depress you. Mr. Hall stated that he still had hope and belief that something was going
to be done; however, when he was in the state of depression, he wanted to take his life because
he did not want to live another day in this world being homeless.

Mr. Eric Abernathy stated that they would continue to work for the homeless in the state of
Delaware and would not stop because he was on God’s side. He advised that he knew for sure
that homelessness would be stopped in the state of Delaware before they are done.

Mr. Lance Moffa stated that he has been dealing with a complaint with the City of Dover since
2014, which he has documented everything, every step of the way. He also noted that he had the
owner’s representative with him. Mr. Moffa advised that they have suffered mental anguish.
physical stress and tremendously financially due to some of the misdeeds of some at the City.
Mr. Mofta requested that City Council hold an executive session so that he could speak with
them professionally and privately about the matter. He stated that he intended to be indemnified.
Mr. Mofta stated that Mr. Neil sits on the Board of Adjustment and presided over a formal
complaint at which he was either bamboozled by some of the staff or he was in on it.
Councilman Neil clarified, for the record,that he does not sit on the Board of Adjustment.

Mr. Dean Cromer advised that he attended the last Open Forum and he said he would come back
with a solution. He suggested that they could start a GoFundMe account or a website to help the
homeless by asking for $1.00 to change a life. Mr. Cromer stated that they could post pictures of
the people with their bios and tell their stories. He advised that, throughout the internet
community and the worldwide web, they would be surprised how many people would donate
$1.00. Mr. Cromer stated that he would like to come back with a $20,000 or $30.000 check to
help the homeless. Mr. Arthur Cunningham thanked Pastor Appling, Victory Church, and Mayor
Christiansen for helping Jim and Lisa. He noted that they had been in their new home for three
(3) weeks and it was a good thing.

Mr. Cunningham advised that he was a Vietnam era veteran and, if it were not for the grace of
God, he would be homeless because three (3) years ago he was hurt in a car accident and he was
employed at Walmart in Wilmington. He noted that he could not go back to work and, months



later, he had surgery and was going to different shelters in Wilmington. Mr. Cunningham
advised that he has been in Dover for two years and it is his home. He thanked the State of
Delaware and everybody for helping him out, because if he was not a veteran, he would not have
any resources to work with. Mr. Cunningham stated that he was sworn to put his life in harm's
way and the same people he swore to protect, he was there to support and make a way for them.
He requested that something be done to support them.

Mr. Jonathan Tyler advised that he had not been homeless too long and he was not as old as most
of the people out there, but he did know that his time being homeless had taught him a lot and he
had seen a lot go on that should not be going on, especially with some of the people that were
disabled, and they should not be homeless. Mr. Tyler stated that there was no reason for him to
be homeless, other than his old ways, which have been washed away and he has been made new.
He advised that he is young and can, and is willing to, work and that he does not like being on
food stamps or relying on other people to do things for him, but he is in a position where he has
to. Mr. Tyler asked for people that can actually do for themselves to be helped, at least a little bit,
so they can stop relying on the government and start relying on them.

Mr. Steven French asked why the homeless were still out in the cold.

Pastor Aaron Appling stated that he wanted to bring a revelation about what was happening in
the state. Pastor Appling advised that he had been in Dover since he was a kid, and he knew that
it had been run predominantly by the elites who have been around and in power a long time. He
stated that a rise up amongst the common people was happening and they understand that they
are just as important as anybody else and they deserve a voice. Pastor Appling noted that he
loves to see so many people come up and speak. He advised that it is not about one person or one
church, it is about a group of people who have been discriminated against for a long time, who
have been beat down for a long time, whether through their culture or through their race in the
past years, and they are now beginning to wake up and realize that things are wrong in our city.
Pastor Appling stated that he thought the gentrification that was happening in downtown Dover
was wrong and asked where the people were going to go when they move them out of these
houses and put other houses up. He noted that not everybody has to live the way the elites and
different people want to live and many of them come from cultures that do not put money or
success above everything else, but put fellow human beings above everything else. Pastor
Appling advised that the people are changing in the street and before you know it, these guys are
going to be a force that you are not going to want to mess with because they are getting educated,
empowered, and they are getting self esteem.

Mr. Corey Berry stated that he did not know most of the people in the audience, but he respected
them and cared about them just as well as they cared about him. He advised that he went beyond
the call of duty and was now homeless. Mr. Berry stated that he has lost his job and his
residence. He stated that he sought help at the James William Building and they told him he did
not qualify for a place to rest his head.

Mr. Berry stated that he was the father of four children and two are handicapped and he gets no
help. He advised that he has nothing but the clothes on his back and a book bag with powder,
mouthwash, soap, and essential things that he needs. He stated that he had Medicaid and food
stamps but was turned down because he did not have his children with him. Mr. Berry stated that
he recently told one of his family members that he felt like hurting himself because he felt as



though there was nowhere else to turn. He advised that he is able to work, but he keeps getting
turned down just like everyone else there. Mr. Berry stated that all they were asking for is was
help, no more, no less.

Ms. Katrina Stubbs reminded members that the last time she came before them, she was
distressed. She advised that things had turned around and she thanked her Lord and Savior, Jesus
Christ, for keeping her in sound mind and protecting her in the midst of everything. Ms. Stubbs
also thanked the Mayor for meeting with her and Councilman Brian Lewis for listening to what
she had to say and for contacting Shepherd's Place on her behalf. She thanked Code Purple for
shelter during the winter season, Christ Church, People’s Church, and Wesley Church who
allowed them to have showers and wash their clothes. Ms. Stubbs thanked Mrs. Prettyman who,
when she went to the James Williams Building, was able to get her into People's Place. She
thanked People's Place, who allowed her to stay there for 30 days and the Resource Center who
allows them two showers a week. Ms. Stubbs also thanked the library for all of their resources
and Ms. Janine with Interfaith Ministry for providing a house for her. She thanked Victory
Church, the Pastor and his wife Sandy, and Mr. Abernathy, who picks her up and takes her to the
church to take a shower, wash her clothes, and get a hot meal. Ms. Stubbs also thanked Pastor
Aaron for having the drive to come out into the community and let City Council know and Mr.
Mike Finney of the Delaware State News for writing the article about her because there are a
group of individuals like her who have no criminal records and are not addicted to drugs or
alcohol, and they are just trying to get jobs.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on April 24, 2017 at 7:38 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis, Mr. Cole,
Mr. Hare, and Mr. Hutchison. Mr. Sudler was absent.

Mr. Steven French stated that the homeless need homes and it was time to do something about
this. He noted that the library and other places were open and could be used as homes for people
until they get jobs.

Mr. Steven Hall stated that he was present on behalf of the homeless, noting that when he spoke
to members regarding this issue previously he was dealing with a lot of emotionalism, and noted
that he had overcome an emotional breakdown because of homelessness. He advised that he was
in a meeting this week where an individual informed him that there were processes underway,
and this gave him hope. Mr. Hall indicated that they had come to many meetings to let members
know how important it is for the homeless to have a home and expressed thanks for each of those
opportunities to come before Council, stating that they had survived the winter. He indicated that
he had been told that members were thinking about this issue and meetings were underway, and
he stated his hope that he would be able to sit on the couch, drink iced tea, watch sports on
Saturday, and enjoy the luxuries of his home. Mr. Hall expressed his understanding that
members” hands were tied; however, he stated that he had faith in them and believed the process
was about to end.

Ms. Katrina Stubbs stated that she is in temporary housing and had a contingent offer of a full-
time, permanent position; however, there were other homeless ladies who are unable to get into a
shelter or low-income housing. She advised that although tiny houses might not end
homelessness, they would at least be a solution for individuals like herself, who are not able to
get into low-income housing or shelters. Ms. Stubbs asked members to look into resources to
help with tiny homes.

Mr. Eric Abernathy stated that he was present to advocate for the homeless and that, since they
first started coming to meetings, he had been watching facial expressions and seeing caring and
concern, and he knew that God was changing hearts. He stated that when they first started
coming they were rejected and no one wanted to hear what they had to say; however, this had
changed because God was in control, was changing hearts and minds, and had taken a hand in
things. Mr. Abernathy stated that homelessness in the State of Delaware must be eliminated and
that folks should be homeless only because they want to and not because they have to.

Pastor Aaron Appling concurred with Mr. Abernathy, noting that Mr. Abernathy is a retired
veteran. In response to Pastor Appling, Mr. Abernathy stated that he is 65 years old. Pastor
Appling informed members that Mr. Abernathy works seven (7) days per week in the City for
free and is a hero of the City. He noted that he and Mr. Abernathy scramble to get gas money so
they can pick people up and bring them out, and he commended Mr. Abernathy and others who
work in the City. He advised members that “Hope deferred makes the heart sick,” and that there
was a lot of good conversation and excitement among people on the streets, which was giving
life to those without a home, shelter. or anything to lean on or grasp hold of for the future. Pastor
Appling indicated that if due diligence is not used to get something accomplished and the



homeless are back on the streets again with no hope, there could be a strong backlash in the
opposite direction. He advised that homelessness can be ended in the State if homes are built for
people at affordable rates. Pastor Appling also advised that a 19-year-old young black man from
his church was pulled over and had 18 grams of marijuana on him, which he stated was a legal
amount. He stated that this individual should have received a citation but was put in jail, and they
tried to put distribution charges on him. Pastor Appling noted that if the law says that a person
can have a legal amount of marijuana on them and young men are being arrested in our city,
especially black and brown men, this would be unjust and not right, and they would start
stepping up and saying something about it. Pastor Appling informed members that he had been a
victim of the war on drugs and had a three-anda-half-year sentence when he was 19 years old
because of mandatory minimums for a quarter ounce of marijuana, which almost ruined his life.
He noted that he was effective today in the City and State and questioned how many young
men's lives would continue to be ruined because of the need to make a check mark in a quota of
drug arrests. Pastor Appling encouraged members to see that the law is fairly administered.

Mr. Corey Berry stated that the last time he was present he spoke about the Constitution and he
was once again speaking for everyone. He advised that he was at the unemployment office on the
seventh of this month and he noted that there are significant barriers to employment for those
who are members of the armed forces in transition; those who are special, disabled, or homeless;
those who are recently separated and unemployed for 27 or more weeks; offenders or those
currently released from incarceration; those with no high school diploma or GED: those who are
low income, spouses or other caregivers of wounded, ill, or injured family members, or those
who are18 to 24 years of age. Mr. Berry stated that he was glad that he serves a higher God and
that this did not apply to him. He explained that he is homeless but was thankful to have acquired
two (2) part-time jobs and he stated that he wondered why the rules does not allow for change.
Mr. Charles Jones stated that he was present with the church and explained that God had given
each of us a soul and noted that those who think they are damned or suicidal should realize that
they have a soul inside that is gifted by God. He explained that an agency called Resources for
Human Development (RHD) placed him in an apartment in Towne Point when he first moved to
Dover, and he was informed that the previous occupant had been smearing feces on the walls.
Mr. Jones discovered immediately that he had been placed with a roommate who was a drug
addict and brought drug addicts into their home, and he stated that RHD did not act when Mr.
Jones informed them that there was a drug dealer living for months with another RHD patient in
an apartment above him. He stated that they would not let him have a pet or allow a woman to
live with him, although pets are allowed for non-disabled people in Towne Point. Mr. Jones
indicated that they would not give him a key to the laundry room, he cleaned his clothes in the
bathtub and smelled of mildew, and he tried to remain clean but could not. He stated that he was
no longer living there; however, they would not give him a statement of his bank account and
they control his money. Mr. Jones advised that they say that he is incompetent to drive a car,
although he feels that he is perfectly competent, and that he is homeless and eats food out of a
can.

Ms. Sue Harris stated that they would continue to come and visit Council week after week,
month after month, trying to offer information, ideas, suggestions, and help, noting that they
were still exactly where they were nine (9) months ago, except for the work that Victory Church
had been doing. She indicated that the appointment of a blue-ribbon panel appeared to be a great
step in the right direction, but until a plan was proposed and accepted by this body, they were
still exactly where they were. Ms. Harris advised that Port Hope and Victory Church were



invited to the Penn’s house villages, as well as Sussex County, and it was embarrassing trying to
explain to other people, states, and municipalities that their own City Council was not supporting
their efforts. Ms. Harris indicated that a few weeks ago a large group came from North or South
Carolina to help Victory Church to feed the homeless of Dover for a week. Ms. Harris
commented that it was sad that Pastor Appling travels to the Philippines to help feed and care for
the poor as mission work, and another group comes to feed the homeless in Dover, Delaware.,
She noted that the United Nations’ Feed the Children program had even acknowledged the
efforts of Victory Church.

Ms. Harris stated that the Diamond State Community Land Trust and a group of 50 individuals
were awarded $750,000 in 2012 from Sussex County due to discriminatory housing practices.
She indicated that those in that area did not like the kind of people being proposed for an
affordable housing project and the County agreed with them but lost and, as a result, the
Diamond State Community Land Trust and the 50 individuals got the affordable housing project
as well as $750,000. Ms. Harris stated that attempts to house people who, for the most part, are
considered handicapped by the Fair Housing Amendment Act of 1988 and the American
Disabilities Act (ADA) is protected by federal statute, and the right for churches to feed and
shelter people is protected by the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act. She
indicated that they continue to walk a passive and cooperative path in the hopes that they will
never have to take other paths. She expressed her wish that everyone present would think more
about how to cooperatively work together to get something done, instead of trying to figure out a
way to stop them. Ms. Harris advised that she had been asked to be on the blue-ribbon panel and
would be present as part of this panel on the following day at the Dover Public Library to present
tiny houses and to answer questions. She invited everybody to come, listen to what is said, and
ask questions.

Mr. Jonathan Tyler stated that he and his girlfriend had been homeless for some time, were not in
a shelter, and were denied hotel vouchers because they have no kids and are not disabled. He
indicated that they qualified for the assessment for rapid rehousing when they were in a shelter:
however, it had been about three (3) months and they had not heard anything, and he questioned
how long they needed to wait for a third party to help them obtain a place to stay. Mr. Tyler
noted that he was willing and ready to work but needed help with obtaining housing.

Ms. Cynthia Quevedo informed members that she is homeless and was 100% behind everyone
who had spoken. She stated that something must be done before summer because there would be
problems and more homeless people on the streets.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on May 22, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis
(departed at 7:38 p.m.; returned at 7:47 p.m.), Mr. Cole, and Mr, Polce. Mr. Hare was absent.

Ms. Katrina Stubbs reminded members that when she first came before Council she was
homeless and working two (2) part-time jobs, and was excited to report that she was currently
working a full-time permanent job with the State. She stated that she was currently residing at a
home with Interfaith, where she is able to stay and save up until she can get her own place. Ms.
Stubbs noted that she was going to the Mayor’s Blue Ribbon Panel on Homelessness meeting,
and was hoping that, as a result of the meeting, something will become available for women like
her, who do not have any type of resources and do not fit into one of the categories. She
expressed her hope that something can be set aside for women like herself, who are professional,
educated women that are actually leaving the State of Delaware because they are not able to find
jobs. Ms. Stubbs stated that if those women had a resource and help, they would stay here in the
City of Dover. Ms. Stubbs asked members, if possible, to continue to help Victory Church and
do whatever they can, noting that when she was homeless, Victory Church was the church that
she went to for a shower, food, and different resources. She explained that since she did not fit
into one of the categories, Victory Church was there to help her. Ms. Stubbs indicated that
people sometimes say that they do not have money; however, they have money for other things,
like having a video done for $8,000, noting that she read about that in the newspaper and did not
agree with it. She reiterated her hope that money can be set aside for women like herself and
professional individuals who want to get back in the workforce.

Mr. Eric Abernathy, speaking about homelessness, advised that they just need help and there are
quite a few success stories from people who are being assisted and getting help through his
church. He stated that he hoped that everyone can all work together to continue to progress to get
a home for people who need a place to stay and to get everyone off the street. Mr. Abernathy
noted that he knows that it seems like nothing is being done; however he knows who his God is,
what He can do, and that it’s going to happen in His time. Mr. Abernathy thanked everybody for
whatever they are trying to do, noting that it is going to work and he hopes he is here to see it.

Mr. Steven Hall stated that he remembered when Obama was voted in as President, he and many
of his fellow African-Americans were ecstatic for having their first African-American President
of the United States. He explained he knows that clapping and gestures are not really allowed
during Open Forum, which he respects, and when he picked up the Delaware State News a
couple of weeks ago, his first thought was that he was glad he was not in the City Council
meeting because he could not help but to jump up and yell out as loud as he could with a great
big smile. Mr. Hall congratulated his dear friend Sergeant Marvin Mailey for being appointed
Police Chief. He stated that Chief Mailey was not only a great man but a good friend to him, and
he thanked him. Mr. Hall, speaking about homelessness, explained that there were times when he
came to Council meetings and he was utterly depressed but he hid it very well because of his
faith. He indicated that he wanted Chiet Mailey to know how happy he is that he is the Chief and
that he is glad that the committee saw the potential that he sees. Mr. Hall noted that Sergeant
Mailey is not only a good Chief, but had helped him many times with his talks. He explained that
Chief Mailey’s presence alone has been inspiring to him and that’s why he is still here.

Mr. Hall advised that he looks at each member’s face every time he stands before Council and
God had given him the gift of discernment, so he knows when members are real and when they



are fake. He expressed his thanks to every member of Council, explaining that each time he
stands before them, he sees no fakeness. Mr. Hall asked members to please continue to be
supportive of him, so that he may find housing.

Pastor Robert Appling stated that he was speaking on behalf of his son, Aaron, who was now
Pastor of Victory Church, noting that he was the founder. He advised members that Aaron was in
the Philippines feeding 600 homeless children, explaining that his passion is not just for Dover
and the homeless here, but for the homeless wherever they might be. Pastor Appling stated that
because of Council, different State organizations, and Victory Church working together, Ms.
Katrina Stubbs was able to give a positive report earlier in the Open Forum segment. He noted
that he saw Jim sitting in the audience and that he and his wife were now in an apartment. Pastor
Appling advised that his wife worked tirelessly to get them through some of the committees and
furnishing transportation, and they were another success story of the Council and Victory Church
working together. He also noted a young man by the name of Rodney who was present. Pastor
Appling stated that Rodney was 32 years of age, a black man, married, had three (3) children,
and was now residing at Victory Church for a few days until they can try to help him find a way
out, find a job, get his family back together and get off the streets. He advised members that it is
a continuing job. Pastor Appling stated that he knew that the Mayor and the Veterans Council
had helped a number of veterans in the community, but there are still others who are warriors
who have served our Country and are on the streets, homeless, and out of work. He noted that
they are not all drunks and they are not all not all drug addicts, explaining that some people who
are in that category have degrees and are simply in hard times at this time. Pastor Appling
indicated that they are a voice for those who are voiceless. He advised members that a young
man told him earlier that day that he is afraid of Council; he doesn’t know them, they don’t know
him, and he doesn’t know what to say.

Pastor Appling stated that it is a wonderful thing to be able to stand before members and praise
them for what they had done and maybe chastise them a little for what they had not done. He
indicated that, being able to work with the different State organizations, family organizations,
and City organizations, everyone could get something else done.

Pastor Appling noted that Ms. Sue Harris was in attendance, and reminded members that she is
an advocate for tiny homes, and they were still working on trying to get that through. He advised
that more. Pastor Appling requested Council’s consideration and help when they come before
members to ask for help, and thanked Council for what they had done.

Ms. Sue Harris read the following statement regarding homelessness:

[ am fighting a cold and not feeling well so, I'm going to make my presentation very short. I have
made copies of some information (Exhibit #1) that | hope you take the time to look over and
read carefully. I want to be sure that it is very clear to everyone that I'm not looking to cause
trouble. 1 am wholly dedicated to the city that I was born and raised in. | have worked the same
job at POLYTECH for 28 years and have lived in the same home on Pine Street for my entire
life. I love my city and want only to find ways to help make it a beautiful and inviting
environment to reside. The information that I am providing to you is for information and
hopefully actionable purposes. It points out the deficiencies that have been identified but
neglected to be addressed. My intentions are to share the results of my research in order to assist
you to find solutions and answers to this complicated problem. You will see in this paperwork
that Dover was informed and offered solutions regarding the lack of compliance with the Fair



Housing Act of 1988 years ago. You will see a couple of notations where Ann Marie addressed it
in Council meetings, however, I can find no corrections ever being introduced.

[ will let you digest the information that ['ve presented in the hopes that it will aid you in
determining just how the City can help play a role in finding a solution to the homelessness in
our city. In a Nutshell, as we wait for the Blue Ribbon panel to settle on a plan and make its
presentation, I would like to suggest a few steps that the City could make right now that would
begin opening doors and creating some possible solutions.

1.) Use the funds that seem to be in question: $8,000 for the movie and the other additional funds
that came available when the economic development office closed. Place these funds in a
revolving loan fund account that is made available for 1«and last month's rents and deposits on
houses to be rented for protected class citizens. This fund would be replenished with payments
and therefore be available to provide funds for additional houses to open.

2.) Correct the City code to be in compliance with the Fair Housing Act of 1988 that will allow
these group homes to be established and therefore creating some affordable living opportunities
for some of the disabled individuals that are living in the streets. These houses would be
established in the model of an "Oxford House". With these two simple steps the City of Dover
would show their commitment to being innovative and compassionate to their most vulnerable
citizens and quite possibly in showing this commitment other community members will follow
their lead and realize the need, the importance and the credibility of this cause. I also wanted to
add that the City of Dover does seem awful busy in getting rid of any property in their name.
Seems like there are at least a half dozen properties that I submitted ideas about that have been
turned over or sold to: Habitat for Humanity, NCALL or Mautiste LL.C. 2 lots on North Street, 3
- 4 Tots on New Street, a lot on Gov Ave. Certainly begs the question: If these properties were
provided to Habitat and NCALL for affordable housing purposes I'm fully supportive of that and
hope that some of that will include those looking for low rent options not just purchase options.
If these properties where instead sold, I would love to know how the proceeds from these sales
will be used? I certainly hope that as you dispense of all these properties you might consider
offering a nonprofit the same sort of lease deal that was offered to DIMH so that additional
nonprofits can put their efforts into addressing this problem as well with the support of the city.

I have also been reading about the Delaware Convention Center dissolution. Such a shame, my
father was very involved with Al Hedgecock and Stuart Outten in the Civic Center dream and
I'm sad to see the board and non profit dissolved. I think that the partnership with Del State will
be a positive one that will bring about the same sort of result with their student center and am
interested in seeing how the remainder of the land and assets are dissolved and distributed among
non profits with the same goals as provided by the IRS dissolution terms. Please, take the time to
look over the information that [ am leaving with you. I know that I have provided a plethora of
documentation and paperwork and I'm doubtful that any of it was even looked at, but I implore
you to please read through this information and be proactive in addressing what appears to be
blatant noncompliance on the cities behalf that continues to hinder the availability of housing for
those most in need among us.

Thank you

Ms. Cynthia Fay Quevedo advised members that she is homeless. She stated that when she was
in her tent that morning, God spoke to her to come speak and said that there are empty buildings
that members can provide for the homeless and it should not cost that much to fix them up. Ms.
Quevedo noted that she was also present to speak for the veterans, explaining that she had seen a
lot of veterans out on the street, more than the homeless people, and they need to be taken care of



and put into housing. She asked members to take time and try to do something for them. noting
that members have enough money to do so and that’s what He wants everybody to do.



REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

The Regular Council Meeting was held on June 12, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Polce, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Lindell. Mr. Cole was absent.

Mr. Steven French noted that a new restaurant was being built and, in his opinion, the homeless
needing homes were more important than any restaurant. He stated that he thought the old library
and other buildings should be used to house the homeless.

Mr. Steven Hall recited Jack and Jill and noted that he was Jack and sometimes in life, no matter
which you are, rich, poor, no matter what the race, nationality, they all have times in their lives
where something befalls them and they fall down. He stated that he was parched and needed
water, but he could not get water until he got up that hill and that he needed help getting up that
hill so that he could get some water and life could go on.

Ms. Simms stated that the Dover Public Library had been open for over a year and no one had
reached out. She noted that members were in a position to help the homeless and the homeless
would not think twice about taking those positions from them. Ms. Simms noted that the police
are patrolling for the drug dealers but not the doctors who are handing out drugs and people are
getting addicted to Percocet and other prescription drugs.

Mr. Eric Abernathy reminded members that the issue of homelessness was still there and the
people still need help and a place to stay. He stated that, although a lot of people and
organizations have stepped up to help Victory Church with its mission and movement, he did not
see any help coming from the City. Mr. Abernathy advised that regardless of whether they get
help or not, they will continue doing what they are doing to end homelessness in Delaware.

Mr. Able Young stated that his biggest concern was transportation for people who leave work at
11:00 p.m. He suggested that public bus transportation should run until at least 1:00 a.m. or 2:00
a.m. Mr. Young advised that most of their day passes stop at 3:00 a.m. and they have no way to
get home.

Pastor Aaron Appling recalled the help that was provided to Ms. Alexis Simms and the issues
that they faced with the County when providing her with an RV on the church property. He
advised that they looked at the law and found that they had every right to have an RV on their
property. Pastor Appling noted that the homeless have been treated by the system in such a
negative way for so long that they are going to have an attitude about it and he encouraged
members to take heed to some of those things that were being said by those individuals.



The Regular Council Meeting was held on June 26, 2017 at 7:36 p.m. with Council President
Slavin presiding. Council members present were Mr. Anderson, Mr. Sudler, Mr. Neil, Mr. Lewis,
Mr. Cole, Mr. Polce, Mr. Hare, and Mr. Lindell.

Mr. Jamie Grubbs stated that the homeless need a place to live and it would be nice to get them
off of the streets, where it is not safe. He also noted that there is nowhere for the homeless to eat.

Mr. Steven French suggested allowing the homeless to live at the former library until they get\
something better. He noted that winter is coming and it will be too cold out there for them.

Mr. Christopher L. Jones thanked members for the opportunity to speak and stated that the
problem of homelessness is at disproportionate levels and will get worse without proper care
from the City and the community. He noted that if it were not for Victory Church and what they
do to help the less fortunate, he did not know where he would be. Mr. Jones advised that he
recently became homeless after being kicked on the street by the Veterans Affairs in Wilmington
and, before then, he did not realize how hard some people have it. He stated that he has tried to
get help from every organization in Dover and the State. Mr. Jones noted that Miss Kathy took
him to the pharmacy and paid for his medications out of her own pocket. He stated that, with the
City of Dover's help and with Victory Church, this epidemic can be turned around to make this
community a better and more loving place for everyone.

Mr. Eric Abernathy stated that there were two (2) veterans, Mr. Jones and Mr. Lawson, in the
audience and they were having trouble getting assistance. He noted that both men have been
coming to Victory Church and the church is doing what it can to help them so they get lunch
every day and a hot meal at night. Mr. Abernathy stated that they are a poor church so there is
not much more they can do. He noted that the other issue was the homeless tent city that was
recently cut up by the property owner. Mr. Abernathy noted that he had heard that the owner had
State officials with them. He advised that this was the third incident of tents being destroyed that
he knew of. Mr. Abernathy also advised that many homeless people used to hang out at the
library and now they have taken away the seating area and turned it into a passport area. He
stated that they also took out the television in the back of the library where they were hanging
out. Mr. Abernathy stated that he felt that something needs to be done, not yesterday, not
tomorrow, but today.

Ms. Alexis Simms advised that she had been coming to testify for the homeless for a whole year.
She stated that whoever cut those tents down destroyed peoples personal property and that is a
charge. She noted that these people cannot afford a one bedroom for $850.

Ms. Jasmine Boggs advised that, within the past year, she had lost her son because of being
homeless. She stated that, over the past five (5) years, she had been homeless off and on. Ms.
Boggs advised that two (2) people in attendance had helped her during the past year with legal
matters and with her son. She noted that being homeless does not make you a bad person, no
matter what other people think about you. Ms. Boggs advised that her son, who was born on
August 3w, died on November 9n because she was homeless with him. She stated that she had
also had several miscarriages because she was homeless and if she had a place to live, her
children would still be living.



Mr. Brandon Ricks advised that he gave up his place to live 18 or 19 months ago because he
allowed homeless people to come stay with him. Mr. Ricks stated that he has had two (2) heart
attacks and a stroke in the last six (6) months and every time he goes to the hospital, it is a shame
because nobody cares about them. He noted that it is the other homeless people that actually
come and check on you to make sure you are alright. Mr. Ricks advised that, as his wife
previously stated, they lost their son in November and since then, anytime that people have
needed help, every time he gets paid, he spends $400 a week at a hotel so that people are able to
have a place to eat and take showers. He noted that he cannot afford his heart pills because he
makes sure people eat on a daily basis. Mr. Ricks advised that he has given up everything he had
to help people. He stated that he moved to Dover four (4) years ago from Virginia and he tries to
help as many people as he can.

Mr. Swann Twitty stated that they are making it hard for homeless people to get jobs, especially
the ones that have charges. He stated that it is not fair for them to be homeless without a job and
they have to go apply somewhere and they get turned down because of what they did 10-20 years
ago.

Mr. Richard Lawson advised that he is homeless and has been in Dover for 64 days. He noted
that for the first nine (9) days, he stayed at Red Roof Inn, and for 22 days he was at Kent General
Hospital where he was diagnosed with a heart condition, a bad set of lungs, and diabetes. Mr.
Lawson stated that for the last 33 or 34 days, he has been on the street. He advised that Victory
Church and the outreach center lent a hand to help him the best that they could to try to keep a
good frame of mind to not give up on things. Mr. Lawson stated that when he was discharged
from the hospital, he met with several social workers, both interior and exterior, along with case
workers, his chief doctor, and VA reps. He advised that he was supposed to be released into an
environment for home healthcare, noting that he is supposed to be on 20 medications a day, four
inhalers, a CPAP machine, and a nebulizer. Mr. Lawson noted that he is currently only able to
manage nine medications, he cannot use his machine, and he only has two (2) of the inhalers
because he had nowhere in the woods to plug a nebulizer in. He advised that he has exhausted
every resource that he could find and asked when the City would decide that it is going to step up
and do something to improve conditions for the homeless.

Mr. James Bierman stated that this was his first time attending to advocate for the homeless. He
advised that he was 77 years old and, for over 50 years, he was in the construction business, 25
of which were in Dover and surrounding arcas. Mr. Bierman advised that he has worked as a
carpenter, a foreman, and a superintendent for some major construction companies, including
Kent Construction. He noted that he has noticed empty buildings and the library is empty now.
Mr. Bierman stated that these empty places could be renovated for a moderate price and made
into an adequate dwelling for some of these people that are homeless.

Mr. James Plaisted advised that he was getting ready to be pinned for medical assistant and
indicated that if there were a Kent County clinic for the homeless, he would assist in any way he
could. Mr. Slavin announced that on Wednesday, June 28, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. in the City Council
Chambers, the Mayor would be holding a meeting with the Blue Ribbon Commission on
homelessness and they will be releasing and discussing their findings. He also noted that the
Mayor has offered to meet with the veterans who spoke after the Open Forum, noting that the
Mayor has made great efforts statewide to cure homelessness for veterans and he knows where
the resources are.



EXHIBIT #3 Page 1 of 3
Regular Council Meeting of 08/14/2017
KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE
555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279
"Serving Kent County With Pride"
PROPEITY INFORMATION
Planning and ‘uilding Permits Information

Refercnce LC LITTLE CI' ""EK HUNDRED Card#1 of 1
Location (D 106791 VAR 4:05-06800-02-1400-00001
Tax ID 112844 Deed BVP D 03270136
Parcel ID 105927 Deed BVP2
oroperty X . EXEMPT
Current Owner operty Location
DOVER CITY OF, ) GARRISON OAK DR
PO BOX 475 I OVER, DE 19901
DOVER, DE 19903 7 oning IPM Acres
Additional Owner
Sub-Division GARRISON OAK TECHNICAL "ARK
| ﬁ::xles History | | ; l l ILiv.Sq.Ft | |.0000 |
| Date | ’ Price | | As.  sment I |T0tal Rooms | | |
| 0/00/00 —| ‘ 0| |Land 1 | l |Bedr00ms | [ l
[ 0/00/00 ]| 0| Buildings || |[Full Bath || |
| | |[Total || | [Half Bath || |
|Base Tax Due | | @I |@* DTy Jetail I ’Historv| lFarm Info |
|Tax Pen:lty ] l @‘
|T0tal Tax Bal. ] ’ @l
‘Sewcr Balance ] ‘ @l |Sewer Acc nt # | | | | |
INeigliboriood # |[00400 ][Coor nat- I 0475795 E 0429004 N |
Land Use ! | :‘ Lot Nner ons J ‘ | [ |
[Living Units | fsehe 0t et 18 |lcAPITOL |
[Class | Exempt ] [Fire 1"t |l46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
Plat Boo!: Vi’g J 0117 0’_@ ISeW(‘r Al ct j IOO | INONE ‘
[Topograpliy Level  |[Aml ' n District |[46 | [ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
}Strcci or Road ":‘»’u\'u! :l I& Vie ot H || |
l I S I I |

http: -co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



|Fr0min o

]Improvcnwnt | [ VACA m E&
C | | s

==

————————§ ————

| Residen | [Ligh

B IMPRO VENMI'NT KEY

IMANUF HM]| [Manufactured Fome

IMANUFCC | [Manut'\ wredrome Cla
MNF HMRT | Manufac cod |ome Reti
GAl
Year Built
Style
L

=i=]=1
LRI
nEREEERE

~ |
[

W e | S| e 4

L

1

..-———‘F_—TW‘[—'ﬂ’r—"vv—‘h - ! Gremary |
| - | | i A2 [T
|

I =

i

History

Dimensions 0X

Skirting Type

http:/

o ALY

(e ]

I

Il/.ll"/'_,H

e

| |

—

cr Dist l IOO | {

||D029 | |D 029 - WHITE OAK

) =

sment

L

rty Deseription
)AK TECHNICAL PK
I"#14, 10.1 A.

NO DATA Energy Adj.

iees Design

Perc cntuge| | Type | |Percentage]
) | 0
0 | 10

{0 | |0

|
|
|
D || 0 :
|
|

| [Basement Living
1ed|
Area

|
1o 0

Rec Room

| Sq.Feet || Wall ||

Floor

|| I

10 DATA|[NO DATA|[NO DATA

0
b1 |
Jo____1I L

|
|
|
Ol | |
|
|
|

).co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

& &
Is
KENT COUNTY DEFARTMENT CF PLANNING SERVICES
GIS DIVISION - 202-T44-2413
: EEE BAY ROAD, DOVER, CE 18201 @' 0 - \
350
@

|r.|.‘i 5|

RRISON OAK DR

E EMGINEERING USE AND IS SUBJECT TC FERIDCIC CHANGEE (&
PRI AN i} X

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

Go gle Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 1000 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/(@3... 2017-08-04



Reference #

Location ID 10186

Tax ID 10186

Parcel ID 63051
Croperty X - EXEMPT

Current Owner

DOVER CITY OF, THE,

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615

(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information

ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED

Map
Number

Deed BYP
Deed BYP2

Card#1 of 1

2-05-07612-04-3500-00001

0097

Property Location

415 WATER ST

IS 0024 0292 L 0021 0291

Page 1 of 3

D 8403 0102 D 8396 0228 IS 0027

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning 10 Acres .27
Additional Owner

Sub-Division

| Sales History | I |lILiv.Sq.Ft  |[0000 |

l Date | | Price | L Assessment ] lTotal Rooms I l |

| 12/09/16 || 1/|Land || 3,800| Bedrooms || |

| 12/06/16 || 0| |Buildings || | [Full Bath || |

| || | [Total || 3,800/ [Half Bath || |

|Base Tax Due

.OO| lLast Billing Detail j lHistow| lFarm Info

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

‘Tax Penalty ‘ l .OO|

[Total Tax Bal. \ 00|

ISewer Balance I | .OOI ’Sewer Account # | | | | |
INeighborhood # |l00214  ||Coordinates || ||0467983 E 0420167 N |
Land Use || | [Lot Dimensions || [0000060.00 0000199.00 |
ILiving Units \ | School District |18  ||cAPITOL ]
Class | Residen | [Fire District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Plat Book Pg 1100000 |[Sewer District oo ||NONE |
[Topography |ILevel  ||Ambulance District |46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
lStreet or Road ] ]Paved | |Trash District l | | | |

2017-08-02



[Fronting | Residen |[Light District \ || ]
|Impr0vement I IVACANT| ICommissioner Dist | |OO l I —I
| || | [Tax Ditches | INONE || |
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |
|MAN UF HM |Manufactured Home I
[NIANUFCC ] lManufactured Home Class C Assessmentl
|MNFHMRU IManufactured Home Retired Title |
Property Description
N. SIDE W. WATER ST.,
LOT 60' X 199',
415 W. WATER ST.
Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Ad,j.
Style Fire Places Design
| | { Type ] Eercentagel | Type | |Percentage|
[Ext. Walls || o | 0 |
ﬁloof Cover | | | lO H | lO |
lFloor Cover | | l |0 J l | |O |
[Heat/Cool __ || o I o |
[Plaster Int. l | | IO I L | r I
[Foundation _ || L | | |
[Sub-floor || | | | |
Y/N| |Unfinished Iliasement Lietog Rec Room
rea
IBasement [ ]lo |0 I0 |
I ] | TypeJ | Sq.Feet l | WallJ | Floor |
Garage1 | [0 | | |
Garage2 || It | | |
[Bas Gar I |INO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA| |0 || \ |
[Porch2  |[NODATA|[0 I || |
History
Dimensions 0XO0
http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Reference #

Location ID 9876

Tax ID 9876

Parcel ID 63050
Property  + pvEMPT
Code

Current Owner

DOVER CITY OF, THE,

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information

ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED
Map

Number
Deed BYP

Card#1 of 1

2-05-07612-04-3900-00001
D 8403 0105 D 4055 0182

Deed BVP2

Property Location

401 WATER ST

Page 1 of 3

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning 10 Acres .76
Additional Owner
Sub-Division

L Sales History J | j L | |Liv.Sq.Ft ] I.OOOO |
| Date | I Price J | Assessment | |Total RoomsJ | |
| 12/09/16 | I J ILand I | 5,200| IBedrooms J | |
| 9/20/07 || ~ 0||Buildings || |[Full Bath || |
| | | [Total | 5,200| Half Bath || |
|Base Tax Due | | .OO| [Last Billing Detail I lHistoryI IFarm Info |
[Tax Penalty | 00|

[Total Tax Bal. | 00|

ISewer Balance || 00| [Sewer Account # || || I
INeighborhood # |[00214  ||Coordinates \ |[0468096 E 0420199N |
ILand Use || | [Lot Dimensions || 1[0000168.00 0000199.00 |
ILiving Units || | |School District |18 ||cAPITOL |
Class | Residen | |Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Plat Book Pg 1100000 |[Sewer District 100 |[NONE |
[Topography |[Level  ||{Ambulance District |[46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
[Street or Road |[Paved  |[Trash District || 1l |

| I I I |

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



IFronting

||[Residen ||Light District | | |
|Impr0vement I |VACANT| |Commissioner Dist | |00 | | j
| || | [Tax Ditches | INONE || |
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |
B/[ANUF HM| IManufactured Home |
IMANUFCC |[Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
ﬂV[NFHMRll lManufactured Home Retired Title l
Property Description
N. SIDE WATER ST.,
33,292 SF
401 W WATER STREET
Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design
l | | Type J lPercentagel ‘ Type J |Percentage|
[Ext. Walls || 10 ]| |0 |
lRoof Cover | | | [O ] | | |O |
|Floor Cover l l J |0 | | | ‘O |
[Heat/Cool || I8 || 10 |
|Plaster Int. | l J |0 | | | | J
lFoundation | L J l | | ] | \
[Sub-floor __ || 1] | I |
Y/N| |Unfinished ﬁasement Living Rec Room
rea
|Basement Il 1o |0 I0 J
f | | Type | | Sq.Feet J L Wall l | FloorJ
Garage1 || 10 L | |
Garage2 || 10 | 1l |
[Bas Gar i |[NO DATA|[NO DATA]|NO DATA |
[Porch1  |[NODATA|0 || 1l |
IPorch 2 |INO DATA | |0 || || |
History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type
http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

) = S
KENT COUNTY CEPARTMENT OF FLANNING SERVICES
GIE DIVISION - 202-T44-2412
EEE BAY ROAL, COVER, DE 15501

1
THIS KMAF |18 NOT SURVEY ACCURATE ORFCR
U

ENGINEERING UBE AMD IE SUBJECT TO FERIOCIC CHANGES
= . i

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

Go gle Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 100 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/(@3... 2017-08-04



KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

Page 1 of 3

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information
Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 1
Location ID 10262 ;’I:lll’lber 2-05-07612-03-2700-00001
Tax ID 10063 p— ]0)481“ 0187 G 0005 0336 D 0025
Parcel ID 54401 Deed BVP2
léf)‘:l';e”y X - EXEMPT
Current Owner Property Location
DOVER, CITY OF, 715 SLAUGHTER ST
PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904
DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning RG1 Acres .11
Additional Owner
Sub-Division ACCRETIO
\ Sales History \ || |[ILiv.Sq.Ft  |[.0000 |
l Date | l Price I | Assessment l ITotal Rooms | | |
| ons/i2 || 5,000/ [Land | 2,000| [Bedrooms || |
| 0/00/00 || 0| [Buildings || |[Full Bath || |
| || | [Total || 2,000| [Half Bath || |
@se Tax Due i [ .OOI [Last Billing Detail | lHistorvl IFarm Info |
\Tax Penalty I | (M
[Total Tax Bal. || 00|
|Sewer Balance I l .00| ISewer Account # l [ | | ‘
[Neighborhood # |[00214  ][Coordinates [ 1[0466395 E 0421092 N |
[Land Use IB | ILot Dimensions || 10000030.00 0000160.00 |
ILiving Units | | [School District |18 ||cApiTOL |
Class | Residen | |Fire District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
IPlat Book Pg 1100000 |[Sewer District Jloo ]|NONE |
[Topography |[Level  ||Ambulance District |[46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
Ereet or Road | |Paved | |Trash District —| r —| | |
http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



Page 2 of 3

[Fronting |[Residen |[Light District || || |
LImprovement ] |VACANﬂ |C0mmissi0ner Dist | [OO | | |
| || | |[Tax Ditches | INONE || l
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |

‘MANUF Hl\/ﬂ |Manufactured Home |
|MANUFCC I ‘Manufactured Home Class C Assessment|
|MNFHMRT | |Manufactured Home Retired Title |

Property Description
N. SIDE OF SLAUGHTER
ST., LOT 4500 SQ.
FT., 715 SLAUGHTER

Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Ad,j.
Style Fire Places Design
| | I Type [ |Percentage| | Type | IPercentage|
[Ext. Walls || | || o |
[Roof Cover || _ I8 | 10 |
IFloor Cover ] l —| IO J L | IO J
[Heat/Cool || [0 \ |0 |
]Plaster Int. | | I M | | | | |
[Foundation _|| il | | |
[Sub-floor _|| | | L |
V/N|[Unfinished| |5 o< ent LVIRg i gee Room
[Basement __|[__|[0 0 1P |
l I L Type | | Sq.Feet | | Wall | | Floor |
Garage1 ][ |8 | I ]
Garage2 || |0 | | |
Bas Gar I |INO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA |
Porch1 _ |[NODATA|[0 | | |
IPorch 2 |INO DATA |0 || i B

History

Dimensions 0X0

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



Page 1 of 3

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 1

Location ID 16004 %{i‘;ber 2-05-07612-03-3300-00001
S— - W— 10332255 0066 IS 0025 0358 B 0029
Parcel ID 54400 Deed BVP2  H 0027 0394

I(’:Z(:ilzerty X - EXEMPT

Current Owner Property Location

DOVER CITY OF, THE, 710 SLAUGHTER ST

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning RG1 Acres .17
Additional Owner
Sub-Division ACCRETIO

| Sales History || | |[Liv.Sq.Ft  |[.0000 |

| Date | f Price | | Assessment i [Total Rooms | | ]

| 31715 || 6,000| [Land | 2,600| [Bedrooms || |

| 8nei11 || 0| [Buildings || | [Full Bath || |

] || | [Total || 2,600 [Half Bath || |
lBase Tax Due | | .OO| lLast Billing Detail 1 [Historvl lFarm Info |
|Tax Penalty | | .00|

|T0tal Tax Bal. ] | .OOI

‘Sewer Balance | [ .OOI ISewer Account # | l , | |
[Neighborhood # 100214  ||Coordinates || (0466534 E 0420916 N |
[Land Use I | [Lot Dimensions || [0000050.00 0000150.00 |
[Living Units || | School District |18 ||CAPITOL |
Class | Residen | [Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Plat Book Pg [(00000 | [Sewer District [0 ||NONE |
[Topography |ILevel  ||Ambulance District |[46 | [ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Street or Road | |Paved | |Trash District | | l | \

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



[Fronting | [Residen | [Light District || || ]
Em.provefnent | IVACANTl ICommissioner Dist I lOO | L —|
| || | [Tax Ditches | INONE | | |
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |
IMANUF HM| [Manufactured Home |
IMANUFCC ] |Manufactured Home Class C Assessment|
IMNFHMRT | Manufactured Home Retired Title |
Property Description
S SD SLAUGHTER ST
LOT 7500 SQ FT
710 SLAUGHTER STREET
Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design
| | I Type | lPercentage| | Type J |Percentage|
[Ext. Walls || It 1| o |
|R00f Cover | | | |O J | | [0 |
|Floor Cover J ‘ | IO l r J |0 |
|Heat/C001 | | J |0 | l | |0 |
|Plaster Int. | [ | |O | I J L |
|F0undation I L | | | | \ L \
[Sub-floor || | 1L | ]
Y/N| |Unfinished i"seme“t Laving. |\ pe e Room
rea
[Basement || |[0 |10 o |
| || Type || Sq.Feet || Wall || Floor |
Garage1 || It I | |
Garage2 || 10 i | |
[Bas Gar I |INO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA | |0 1 || |
IPorch 2 |INO DATA| |0 I Il \
History
Dimensions 0X0
http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



L

=1 [lc,

Page 1 of 1

)
KENT COUNTY CEPARTMENT CF FLANNING SERVICES
GIS DIVISIOM - 302-T44-2418

EEE BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 15501

1.0Ap

&
2

S01
&

™~
711

e}
21

| 8

U1
720

A0S
2
{13
= :
?’;,_‘ b )4 e
Z €
a :
™
9
)
-
‘2
= 677
® {l
s %a
HoY : ' ® '
THIS AP 1S NOT SURVEY ACCURATE CRFCR
ENGINEERING USE AND IS SUBJECT TO PERIODIC CHANGES
]I ]| A7) l|l

\

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire...

2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

Google Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 50 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/@3... 2017-08-04



KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

Page 1 of 3

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card# 1 of 1
Location ID 7532 xj‘lflber 2-05-07600-01-0600-00001
Tax ID 7532 Deed BVP  E 0047 0103

Parcel ID 46546 Deed BVP2

g}‘gf”y X - EXEMPT

Current Owner Property Location

DOVER, CITY OF THE, 101 ELECTRIC AVE

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning [PM Acres 106.80
Additional Owner
Sub-Division

| Sales History | || |[Liv.Sq.Ft  |[0000 |
r Date | | Price \ Assessment | Fotal Rooms || I
| 0/00/00 || 0| |Land | 64,000| [Bedrooms || |
| 0/00/00 ||  1,635,713||Buildings || |[Full Bath || |
| 1 | [Total I 64,000| Half Bath || |
IBase Tax Due J | .00| lLast Billing Detail | IHistorv| !Farm Info ]
lTax Penalty l l .OOI

|T0tal Tax Bal. | | .OO|

[Sewer Balance || 00| [Sewer Account # || || l
INeighborhood # 1100219 ||Coordinates I 0460830 E 0416799N |
Land Use || | [Lot Dimensions || 110000026.80 |
ILiving Units il | School District |18 ||capPITOL |
Class | [Exempt ||Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Plat Book Pg 1100000 | [Sewer District oo ||NONE |
[Topography |[Level  ||Ambulance District |[46 | [ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Street or Road ||Paved | [Trash District || || ]

| I 11 I I |

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



[Ell\ming | |Residen | |Light District | | | |

[Improvement | |VACANT| |C0mmissi0ner Dist | \OO | I

| \ | [Tax Ditches |[D034 ||D 034 - MIFFLIN
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |

IMANUF HMI lManufactured Home |
IMANUFCC |Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
|MNFHMRT | |Manufactured Home Retired Title |

Property Description
5. 8D. CO.RD. 73,
163.5713 A.
Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design

[ | | Type | |Percentagg| | Type | |Percentagg|
[Ext. Walls || It || 1o |
|Roof Cover | | | [O J L l |0 J
[Floor Cover || It Il I0 |
LHeat/Cool | | \ IO I | l lO l
lPlaster Int. l | J M | | | | I
IFoundation I | | I ] L | | |
[Sub-floor _|| | | _| |

Y/N| Unfinished fasement Living Rec Room

Area

|Basement | L I |O | |O | |O |
| || Type || Sq.Feet || Wall | | Floor |
Garage1 || 10 I | |
(Garage2 || I ] | |
[Bas Gar 1| |[NO DATA | [NO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 1 | [NO DATA | [0 || ] |
[Porch2  |[NODATA|]0 || \ |

History

Dimensions 0X0

Skirting Type

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

) e e e ——
= KENT COUNTY DEFARTMENT CF FPLANNING SERVICES
[ — GIS DIVISION - 302-T44-2415

EEE BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 15501

128 1250
, , ®

#'"401 ELECTRIC AVE

THIS MAF IS NOT SURVEY ACCURATE CR FCR T 7
ENGINEERING USE ANC 1S SUEJECTT.J FERICCIC CHANGES E |

)\ —— - 1 ]

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

R NV e a1 e AR R A DR N RS

B KENT COUNTY DERARTMENT OF PLANNING SERVICES LITTITTT T,
ROEDRN GIS DIVISION - 202-T44-2416 L

AN
| :
: 7 ' : Tl
Al - A P
7| H H B R R LF
THIS MAP IS NOT SURVEY ACCURATE CRFCR % l i

4

e BT :

-~ ’ U y (T .

EfG:iEE RIMG USE AND 1S SUBJECT TC FERICCIC I~.=;'H.u\l\l{3ES , ;/ | IIM!“'E%:.. .,-__< L= = :

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

GIS DIVISION - "02-?44-44?"’
EEE BAY RCAD, DOVER, CE 1':.‘:'01
5 g-"‘%\

A0 | 19
¢ {i
.ﬂﬁ»ﬁ 27|
THIS MAP IS NOT SURVEY ACCURATE CR FCR
ENGINEERING USE AND IS SUBJECT TO PERICCIC CHANGES

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

Go gle Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 200 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/@3... 2017-08-04



KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

Page 1 of 3

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 1
Location ID 13266 ;’[li‘lflber 2-05-07709-01-3700-00001
Tax ID 13266 Deed BVP D 7920 0212 D 0442 0208
Parcel ID 35050 Deed BVP2

CroPerty X - EXEMPT

Current Owner Property Location

DOVER CITY OF, THE, 105 NEW ST

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning C2 Acres .10
Additional Owner
Sub-Division

| Sales History I I | [Liv.Sq.Ft  |[0000 |
l Date \ Price | r Assessment | [Total Rooms || ]
| 1231115 || 1| [Land | 2,000/ [Bedrooms || |
| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || | Full Bath || |
| || |[Total || 2,000| [Half Bath || B
|Base Tax Due | | .OOI !Last Billing Detail | [Historyl IFarm Info —|
[Tax Penalty || 00|

|T0tal Tax Bal. ] L .00\

[Sewer Balance || .00| [Sewer Account # || IR |
INeighborhood # ||00214  ||Coordinates I |[0468177 E 0422070 N |
[Land Use \ | [Lot Dimensions \ 110000000.10 |
ILiving Units \ | [School District |18 ||cAPITOL |
Class | Exempt | |Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Plat Book Pg 1100000 | |Sewer District |lo0 ||NONE |
[Topography |ILevel  ||Ambulance District |[46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
[Street or Road |[Paved  ||Trash District || || |

I I I L I ]

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



|Fr0nting | |Residen | ILight District | | | |
lImprovement | ‘VACANT\ ICommissioner Dist | |OO ‘ |
| || | [Tax Ditches | INONE ||
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |
|MANUF HMI [Manufactured Home |
IMANUFCC ||Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
\MNFHMRT l |Manufactured Home Retired Title |

Property Description

E SIDE OF NEW ST

LOT 4,473 SQ FT
105 SOUTH NEW STREET

Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design

I | [ Type | |Percentage| | Type ] |Percentage|
[Ext. Walls || 0 I o |
|Roof CoverJ | | IO J | | IO |
[Floor Cover || |8 1 |0 |
[Heat/Cool || It I o |
|Plaster Int. l | l |O l ‘ 7 | ]
[Foundation || | | | |
[Sub-floor || | | | |

V/N||Unfinished [55¢™¢7 LIS | Ree Room

rea
[Basement || |[0 o IS |
[ || Type || Sq.Feet || Wall || Floor |
Garage1 || |0 | | |
Garage2 || |8 I I |
Bas Gar I |INO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA | |0 \ || |
IPorch 2 |INO DATA | [0 \ I |
History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

Dover, Delaware

Street View - Oct 2012

https://www.google.com/maps/plac... 2016-09-09



Reference #

Location ID 16617

Page 1 of 3

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information

ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 1

Map

2-05-07709-01-4300-00001
Number

D 7920 0215 D 4739 0342 B 0044

Tax ID 16617 Deed BVP .,

Parcel ID 35055 Deed BVP2

g)‘;‘;e”y X - EXEMPT

Current Owner Property Location

DOVER CITY OF, THE, 115 NEW ST

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning C2 Acres .08
Additional Owner

Sub-Division

| Sales History || || | [Liv.Sq.Ft  |[.0000 |
| Date | l Price l | Assessment | |T0tal Rooms | r |
| 1231715 || 1/|[Land | 5,400 Bedrooms || \
| 12/04/08 || 58,218/ [Buildings || ~ |[FulBath || |
| || | Total || 5,400 Half Bath || |
lBase Tax Due | | .00| ILast Billing Detail | lHistoryl IFarm Info ‘
tl"ax Penalty | | .OO|

[Total Tax Bal. || .00

‘Sewer Balance | | .OO[ |Sewer Account # | [ l I ’
INeighborhood # 1100200 ||Coordinates || 110468200 E 0422007 N |
ILand Use || | Lot Dimensions || 1[0000033.50 0000121.00 |
ILiving Units || | [School District |18 ]lcAPITOL |
Class | Residen | |Fire District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
IPlat Book Pg [100000  ||Sewer District |00 |[NONE |
[Topography |[Level  ||Ambulance District |[46  ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
|Street or Road | [Paved | |Trash District | | | l |

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



@'(ﬁlﬁﬂg | Residen | [Light District || ||
|Impr0vement | [VACANTI ICommissioner Dist | |OO | |
| \ | [Tax Ditches | INONE ||
L IMPROVEMENT KEY |

|MANUF HM] |Manufactured Home I
|MANUFCC I ‘Manufactured Home Class C Assessmentl
IMNFHMRT | Manufactured Home Retired Title |

Property Description
E SD SNEW ST BETWEEN
REED & LOOCKERMAN STS
115 SOUTH NEW STREET

Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Ad,j.
Style Fire Places Design

I | | Type | IPercentaggI [ Type | |Percentag§
IExt. Walls | | J |O | | J |0 |
[Roof Cover || 10 || o |
lFloor Cover I l —| lO | | [ lO J
[Heat/Cool || |0 I |0 ]
IPlaster Int. | L | |0 J | | | |
[Foundation _|| | I || |
[Sub-floor || _ | | | i

Y/N| |Unfinished Easement Living Rec Room

rea
Basement _J[_J0____ [ [o——
| || Type JLSq.Feet || Wall || Floor J
(Garage1 || I8 | | |
Garage2 || 10 | | i
[Bas Gar /| | [NO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA |0 || ] |
[Porch 2 |INO DATA |0 || I |
History
Dimensions 0X0

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

g %) N

: — ==
‘ 9
[ KENT CQUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING SERVICES
st GI8 CIVISION -302-T44-2418

[ EEE BAY ROAD, DOVER, CE 15301
LRV
&

403

THIS KAF IS NOT SURVEY ACCURATE CRFOR
Il‘ ENGINEERING USE AND: IS SUBJECT TO FERIOCIC CHANGES

A Lt | b=

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-02



A G T

Image capture: oct2012  ©201 6 Google

Dover, Delaware

Street View - Oct 2012

e.com/maps/plac... 2016-09-09

https://WWW .googl



Page 1 of 1

5t
—~—

=
= P o -]
Auto Plus/AutolRartsHe

_GoyernorstAvey

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 50 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/@3... 2017-08-04



KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

Page 1 of 3

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information
Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card # 1 of 1
Location ID 74781 xs‘l‘r’lber 2-05-06700-03-0701-00001
Tax ID Deed BVP O 0053 0265
Parcel ID 73861 Deed BVP2
lé‘;‘(’il;e”y X - EXEMPT
Current Owner Property Location
DOVER CITY OF, 1586 MCKEE RD
PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904
DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning R15 Acres
Additional Owner
Sub-Division
’ Sales History } | | ‘ | ILiv.Sq.Ft | |.OOOO l
l Date I Price || Assessment | [Total Rooms || |
| 0/00/00 ] 0| [Land I | Bedrooms | B |
| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || |[Full Bath || |
| I || Total || |[Half Bath || |
IBase Tax Due I l .09‘ !Last Billing Detail | !I—Iistorv‘ IFarm Info |
[Tax Penalty I 00|
[Total Tax Bal, || 00|
[Sewer Balance || 00| [Sewer Account # [l || |
[Neighborhood #  ]{00212  ||Coordinates I ||0457585 E 0432300N |
ILand Use IR | [Lot Dimensions || || |
ILiving Units || | ISchool District |18 ||cApIiTOL |
Class  |[Exempt ||Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Plat Book Pg I | Sewer District [0 |[NONE \
[Topography |No Data ||Ambulance District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Street or Road |[No Data | [Trash District | | \ I |

I

I

I | I

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



[Fronting |[No Data | [Light District || ||
|Impr0vement ] |VACANT| |C0mmissioner Dist | |OO —| |
] || | [Tax Ditches | INONE ||
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |

|MANUF HM| IManufactured Home |
IMANUFCC |[Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
|MNFHMRT | |Manufactured Home Retired Title |

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Property Description
W SD CO RD 156
0.620 AC
1586 MCKEE ROAD
Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Ad,j.
Style Fire Places Design
| | | Type | |Percentage| | Type I |Percentage‘
[Ext. Walls || 10 || 0 |
IRoof CoverJ | I |O | | ‘ |O ]
IFloor Cover ] | J @ | ( | |O |
[Heat/Cool || HIC \ 1o |
lPlaster Int. J | \ \0 | [ | I |
[Foundation l | | | | l | | |
[Sub-floor || | | | |
Y/N||Unfinished iasement Living Rec Room
rea
[Basement |[ ][0 o 0 |
| J [ Type \ l Sq.Feet I | Wall l | Floor l
Garage1 || It | | |
Garage2 | o | I |
[Bas Gar | | [NO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA | |0 || | |
IPorch 2 |INO DATA | [0 || | |
History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



LS

A RS
KENT COUNTY CEFARTMENT CF FLANMING SERVICES
GIS CIVISION - 302-T44-2416

EER BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 12501

Page 1 of 1

R
R A )
. 1) ¥ | R
Bhiow, - e =
0104

THIS MAF 18 NOT SURVEY ACCURATE OR FCR
ENGIMEERING USE AND 18 SUBJECT TO FERICLIC CHANG

TEG
> Eo

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire...

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

Go .gle Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 100 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/(@3... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 3

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information
Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card #1 of 1
Location ID 9217 ;’[‘;‘;’1 ber | 2-05-07710-02-1500-00001
Tax ID 9217 Deed BVP D 7527 0323 D 0508 0222
Parcel ID 8004 Deed BVP2
CroPerty X . EXEMPT
Current Owner Property Location
DOVER CITY OF, THE, 423 COLLINS DR
PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19901
DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning RG1 Acres .16
Additional Owner
Sub-Division CAPITOL GREEN
B Sales History || || | [Liv.Sq.Ft  |[0000 \
| Date || Price || Assessment | [Total Rooms | | |
| 22315 | 1| [Land || 3,200 [Bedrooms || |
| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || |[Full Bath || l
| I | [Total I 3,200| [Half Bath || |
|Base Tax Due | | .00| ILast Billing Detail | IHistoryI IFarm Info |
[Tax Penalty || 00|
[Total Tax Bal. || .00
[Sewer Balance \ 00| [Sewer Account # || \ |
INeighborhood # 1100200 ||Coordinates || | 0471732 E 0420221 N |
[Land Use || | [Lot Dimensions || 110000055.00 0000118.57 |
[Living Units || | [School District |18 ||cAPITOL |
Class | Residen | |Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
IPlat Book Pg 11003 00124/ [Sewer District {00 |[NONE |
[Topography |[Level  ||Ambulance District |[46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
|Street or Road | |Paved I [Trash District ] | | | |
| I I I I |

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



Page 2 of 3

[Fronting | Residen ||[Light District | ||
lImprovement I |VACANT} lCommissioner Dist ’ |OO | |
| | | [Tax Ditches | INONE | |
[ IMPROVEMENT KEY |
|MANUF HM| Mmufactured Home ‘
IMANUFCC |Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
lMNFHMRT | lManufactured Home Retired Title |
Property Description
CAPITOL GREEN
SEC 2A LOT 44

423 COLLINS DRIVE

Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design

I | | Type | [Percentage' | Type I |Percentage|
[Ext. Walls || |8 | 0 |
IRoof Cover || I8 || I0 \
[Floor Cover ] | | |0 | | | ‘O |
!Heat/Cool | | | |0 ] | \ IO |
lPlaster Int. J | | |0 J | —| | }
[Foundation || | | | |
[Sub-floor __ || | | L |

Y/N| |Unfinished iasement Litving Rec Room

rea
Basement Il o |0 10 |
I H Type || Sq.Feet JI Wall |r Floor |
Garage1 || |0 | | l
Garage2 || I | | |
[Bas Gar || |[NO DATA|[NO DATA|[NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |[NO DATA |0 1 I |
[Porch 2 |INO DATA | |0 || | |
History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

|I - - 1. Il
(ENT COUNTY DEFARTMENT CF PLANNING SERVICES 08

GIS DIVISICON - 302-744-2418 :
15201 . -

EEE BAY ROAL, DOVER, DE 15
. v W

- 23 f’_,_,_,-"‘ —o—) 2

oy

&

2017-08-02

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire...



Page 1 of 1

Go gle Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 50 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/@3... 2017-08-04



KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

Page 1 of 3

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information
Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 1
Location ID 74799 g’{i‘;’lber 2-05-07608-06-3400-00001
Tax ID Deed BVP A 0052 0119
Parcel ID 73879 Deed BVP2
Croperty X - EXEMPT
Current Owner Property Location
DOVER CITY OF, 11 KIRKWOOD ST
PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19901
DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning RG1 Acres
Additional Owner
Sub-Division COMEGYS LOTS
| Sales History | I |[Liv.Sq.Ft  |[.0000 |
‘ Date | | Price | | Assessment | mtal Rooms | | ‘
| 0/00/00 | r Ol |fand | | ‘ IBedrooms | | |
| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || |[Full Bath || |
{ || | [Total I | Half Bath || |
\Base Tax Due | 1 .00| !Last Billing Detail | [History| !Farm Info ‘
ﬁ"ax Penalty | [ 00|
[Total Tax Bal. I 00|
[Sewer Balance || 00| [Sewer Account # [ || |
[Neighborhood #  ][00214  ||Coordinates || 0467325 E 0422400 N |
ILand Use \ | [Lot Dimensions | | || |
ILiving Units || | [School District |[18  ||cApITOL |
[Class | Exempt | [Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
IPlat Book Pg I | [Sewer District |00 ||NONE |
[Topography |INo Data ||Ambulance District |46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Street or Road |[No Data | [Trash District || || |
| I I 11 I |
http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



[Fronting |[No Data | |Light District || ||
|Im'pr0vement | MCANT| |C0mmissi0ner Dist | IOO | |
| | | [Tax Ditches | INONE | |
\ IMPROVEMENT KEY |
|MANUF HMI |Manufactured Home |
IMANUFCC |[Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
E\/INFHMRT | lManufactured Home Retired Title I
Property Description

E. SIDE S.KIRKWOOD
ST., 6,000 SQ.FT.

Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design

| | | Type [ IPercentagel | Type l lPercentage|
[Ext. Walls || | || 10 |
|Roof Cover | r | |0 l | | |O |
[Floor Cover || IO \ |0 |
[Heat/Cool || |0 I I0 |
Plaster Int. || 10 || \ '
[Foundation _ || | | | |
[Sub-floor || | | | |

Y/N| [Unfinished iasement Living Rec Room

rea
|Basement J r | |O —I |O | |0 I
| || Type || Sq.Feet || Wall || Floor |
Garage1 || 0 | | |
(Garage2 || I | | |
[Bas Gar I |INO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA | [0 || I |
[Porch2  |[NODATA|0 \ I |
History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 3

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 1

Location ID 12748 1;1’[31’ 2-05-07608-06-2800-00001
umber

Tax ID 12748 Deed BVP D 0580 0326

Parcel ID 24286 Deed BVP2

Property

Code X - EXEMPT

Current Owner Property Location

DOVER CITY OF, 37 KIRKWOOD ST

PO BOX 475 DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19903 Zoning RG1 Acres

Additional Owner

Sub-Division COMEGYS LOTS

l Sales History | ] | l | IEV.Sq.Ft | |.0000 ‘

[ Date || Price || Assessment | [Total Rooms || |

| 00000 | 0| [Land /| | Bedrooms || |

| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || |[Full Bath || |

| I | [Total I |[Half Bath || \

|Base Tax Due

.OO! ILast Billing Detail | lﬁistowl IFarm Info |

[Tax Penalty

00|

[Total Tax Bal.

00|

[Sewer Balance

.OO| |Sewer Account # | \ | | ‘

INeighborhood # 1100214 ||Coordinates I 10467410 E 0422207 N |
[Land Use I | I |L0t Dimensions I | | | |
ILiving Units I | [School District |18 |lcapiTOL |
Class | Exempt | |[Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Plat Book Pg 100000 |[Sewer District |0 |[NONE |
[Topography |[Level  ||Ambulance District |[46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Street or Road | Paved

[

I

| [Trash District | | |
[ [ I l

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



4 |Fr0nting ‘ ’ lResiden | ILight District | [ ] |
‘Improvement | |VACANT’ |C0mmissi0ner Dist l IOO | |
| | | | |Tax Ditches | |NONE | |
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |
‘MANUF HM| [Manufactured Home |
IMANUFCC |[Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
[MNFHMRT | |Manufactured Home Retired Title I
Property Description
LOT ON 37 S. KIRKWOOD
ST., DOVER
Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design
‘ l | Type ‘ |Percentage| I Type ‘ |Percentage|
[Ext. Walls || 0 || o J
IRoof Cover | | I ‘O | [ | IO \
[Floor Cover ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘O | ’ | {0 |
[Heat/Cool || |0 || o |
|Plaster Int. l | | \0 | | | l |
Foundation ]| I I I |
[Sub-floor | | | | |
Y/N| [Unfinished) | D2Sement Living \1p . Room
Area
{Basement | \ l |O | |O | \O |
l l | Type | \ Sq.Feet | | Wall | | Floor |
Garage1 || 0 | | |
Garage2 || |8 | || |
[Bas Gar \ |INO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA |0 I || |
IPorch 2 |INO DATA | [0 I I |
History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 2 of 3

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

\ 4 \ ~ 42t

KENT COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING SERVICES
GIS CIVISION - 302-T44-2418
EES BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 15501

THIS MAP [E NOT SURVEY ACCURATE OR FCR
ENGINEERING USE ANL 1S EUBJECT TO PERICCIC CHANGES

v e .

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

GIS DIVISION - 302-T44-2416
EEE BAY RCAD, DOVER, DE 12501

= N

‘ THIS AP |& NOT SURVEY ACCURATE CRFCR
k ENGINEERING USE AND IS SUBJECT TO PERICCIC CHANGES

SUR CHE g g TEGE

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

Google Maps

s

&
Division.&

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 50 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/@3... 2017-08-04



Page 1 of 1

(Gogle Maps

Imagery ©2017 Google, Map data ©2017 Google  United States 20 ft

https://www.google.com/maps/@3... 2017-08-04



KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

Page 1 of 9

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information
Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card#1 of 4
Location ID 8638 %“p 2-05-07612-02-3900-00001
umber

Tax ID 8638 Deed BVP D 4987 0272 C 0047 0177
Parcel ID 14466 Deed BYP2

Croperty  p.PROPERTY

Current Owner Property Location

DOWNTOWN DOVER PARTNERSHIP, CO 680 FOREST ST

15 LOOCKERMAN STREET PLAZA DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19901 Zoning [0 Acres
Additional Owner
Sub-Division

| Sales History | I |ILiv.Sq.Ft  |[0000 |

I Date \ Price | Assessment | [Total Rooms || |

| 0/00/00 || 650,000| [Land I 17,800) | | |

| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || 163,300 [FULL Bath || |

| I | Total L 188.100]| | |

| | _||Tax Value || 188,100|| || |
[Base Tax Due B |[Last Billing Detail | [History] | \
lTax Penalty ] | .OOl

[Total Tax Bal. || 422548

’Sewer Balance ’ l .00] ’Sewer Account # J L , l | I
INeighborhood # 1100299 | [Coordinates || (0466811 E 0421554 N |
[Fronting ~ |NoData  |[Lot Dimensions I 110000222.15 0000214.00 |
Improvement | [IMPROVED) |School District |18 ||cAPITOL |
Class | |Commerc | |Fire District |46 |ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER) |
‘Appraised By | |SR | lSewer District | @ | |NONE I
[Topography |[NoData  ||[Ambulance District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER) |
I I I I [ i

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



Page 2 of 9

[MH Model | | [Trash District I || |
IMH Color || | ILight District il I |
IMH Manuf. ] | [Tax Ditches | INONE || |
[MH Serial # L | I |
| IMPROVEMENT KEY |
IMANUF HM| Manufactured Home |
|MANUFCC I |Manufactured Home Class C Assessment|
Property Description

INT. LINCOLN & FORREST
STS.,#1-34,516 SQ.FT.
#2-8,631 SQ. FT.

680 FOREST ST

Building 1 Building 2

Building 1 Building 2

Year Built 1978 Roof Cover

Building Type Commerc Roof Type

Building SqFt Flooring

Building Class Floor Cover

Building Perim Fixture Ad

Basement Type Elevators

Basement SqFt Features

Stories Ext.Cond./B>

Height Int.Cond.

Heat/Cool Int.Finish

Heat Fuel Foundation

Air Cond.%
| OUTBUILDINGS |
| Type/Dimn | | Description | | Type/Dimn | | Description l
ICPAVASPHO || | |CFENCOW W6 | |
ICOVRDOORMT || | I |

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card # 2 of 4
Location ID 8638 %‘:lflber 2-05-07612-02-3900-00002
Tax ID 8638 Deed BVP D 4987 0272 C 0047 0177

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



Page 3 of 9
Parcel ID 14466 Deed BVP2

COPETY p.PROPERTY

Current Owner Property Location

DOWNTOWN DOVER PARTNERSHIP, CO 680 FOREST ST

15 LOOCKERMAN STREET PLAZA DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19901 Zoning 10 Acres

Additional Owner

Sub-Division

| Sales History || || |ILiv.Sq.Ft  |[4,880.0000 |

l Date I | Price | ] Assessment | lTotal Rooms | |6 |

| 6/03/09 || 650,000| [Land || | Bedrooms |2 ]

| 0/00/00 || 0| Buildings || 71,800] [Full Bath  |[3 [

| || | [Total || 71,800 [Half Bath |2 |
[Base Tax Due || 4,225.48| |[Last Billing Detail | |[History| [Farm Info |
[Tax Penalty \ 00|

[Total Tax Bal. || 4,225.48

[Sewer Balance || 00| [Sewer Account # || BB |
INeighborhood # 1100299  ||Coordinates I |l0466811 E 0421554 N |
[Land Use o | |Lot Dimensions || ]/0000222.15 0000214.00 |
ILiving Units | INO |[School District |18  ||cAPITOL |
Class | [Unassig | [Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)
Plat Book Pg | | Sewer District o0 |[NONE |
lTopogmphy | INo Data J |émbulance District J |ﬂ_| |ROBBINS HOSE (DOVE}ﬂ
[Street or Road | INo Data | [Trash District || [l B
lFronting l INo Data J IEight District ] I | l |
[Improvement | [IMPROVEQ Igommissioner Dist | |OO ] | —|
| I | [Tax Ditches |[NONE || |
l IMPROVEMENT KEY |

[MANUF HMI B\/Ianufactured Home |
IMANUFCC |[Manufactured Home Class C Assessment]
’MNFHMRT I |Manufactured Home Retired Title |

Property Description
INT. LINCOLN & FORREST

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



STS.#1-34,516 SQ.FT.
#2-8,631 SQ. FT.

Page 4 of 9

680 FOREST ST
Year Built 2009 Type Commerc Energy Adj. NO DATA
Style 1-Story Fire Places Design Other
| \ | Type | |Percentage| l Type | lPercentagel
[Ext. Walls | |Aluminu |0 |INO DATA | |0 |
[Roof Cover | [NO DATA |0 |[NO DATA] 0 |
[Floor Cover |[NO DATA |0 |[INO DATA|[0 |
[Heat/Cool  ||AirCon || |INO DATA| [0 |
IPlaster Int. | | 10 || 4‘ | |
[Foundation |[NO DATA || [ || |
[Sub-floor  |[NO DATA || || || |
Y/N| |Unfinished SERAL AR Rec Room
Area
[Basement || N |[0 Il 1o |
| || Type | | Sq.Feet || Wall || Floor |
[Garage 1 |[INO DATA| |0 (000 |[NO DATA |
Garage2  |INO DATA]|[0 |INO DATA |[NO DATA |
[Bas Gar |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |INO DATA|[108 |INO DATA | [NO DATA |
[Porch 2 |INO DATA]| [0 |INO DATA||NO DATA |
History NO DATA
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type
Skirting Lin Ft 0
Tip Out Sq Ft 0
Serial Number
Manufacturer
Model
Color
| OUTBUILDINGS |
| Type/Dimn | | Description | | Type/Dimn | l Description

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

2017-08-02



Page S of 9
PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card #3 of 4
Location ID 8638 K’“" ‘ 2-05-07612-02-3900-00003
umber

Tax ID 8638 Deed BVP D 4987 0272 C 0047 0177
Parcel ID 14466 Deed BVP2

croperty  p. PROPERTY

Current Owner Property Location

DOWNTOWN DOVER PARTNERSHIP, CO 680 FOREST ST

15 LOOCKERMAN STREET PLAZA DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19901 Zoning 10 Acres
Additional Owner

Sub-Division

[ Sales History || || |ILiv.Sq.Ft  |14,880.0000 |

| Date || Price || Assessment [[Total Rooms | (6 |

| 6/03/09 || 650,000 [Land [ |[Bedrooms |2 |

| 0/00/00 || 0| |Buildings || 71,800| [Full Bath |3 |

| [ ~ |[rotal I 71,800|[Half Bath | |
[Base Tax Due || 4.225.48][Last Billing Detail | History| [Farm Info |
|’l‘ax Penalty I I .OOI

[Total Tax Bal. [[ 422548

[Sewer Balance | 00| [Sewer Account # | H |
[Neighborhood #  |[00299 | [Coordinates ] |10466811 E 0421554 N |
[Land Use [lo | Lot Dimensions I 1/0000222.15 0000214.00 |
Living Units [INO | [School District |18 |lcapiTOL |
[Class | | [Fire District |46  ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
IPlat Book Pg ] l I LSewer District J 00 | lNONEi I
[Topography |[NoData  ||Ambulance District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Street or Road l INo Data | l’l‘rash District ] | ] [ ]
lFronting J INO Data l Eight District I [ j l ]
[Improvement | IMPROVED] [Commissioner Dist |00 1 |
| ] | Tax Ditehes | INONE] | ]
[ IMPROVEMENT KEY | ‘

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



[MANU F l-lM] {Mumlﬁlclurcd Home j
IMANU F(‘(;I Munuthclured Home Class C /\sscssmcnl]
[MNFHM RT ] [I\'lamll‘uclured Home Retired Title ]

Property Description
INT. LINCOLN & FORREST
STS..#1-34.516 SQ.FT.
#2-8,631 SQ. I'T.

680 FOREST ST

Year Built 2009 Type Commerc Energy Adj. NO DATA
Style 1-Story Fire Places Design Other
] J [ Type ] [Pcrcentagc” Type Hl’crccntagc]
[Ext. Walls | |Aluminu ][0 |INODATA]|0 |
IRoof Cover  |[NO DATA |0 |INO DATA||0

|Floor Cover;] IN() DATA I [O

|[NO DATA {0

(Heat/Cool

|[Air Con ][0 |INODATA][0

|Plaster Int.

[Foundation

|INO DATA || I I

@xb—ﬂoor

|
|
|
1] I | IL i
l
INODATAJ[ | I |

Y/N| [Unfinished] [D2S¢ment Living | [p .. Room

Area
[Basement || N o lo [0 l
I JI Type jqu.Feet H Wall || Floor I
(Garage 1 |[NO DATA|[0 ] looo |INODATA |

|INO DATA]| |0 |INO DATA|[NO DATA |

| [NO DATA |[NO DATA | [NO DATA | [NO DATA |

| [INO DATA| 108 |INO DATA|{NO DATA |

|[INO DATA][0 |[NO DATA|INO DATA |

Garage 2
IBas Gar 7
[Porch 1
@rch 2
History NO DATA
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

Skirting Lin Ft 0
Tip Out Sq Ft 0
Serial Number
Manufacturer
Model

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

Page 6 of 9

2017-08-02



Page 7 of 9

Color

| OUTBUILDINGS |

[ Type/Dimn —] | Description ] | Type/Dimn H Description ]

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card #4 of 4
Location ID 8638 ]’:':l:’“m 2-05-07612-02-3900-00004
Tax 1D 8638 Deed BVP D) 4987 0272 C 0047 0177
Parcel ID 14466 Deed BVP2

g‘:l'le”y P - PROPERTY

Current Owner Property Location

DOWNTOWN DOVER PARTNERSHIP, CO 680 FOREST ST

15 LOOCKERMAN STREET PLAZA DOVER , DE 19904

DOVER, DE 19901 Zoning 10 Acres
Additional Owner
Sub-Division

| Sales History || I  |[Liv.Sq.Ft  |}4.880.0000 |

[ Date ” Price H Assessment HT otal Rooms ”6 |

| 6/03/09 || 650,000| |Land i |Bedrooms |2 |

[ 0m00/00 || 0| [Buildings || 71,800| [Full Bath  |[3 |

| [l |ITotal i 71,800| [Half Bath  |]2 B
[Base Tax Due H 4,225.@] [Last Billing Detail Hl iistory] [Furm Info [
[Tax Penalty 1l 00|

[Total Tax Bal. || 4.225.48

Sewer Balance I I @] [Sewer Account # l L I [ I
[Neighborhood # 100299 | |Coordinates || |l0466811 E 0421554 N |
ILand Use [0 | |Lot Dimensions 1| |10000222.15 0000214.00 |
[Living Units |INO | [School District {18  ||[CAPITOL |
Class il | [Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
ﬂlt Book Pg [l | [Sewer District ] 00 | INONE |
[Topography |[No Data  ||Ambulance District |46 |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Street or Road |INo Data | [Trash District ] |——| | |
[Fronting |[No Data | [Light District il 1 |
ﬁ I 10 I I |

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin... 2017-08-02



Page 8 of 9

Property Description
INT. LINCOLN & FORREST
STS..#1-34,516 SQ.FT.
#2-8,631 SQ. I'T.

680 FOREST ST

Year Built 2009 Type Commerc Energy Adj.
Style 1-Story Fire Places Design Other

NO DATA

' H Type Jll’crcentach 'l‘ypeJ[Perccntagc]

[Ext. Walls  ||Aluminu |0

~ |INO DATA[0 |

[Roof Cover  |[NO DATA |0

~ |[NODATA| |0

[Floor Cover ||[NO DATA [0

|
|[NO DATA|[0 |

[Heat/Cool  ||Air Con [0 |INO DATA | [0 |
[Plastcr Int. ] | ] lO I [ ] l J
[Foundation  |[NO DATA || Il || |
[Sub-floor ~ |[NO DATA]| [ Il ]

Y/N||Unfinished

Basement Living
Areca

Rec Room

[Basement || N |[0 (o

| |

| [[ Type ][ Sq.Feet |[ Wall |[ Floor |

(Garage 1 [[NO DATA | [0

[[000  |INODATA |

IGarage2  |[NO DATA|[0

~ |[NO DATA||NO DATA |

[Bas Gar | INO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |

Porch 1 |[NO DATA|[108

|INO DATA |[NO DATA |

[Porch 2 |INO DATA | |0

|[NO DATA |[NO DATA |

History NO DATA

Dimensions 0X0

Skirting Type

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bin...

llmprovcmcnt J |HV11-’R()VII€I,’)| |C0mmissioncr Dist ]k)() ] | |
! || |[Tax Ditches | INONE || ]
l IMPROVEMENT KEY ]
u\l/}NUF HM| [Manufactured Home ]
[MANUFCC HManufactured Home Class C Asscssn]cnq
IMNFHMRT | [Manufactured Home Retired Title |

2017-08-02



Page 1 of 1

i

KENT CCUNTY DEFARTY ENT CF PLANNING SERVICES
CIS CIVISION -3022-744-24°¢C

- BE8 BAY RCAL, COVER DE *280°

-l

]

I"S-"

LINCOLN $1

'——'—‘—'_'_—_—'_F—'—dﬁl JRLLE 22
1
680
R
03
]
1 ¢ RURIY
l. %
12
@
pa _fls:r -
. -
& i
222
—Wo

ENGINEERING USE AND 18 SUBJECT TC FERIODIC CHANGES
o

{ THIS M &P IS NOT SURVEY MCCURATE CRFOR

[KiE

http://co.kent.de.us/arcgis/rest/dire... 2017-08-02



Page | of 3

KENT COUNTY, DELAWARE

555 Bay Road, Dover, Delaware 19901-3615
(302) 744-2300 -- FAX (302) 736-2279

"Serving Kent County With Pride"

PROPERTY INFORMATION

Planning and Building Permits Information

Reference # ED EAST DOVER HUNDRED Card #1 of |
Location ID 8170 Map Number 2-05-07614-01-0700-00001

Tax ID 8170 Deed BVP D 6098 0171 D 4421 0001 D 2207 0055

Parcel ID 18748 COPETY P PROPERTY

Current Owner Property Location

RES-DATA LLC AND SSS-DATA LLC, 1351 NORTH ST

150 ONIX DRIVE DOVER , DE 19904

KENNETT SQ, PA 19348 Zoning IPM Acres 5.00
Additional Owner

Sub-Division

[ Sales History il [l |ILiv.sq.Ft  |[.0000 |
ﬁ Date J[ Price H Assessment HTotal Rooms H ]

[ 2m1/12 || 10| |Land | 96,000/ [Bedrooms || ]
[ 41708 | | [Buildings || 22,800| [Full Bath || ]

[ | || Total [ 118,800 [Half Bath || l
[Base Tax Due || 00| [Last Billing Detail | [History| [Farm Info |
fl“ax Penalty l | .OOI

iTotal Tax Bal. I r .06l

[gwer Balance i 00| [Sewer Account # i [ |
INeighborhood # {00299 | |Coordinates i |[0461165 E 0419500N |
ILand Use I | ILot Dimensions | |[0000002.00 |
ILiving Units || | |School District |18 ]lcApiTOL ]
[Class ~ |[Unassig  ||Fire District |46 ||ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
[Plat Book Pg |[0122 0087 ||Sewer District [100  |INONE |
[Topography |[No Data  ||{Ambulance District |46  |[ROBBINS HOSE (DOVER)|
Street or Road ~ |[NoData |[Trash District i il |
lFronting ] INo Data I lLight District ] |_’——| I ) .]
[Improvement l IIMPROVEDI lCommissioner Dist ~] |2ND l | |
r I ] LB {5 1

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bi... 2017-02-13



| |

|[Tax Ditches |[INONE ||

Page 2 of 3

[ IMPROVEMENT KEY |

IMANUF H MI IManufacth'cd Home I

IMANUFCC |[Manufactured Home Class C Assessment|

[MN FHMRT | IManu factured Home Retired Title I

Property Description
N. SD. HAZLETTVILLE
RD., 5.0104 A.

1351 W NORTH ST

Year Built Type NO DATA Energy Adj.
Style Fire Places Design

[ J | Type HPercentageI r Type J IPercentagel
[Ext. Walls || o || [lo ]
[Roof Cover _ || o I IE |
[F loor Cover | l ] |0 ] [ j IO J
[Heat/Cool || |0 | lo ]
IPlaster Int. ] | | [O —| [ | I ]
[Foundation J [ I [ J ‘ ] I I
Sub-floor || I I | l

Y/N| Unfinished /liz;zt;ment Living Rec Room
[Basement || ][0 o o l
[ ] |  Type || Sq.Feeu | Wwall | I Floor |
Garage1 || |C I I |
(Garage2 || _lfo I I !
[Bas Gar || | INO DATA |[NO DATA |[NO DATA |
[Porch 1 |[NO DATA]f0 1 || ]
[lPorch2  |[NODATA||0 || | |

History
Dimensions 0X0
Skirting Type

Skirting Lin Ft 0
Tip Out Sq Ft 0

http://kent400.co.kent.de.us/cgi-bi...

2017-02



EXHIBIT #4
Regular Council Meeting of 08/14/2017
Page 1 of 12

Places to Stay

If you're looking for tiny house parking, searching for a community, or want to
try out a tiny house for a few nights, then you've come to the right place. Below
are links to short-term and permanent tiny house sites. If you know of a place
that isn't listed, please contact us to have it added.

If you're interested in starting a community, rather than joining one, please go
to the Start a Community page.




Page 2 of 12

Note: In most areas, it's against zoning regulations to live in a tiny house on its own land, either because
camping on one's own land isn't permitted or because one can't have a tiny house without also having an
approved primary (larger) dwelling on the property. Most readily available spots for living in a tiny home
are in the backyard of larger home, in an RV park, or in an existing community or eco-village. See the lists

below.

Need more details on zoning or how to find a place to park in your local area? Please see FAQ), where 1o

five.

Tiny House Parking

L.ooking for a place to park your tiny house? Or do you have land to rent or a community to share? Check
out the imaps!

Complete the form for parking wanted or parking offered to add your listing - it's free. The maps are
updated nightly.

Below are towns & counties that allow living in a tiny house on
wheels (either in a backyard or on your own land).  For building a

tiny house on a foundation, please see the Zoning page.

« California: Several counties in Califorma allow a tiny house on wheels in a
backyard if it is a caregiver cottage.

= Fresno, CA allows a tiny house on wheels in a backyard without requiring f
it to be a caregiver cottage.

s Kentucky: Pulaksi county allows a tiny house on wheels on your own land.

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 3 of 12

=% Maine: North Yarmouth and Richmond allow a tiny house on wheels on
your own land.

=% Massachusetts: Nantucket voters approved tiny houses on wheels on
private property. Tiny houses must conform to building code, except that
they may be on trailers. The article is waiting for review by the Attorney
General.

= Oklahoma: UNincorporated areas of Logan County allow a tiny house on
wheels on your own land.

= South Carolina: Aiken County allows tiny houses on wheels on their own
land. The lot must be at least 2 acres and 50 feet from a public road.

« Texas: Spur, TX allows tiny houses on wheels on their own land outside
city limits.

Communities, USA

Searching for a specific location? Find communities on the map * =

1. Arizona: LuxTiny Community in Pinetop-Lakeside is on 6 acres not far from Scott’s Reservoir, Rainbow
Lake and Show Low Lake. There will be 45 spaces for rent for $329-$359 per month.

2. California: The Lavra is an international community in rural California, between San Luis Obispo and
Arroyo Grande, that participates in farming activities. Monthly rent is $450.

3. California: Lemon Cove Village in northern CA is a tiny house community that had transitioned from an
RV park. Lot rent: $450 to $595 per month, including the common area fee.

4. California: Ingenium Expressive Arts Village is a residential property in Nevada City that will house six
expressive artists and their families. Homes will be small (450 and 800 square feet) rather than tiny.
Anticipated opening in the fall of 2017.

5. Colorado: Sprout Tiny Homes is developing communities in Walsenburg and Salida.

6. Colorado: Whispering Aspen Village in Fairplay is the start of a tiny house village sponsored by tiny
house RV manufacturers. Lots cost $29,900 to $39,900. Contact Brandy Brown at 719-373-9864.

7. DC: Boneyard Studios was a tiny house showcase from 2012 to mid 2014. Currently, only one tiny
house is located at the original site and is operating under the name Micro Showcase. Two of the tiny
houses have retained the name, Boneyard Studios, but are living in separate locations in/around DC. The
other tiny house is in Palmetto, FL.

8. Florida: A tiny house community has been approved by the city of Rockledge. Plans are underway for
both tiny houses on wheels and foundations.

9. Florida: In Okeechobee, Gracious Tiny House Park is a year-round, pet-friendly, waterfront tiny house
community/RV park along L.ake Okeechobee. Rent is $385/month plus electric. Includes water & sewer

hookups. ’fo*

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 4 of 12

10. Florida: Orlando Lakefront at College Park is a lakefront, year-round tiny house community/RV park in
Orlando. Elaine's tiny home was there for two years (see the picture at the top of this page). If you'd like to
try tiny living there, you can reserve this AirBnB tiny house,

11.  Georgia: Green Bridge Farm in Guyton, GA is a sustainable community that accepts tiny houses. A
twenty year old organic farm is the center piece of the shared community space on this otherwise wooded
acreage. One-acre lots are for sale for $30,000 and $40,000. Smaller lots are available for rent for $300 per
month plus electricity.

12. Indiana: In north west Indiana on the Kankakee River, Lomax Tiny House Community has quarter acre
sites, well, septic, electric, hiking trails and more. This was designed as a high end, first class, gated
community for tiny houses on wheels. Lots are for sale or rent. Call Michael Anthony 574-275-2200 or email
archangelslanding@gmail.com

13. Indiana: Tiny houses are coming to Towering Pines Vineyard, an organic farm and learning center.

14. lowa: Tom Greene, is developing an eco-village, SoFair Farms. Membership is available, starting at
$22,000.

15. Michigan:Traverse Bay RV Resort in Williamsburg is host to Cottage Estates by Wheelhaus. Lots start at
$64,900; with a cottage (400 sq ft house) $229,000.

16. Minnesota: The Sanctuary Minnesota in Ogilvie is a tiny house community on 80 acres of woods and
trails, with two permanent houses ($400 per month) and six spots to park a tiny house on wheels ($300 per
month). In order to maintain the serenity of the property and balance with nature, The Sanctuary
Minnesota is an adult only community, and cats are the only pets allowed.

17. Montana: Truly Green Energy Worker's Cooperative Village in Yaak, Montana is an ecovillage with four
businesses and several tiny to almost tiny timber frame houses with a centrat dining hall and kitchen.

18.  Missouri: Dancing Rabbit is an intentional community with some tiny houses in Rutledge.

19. New Mexico: City of the Sun, near Columbus, NM, on the Mexico border, is an intentional community
that accepts tiny houses. Contact: Bob Cook at lifewithbob101@yahooc.com

20. New Mexico: A tiny house community & eco-resort, Caballos de las Estrellas, is under development in
Rodeo.

21. Nevada: Llamalopolis, also known as the Airstream Park, was created in the Fremont East District of
Las Vegas by Tony Hsieh, the CEO of Zappos. The community is composed of Tumbleweeds and Airstreams
which are inhabited by Tony's friends. New members and visitors are by invitation only.

22. North Carolina: Wildwoods Community Mini-Farm has broken ground for tiny homes and gardens in
Chapel Hill, NC.

23. North Carolina: The Village of Wildflowers in Flat Rock was founded on the belief that "smaller is
better” with many certified park model tiny homes for rent or purchase.

24. North Carolina: High Cove is an eco-village in Mitchell County that welcomes small and tiny houses.
The community has architectural and landscape guidelines as well as a homeowner's association. Half acre
lots start at $45,000.

25. North Carolina: Highland Lake Cove is an eco-village in Flat Rock that welcomes smail and tiny houses.
Land is available for lease.

26. North Carolina: John Williams is developing a tiny house community and ecovillage called Camp Tiny
House of the Triad in Kernersville.

27. Ohio: Lovare Homestead in De Graff is 7 acres of communal farm and orchard with room for 6 tiny
houses.

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 5 of 12

28. Oregon: Founded by Tony & Aline Diethelm, Ben Campbell, and Karin Parramore, Simply Home
Community is in Portland, and is the site of the Lucky Penny, Lina Menard's (Niche Consulting) tiny house.

29. Oregon: Lakeview Tall Town Tiny Village is a tiny house community forming from an old RV park. Lots
are 30x60 ft, available for purchase for $12,500 or for rent at $400 per month. Utilities are extra. Contact:
call john Cogar at 541-417-1143 or email TallTownTinyVillage@outlook.com.

30. Pennsylvania: Sharing Paradise is a private vacation community of five friends in Hawley.

31. Texas: Austin Live| Work is an innovative mixed-use 10 acre land development, half a mile from the
Circuit of the Americas, for tiny house entrepreneurs who want to live peacefully and work productively.

32. Texas: Sunconomy is building an eco-village of tiny houses in Wiliis, TX, at Healing Hands Ranch, which
as you can see below, aims to help transition folks to better circumstances. Sunconomy's homes will be
available to the general population, as well as to the residents of Healing Hands Ranch.

33. Vermont: Headwaters Garden & Learning Center in Cabot, VT, is an ecc-village that welcomes tiny
houses.

34, Washington: Chris and Malissa Tack have a tiny house collective centered around their larger home
and land in Puget Sound. With three tiny homes, they are at capacity (no room for more, sorry).

Communities, International

1. Australia: Wurruk'an is a humble but beautiful body of land, water, and forest in the Gunai district of
Gippsland, Victoria. In recent years it has become an inclusive gathering space for people seeking to
pioneer and demonstrate a simpler way of living based on permaculture principles. Several tiny houses are
in the community.

2. Canada: Bluegrass Meadows Micro Village near Terrace, British Columbia offers tiny houses for rent
from Hummingbird Micro Homes starting at $750 per month. For those who already own a tiny home, land
rent is $400/month.

3. Canada: Tiny Homes Simply Home Community - is in the planning stages in Abbotsford, British
Columbia.

4. Canada: Folks in Ontario are gathering to form Smart Communities,.
Canada: Andy Thomson is building a tiny house ecovillage in Mansfield, Quebec.
Canada: Habitat Multigenerations offers a varity of housing options in Laval, Quebec.

New Zealand: The eco-village Earthsong has one tiny house and may accept more.

© N o W

. United Kingdom: Tiny houses by the Wee House Company are joining the Chapelton developmentin
Seamill.

RV Parks, Rentals and Resorts

RV Parks: Tiny houses are slowing gaining acceptance in RV parks; an RVIA decal may be required. Some f
parks allow year round living, However, in cold climates, RV parks close in the winter, and in some warmer
states (such as CA), laws protecting tenants rights lead to RV parks limiting stays to six months. A few

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 6 of 12

communities (like Teton county, WY) restrict living in an RV to just 30 days. However, many parks in AZ, FL,
NM, and NV offer annual lease or purchase options. Learn more about fulltime RVing at Escapees RV Club,

« 1. Here's alist of RV parks that welcome tiny houses. Orlando Lakefront at College Park is a lakefront, year-
round RV Park/tiny house community in Orlando. My own tiny home was there for two years (see the picture at the

top of this page).

« 2. Purchase an RV lot: Some RV parks have lots for purchase. Monthly homeowner association fees may apply.
Be sure to explore whether there are any {ength of stay limits or closed seasons, as well as whether the park will

accept your tiny house, before purchasing a lot.

Short Term Rentals and Resorts:

*+ Air BnB is a great source for tiny house
overnight rentals, but finding them is easier
through Google than the AirBnB site. Go to
Google.com, copy this  site:airbnb.com "tiny
house” and paste into the search box.

* House Beautiful shares what they say are "The
Cutest Tiny House Rentals in Every Single State”.
* Another site for tiny house short term rentals is
Tiny House Vacations.

USA

% 1. Colorado: Garden of the God RV Resort in
Colorado Springs has a couple of Tumbleweed
tiny houses available for short stays.

Wee Casa, a tiny house hotel in Lyons.

% 2. Florida:
- AirBnB tiny house at the Orlando Lakefront Tiny
House Community & RV park.
- Tiny House Siesta offers vacation rentals in
Sarasota off of Siesta Key (walking distance to the
beach).

Contact Jeremy Ricci via

Jeremy@TinySiesta.com or call 941.4.SIESTA (941-
474-3782).

£ 3. Georgia: Live a Little Chatt offers four tiny
houses for overnight rent in Wildwood.

& 4, Maryland: Blue Moon Rising, an eco-tourist
retreat on Deep Creek Lake in western Maryland.
Cabins, most built by Hobbitat, are 275 to 400
square feet and can accommodate four people.

£ 5. New Hampshire: Getaway House from
Harvard's Millennial Housing Lab, offers three tiny
overnight cabins complete with a shower and
composting toilet, plus "getaway
provisions" (snacks, meals, and activities) for an
additional charge. Advertised as Boston, but
actually in New Hampshire.,

Armadilla cabin at Lochness Glamping, UK

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



&

>

»

6. New York: Getaway House from Harvard's
Millennial Housing Lab, offers hour tiny overnight
cabins complete with a shower and composting
toilet, plus "getaway provisions" {(snacks, meals,
and activities) for an additional charge in upstate
New York.

7. Oregon:

«p 1. Bay City: Sheltered Nook offers park model
RVs for short term stays.

= 2. Mt Hood: Mt. Hood Village, one of the
Thousand Trails RV Parks, offers a collection of five
Tumbleweed tiny houses for nightly rent.

«p 3. Portland: Caravan, the original tiny house
hotel

= 4. Portland: Portland Garden Cottages, in the
Mississippi Historic District of Portland, Oregon,
are sometimes available for rent. There are two,
each 364 square feet. Minimum stay: one month.

« 5. Portland: Tiny Digs, another tiny house hotel

8. Wyoming: Fireside Resort at Jackson Hole in
Wilson, Wyoming provides an opportunity to stay
over in a tiny house built by Wheethaus

International

>

v v ¥

1. Canada: Domaine Floravie, an offgrid resort
with tiny houses on wheels in Rimouski, Québec.

2. Canada: Esk-et Tiny House in British
Columbia.

3. France: La Roulotte de la Bastide de Marie, a
luxurious tiny caravan

4. lIreland, Northern: Finn Lough offers tiny
forest domes in Enniskillen, Northern Ireland.

5. Japan: Rainbow Serai Bungalow Inn
6. Mexico: Endemico

7. Netherlands: Strand Camping Groede, tiny,
modern cabins on the beach in the Netherlands.

8. United Kingdom: Ecopod Holidays in
Derbyshire

9. United Kingdom: Lochness Glamping - stay on
one of the adorable Armadillas in Inverness-shire.

10.  United Kingdom: Tinywood Homes in
Warwickshire

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl...

Page 7 of 12

4

2017-08-08



Page 8 of 12

Communities for Veterans in Need (by state)

Note: If you're interested in supporting this effort, please see the Mayors Challenge to End Veteran Homelessness
for helpful resources.

1. ¥Alabama: The men of Phi Kappa Psi at the University of Alabama in Huntsville have started
Foundations for Tomorrow to create a tiny home village for homeless veterans.

2. ¥California: Residence for Patriots has a vision of utilizing the tiny home movement to solve
homelessness and bring back community in the San Diego area. Contact: gcrane@resdpatriots.org,

3. ?Colorado: Heroes Home Colorado is raising funds for a community. Contact:
HeroesHomeCO@gmail.com

4. ¥Florida: In St. Pete, Celebrate Outreach is planning a tiny house community for veterans. Contact
George Bolden via concretesolutions@celebrateoutreach.org.

5. ¥Georgia: The Chatham-Savannah Homeless Authority is creating a community of 12 tiny homes for
veterans along with a possible additional 60 tiny houses for other homeless folks. A three-acre plot of land
was recently purchased for the community whose name is expected to be The Cove at Dundee.

6. ?lllinois: The VetsaVets Village in rural Williamson County, Illinois, is exclusively for veterans, families
of deployed troops, and families of those who lost their lives,

7. »Kentucky: Steve O'Bryan is working toward a tiny house community for veterans in Louisville, KY.

8. ¥Massachusetts: Carolyn Love Scalise is working on a tiny house community for veterans in Natick,
MA. Please contact me for her email address.

9. ¥Missouri: Veterans Community Project, founded by veterans Chris Stout, Kevin Jamison, and Mark
Solomon, has built its first tiny house at Veterans Village, a community intended to grow to 52 tiny houses
and a day outreach center on four acres of land on 89th and Troost in Kansas City. They plan to teach living
skills, provide case management and PTSD treatment to veterans that do not qualify for VA services or
consistently fail in other programs.

10.  ¥New Hampshire: Veteran Peter Macdondald is building the Veterans Resort Chapel and Tiny House
Community in Lee, NH.

11.  >*New Jersey: Amazing Grace Ministries in Franklinville is nearly done with the first four tiny homes in
their Operation Safe Haven community for veterans.

12, ¥Wisconsin: A tiny house community is under construction in Racine, sponsored by the Veterans
Outreach of Wisconsin. One tiny house is completed and 14 more planned, as part of the James A. Peterson
Veterans Village.

Communities for All People in Need (by country, then state,
then city)

4

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 9 of 12

Please watch this inspirational TEDx video, "Dream Big with Tiny Homes to End Homelessness" with Rev.
Dan Bryant, the executive director for Opportunity Village Eugene.

Here are tiny house communities for homeless folks, but if you're in need of sheiter and none of the
communities below is an option for you, please see the HUD's Homelessness Assistance page. As a last
resort, if you're in a rural area in a moderate climate, you might be interested in these instructions for
building a temporary shelter called a hexayurt, made from filament tape and foil faced insulation boards.
However, it's not warm enough to protect you in freezing temperatures.

Australia

1. »New South Wales: Tiny Homes Foundation - a tiny house community for the homeless is planned
for Gosford.

USA

2. 2california: 14 Forward provides 20 tiny houses as temporary dwellings for people in need in
Marysville, CA.

3. 2California: Cornerstone Villages, formerly known as LC Tiny Home Village, is a collaborative
community that provides tiny homes for qualified homeless individuals and families in Lake County, CA.

4, ¥ California: Hope's Village of SLO is a non-profit group in Santa Margarita, CA, dedicated to
establishing a safe, healthy, and drug-free environment where people can live in dignity and in peace. Not
yet a community; they are seeking ten acres of land in San Luis Obispo County on which to build cabins on
wheels.

5. ¥ Georgia: Cindy Murphy Kelley of the Chatham Savannah Authority for the Homeless is developing a
plan for a tiny house community to address homelessness.

6. ?ldaho: Idaho Tiny House is striving to build tiny houses for the homeless in Idaho. Their mission is to
provide a secure habitation where any un-housed person will have a door to lock and a bed to sleep in.
Having a home is one part of feeling loved and needed in society. Not yet a community; they invite your
involvement and assistance.

7. ?Indiana: Bridges Community Services has sited the first two of six tiny homes planned for the
homeless in Muncie.

8. ?Michigan: Cass Community Social Services is building a tiny house community in Detroit. According
to Fox News, the 24 homes being built in Detroit will be fully functioning, between 300 and 450 square feet,
and located right off the Lodge near Woodrow Wilson and Elmhurst Street.

9. »Missouri:: In Springfield, the Gathering Tree is building Eden Village, a tiny house community for
single adults who are disabled and homeless.

10. ¥ New Jersey: In response to the destruction of the tent city in Lakewood, Sherry Rubel founded
Revival Village and drafted legislation for a tiny house pilot program in NJ.

11.  ?New Jersey: Destiny's Bridge is an intentional community in Lakewood, NJ. Unlike a traditional
“homeless shelter” which simply provides a cot and a roof over ones' head, Destiny's Bridge provides a tin‘*
home “of their own” in which the homeless temporarily live as they begin the process of healing
surrounded by a community which offers care, rehabilitation and support so they can start the process of
becoming productively integrated members of society.

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 10 of 12

12.  ¥New York: On twelve acres of donated land near Ithaca, NY, Community Faith Partners created
Second Wind Cottages, providing 320 square foot tiny houses for homeless men.

13.  ¥New York: A Tiny Home for Good provides tiny houses for rent at a sliding scale for single homeless
men in Syracuse.

14.  ¥North Carolina: Located on The Farm at Penny Lane in Pittsboro, the Tiny Home Community
Collaborative serves people struggling with mental iliness.

15.  ¥North Carolina: Tiny Houses Greensboro hopes to build a tiny house community in Greensboro,
NC.

16.  ¥Oregon: In Eugene, Oregon, Square One Villages offer transitional and permanent housing for very
low income residents of Eugene via Opportunity Village and Emerald Village.

17.  ?0regon: Also in Eugene is Hospitality Village hosted by the Episcopal Church of the Resurrection.

18. ¥ Oregon: Hope Village in Medford will be a community of 14 tiny houses for homeless that feature
case management services by Rogue Retreat. Hope Village is expected to open mid 2017.

19.  ¥Oregon: In Portland, Oregon, Dignity Village is a community for the homeless, supporting 60
residents.

20. ?South Carolina: The Dream Center in Easley, SC began construction of Opportunity Village, a
community that will consist of 23 tiny houses.

21. ?Tennessee: We Care of Dayton, TN, has completed one tiny house and is planning on building
several more, as part of Haven House. One 208 square foot house is complete and currently in use as
transitional housing.

22. >Tennessee:Green Street Church of Christ in Nashville provides a Sanctuary for the homeless, some
in tents and some in tiny houses donated by Pastor Jeff Obafemi Carr of Infinity Fellowship Interfaith
Gathering Church.

23. ?Texas: The Cottages at Hickory Crossing will offer permanent housing for the chronically homeless
in South Dallas. The tiny house village will consist of 50 homes of 400 sq ft each.

24. ?Texas: Healing Hands Ranch in Willis, TX, provides a place for men struggling through poverty
and/or addiction to develop a purpose, experience spiritual growth, receive job training, and find a path
back into society, through a faith-based program. In partnership with Healing Hands Ranch, Sunconomy is
building an eco-village of tiny houses, and will utilize aquaponics and permaculture designs.

25. 2 Texas: Community First! Village will provide homes (tiny houses, RVs, cottages and tepees) for up to
200 disabled, chronically homeless people in central TX. The village is 27 acres with a 3 acre garden.

26. ¥Washington: Quixote Village, is a community of one room cottages for homeless folks, in Olympia,
WA. Currently there is a waiting list.

27. ¥Washington: The Nickelsville Encampment in Seattle is transitioning to a tiny house village with the
support of the Low Income Housing Institute and the Lutheran Church of the Good Shepherd.

28. ¥Washington: Cthello Village has formed in the Nickelsville Ballard neighborhood of Seattle.

29. > Wisconsin: Chippewa Falls Mission Cealition is a group of 17 area churches that share hosting of
tiny houses for homeless people.

30. ?Wisconsin: With Occupy Madison, future residents participate in the building of their tiny housesi
OM Build.

http://tinyhousecommunity.com/pl... 2017-08-08



Page 1 of 11

the

spruce

Tiny Homes  Small Spaces

15 Livable Tiny House Communities

BY DEIRDRE SULLIVAN Updated 05/02/17

AR b
o
9 14,‘ y

01 Tiny House Communities do Exist
of 16

wn}ti '.:j . | ‘..A \.‘.

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 2 of 11

the

spruce

"The tiny house movement is growing,” says Amy Turnbull, a state chapter
leader and one of the directors of the American Tiny House Association. "As

more people advocate their acceptance, more areas will allow them."

In fact, there are many places where micro house dwellers currently live

side by side in... MOREv

Continue to 2 of 18 betow

02 Tiny House Community California
of 16

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 3 of 11

o the

spruce

The pint-size village consisting of 50 dwelling with private backyards will
cater to ecologically aware small space dwellers. Edible landscaping, on-site

farmers market, and a glorious urban garden are just some of the green
amenities one can expect.

But the sustainable goodness doesn't stop there. All homes will
pack... MOREwv

Continue to 3 of 18 below

03 Tiny House Community Texas

of 16

e

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 4 of 11

the

spruce

While employment opportunities are sparse, local officials say self-sufficient
individuals looking to set up a business will appreciate the cheap real estate.
Likewise, the cost of living in Spur is 30 percent less than the national

average.

But before you pack your bags, understand Spur's rules for fun-size homes:

Yurts and... MOREw

04 Tiny House Community Georgia

of 16

Tinygreencabins.com

Want to join a sustainable utopia of all things bucolic and pastoral near

Savannah, Georgia? Consider Green Bridge Farm.

At the center of this burgeoning community in Effingham County is an

mmtmimtm Lmimn mimimm v im Al A el s ads Tiesr hadigas a2lke

toallmvcn mmin mvtimalh a e o

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page Sof 11

the

spruce

e . .
05 Tiny House Community Florida

of 16

orlandolakefrontth

For a variety of reasons from zoning laws to insurance for towing, tiny
houses on wheels need to meet classifications for towable recreational
vehicles. The upshot? Aging R.V. parks are now drumming up new business

by welcoming these roaming homes.

A good example is the Orlando Lakefront at College Park in Orlando, Florida.
Built in the 1950s, it has a new life as a tiny house community after years of

decline.

Currently, 13 wee abodes call the R.V. park home. We recently heard that

there's... MOREwv

https://www.thespruce.con/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 6 of 11

the

spruce

Downtown Project

Not many tiny house dwellers have a net worth of $840 million unless you're
Zappos CEO, Tony Hsieh. He happily lives in a 240 square foot Airstream
with his two pet alpacas in Las Vegas, Nevada's first tiny house community.
Called Airstream Village, it's a part of a project created by Hsieh to revitalize

the city's ailing downtown.

The village has around 30 dwellings, a mix of Airstream trailers and pint-size
homes by Tumbleweed Tiny House Company. Monthly rent is $1,200

including utilities and... MOREwv

Q f‘7 Tiny House Communities in Colorado

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 7 of 11

the

spruce

The tiny house movement goes suburban in two mountain towns. Sprout

Tiny Homes in La Junta, Colorado is spearheading both projects.

The largest development in the works is in Salida, Colorado, also known as
the "heart of the Rockies." With 200 rental homes, it will be the largest tiny
house community in the nation with homes ranging in size from 260 to 760

square feet.

The second project is a subdivision in Walsenburg, Colorado with 33 micro

homes ranging in size from 260 to 670 square feet. Sale... MOREv

ansine to 8 of 1

{»—}8 Tiny House Community Near Sequoia National Park

or 1o

Lemon Cove Village

You can build your small dwelling on a lot you can live on at Lemon Cove

VI ;e LT & Blemen bhhmosa o Lot 2 dlls s YN T & Amaianni il « i == lmal Tn e n Lm nt il a AL s~

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 8 of 11

the

spruce

09 Tiny House Community Michigan

of 16

Wheelhaus

Wheelhaus, a tiny home building company that specializes in luxury modular
dwellings, partnered with Traverse Bay RV Resort in Acme, Michigan to

create a community of pocket-size estates.

Homes average around 400 square feet with lot sizes starting at 5,000
square feet. Each dwelling features state of the art appliances, porches, and,
rustic-inspired interiors decked out with reclaimed wood flooring and

ceilings.
View the brochure at Traverse Bay R.V.

Related: Take a Peek at America's First... MOREwv

https://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



Page 9 of 11

the

spruce

Orange Splot

Accessory Dwelling Units are turning backyards in Portland, Oregon into mini

tiny house communities.

Also known as a granny pad or mother-in-law flat, an ADU is an abode built
on a lot of an existing home. Teensy structures like these are always a

fraction of the main house's size.

Green homebuilder, Orange Splot constructed the two 526 square foot ADUs
shared here in a client's backyard. Dubbed, "Ruth's Garden Cottages," each
one has a porch, full bathroom eﬁ'ﬁf‘@l%%ﬁggﬂoft. The... MOREwv

TINY HOMFS TINY HOMEQ OLITNHNOOR ROOM IDFAS

hitps://www.thespruce.com/livable... 2017-08-08



YUKON
TERRITORY

Anclhorage
it

\ r"'\
I u..rﬁx?

10 tiny house N\
villages for the
homeless across

the U.S.

BRITISH
COLUMBIA

TER

MA

SHARE THIS

RITORIES

ALBERT &

EASKATOE

Case studies for a trending idea
BY JEMRY XIiE | @CANONIND | JUL 18 2017, 11-13AM EDT

» Hilo
Aftiny house at Austin's Community First! Village. | Photo by Celosia

HAW A

Danoer

Editor's Note: This post was originally published
in September 2016 and has been updated with the

léih%st recent information.

Go

E 10 tiny house villages for the homeless across the...

MON

Page 1 of 17

=

Canada

M2

TEW AN

HOETH

TANA DAKOT~

SOUTH
A TSN

EGOt IDAHO
WY ORMIMEG
MEBRRAE
MEVAD/ ' United State
UTAN b Pl
CISCO WORADD AN
Lif ""5 © olas Vegas
= 0K s.
L.og? .ﬂ"r e ARIZOMN A
| - el > T 4 S Tals
Sar Diega HEW MEXICO
Do
TN LN TEX
\nL
\\
" ‘Jf \\
\
- N
C \.A
Ve \
Mexico

Iewing
@

Map data ©2017 Google, INEG}, ZENRIN

https://www.curbed.com/maps/tiny...

2017-08-08



B b &

Page 2 of 17

The tivy houses making headlines today aren’t R ——
alwayvs the cool new micro dwpﬂmes for downsizers —
and creative nomads. In fact, if 5)011 set a Google

alert for tmy&ggmes, you’'ll|see that one topic comes

up almost daily: tiny houses for the homeless.

Embracing a strategy of "Hoitsing First"—the idea
: R : Canada

that addressing homelessness starts wi\th__giving A BERTE

folks a place to live—U.S. cities like Dallas] Detroit,
BRITIGH

SALKATOHEWAN

and Portland already have micro home
communities for the low-income or homeless up

and running. New proposals are emerging in towns

big and small all the time. ot _ .

\ RCETH
: : ; PINGTON BMONTANA PAKOT
Below, check out an overview of 10 different tiny Ny

Do T &

house villages for the underprivileged that have ;. ST

arisen over the last decade stateside, listed from the o WYOMING

newest to oldest. The fact that they involve varying we
NEVADA _ United State
scales, amenities, and operating models suggests UTAH  coloRa00  xan

frw

that whether tiny houses are a solution to
homelessness is a question just as complex as Los Apgeles

addressing homelessness overall.

Are there initiatives like these happening in your

area? Feel free to share in the comments below.

Mexico

MHanoluly
Ju}

Hile Mexico
@®

Map data ©2017 Google, INEGI, ZENRIN

iH 10 tiny house villages for the homeless across the...

https://www.curbed.com/maps/tiny... 2017-08-08



Page 3 of 17

,j,_, 'nihss Communlty Tlny SHARE THIS MAP
Homes-Detroit, . ——
Michigan

s . ;:q*v:m‘ “ ' N
Who: Local organization CASS Cemmunity Social

Services, focused on fighting poverty

1 Canada
What: A two-block stretch of 250 to 466‘a:sq11are— ALBERTS Ma
foot fully-equipped micro dwellings for the Iovg%gf TigH S

income population, including students, s<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>